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billions of €
Change
compared
to prior
year
% 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Revenue and earnings (according to the
management approach)?
Net revenue® 61 114.4 107.8 1001 80.5 757 749 731 69.2
Of which: domestic % 221 23.0 24.4 30.5 32.2 32.8 33.7 36.2
Of which: international % 779 77.0 75.6 69.5 67.8 67.2 66.3 63.8
Service revenue® © 10.6 919 831 781 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
EBITDA 8.5 44.0 40.5 38.6 271 21.8 24.0 22.5 18.4
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) 7.5 46.4 43.2 404 28.7 23.3 22.2 214 199
EBITDA ALY 6.2 36.0 339 33.2 231 21.6 n.a. n.a. n.a.
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors)d 77 40.2 37.3 350 24.7 231 n.a. n.a. n.a.
EBITDA AL margin (adjusted for special factors)d % 351 34.6 350 30.7 30.5 n.a. n.a. n.a.
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) 23.8 16.2 131 12.8 95 8.0 9.4 9.2 70
Revenue and earnings from continuing operations
(according to financial statements)® ©
Net revenue® 61 114.2 107.6 999 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
EBITDA 8.5 43.0 39.7 379 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) 22.5 15.4 12.6 12.4 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
Net profit (loss) 91.6 8.0 4.2 4.2 39 2.2 3.5 2.7 3.3
Net profit (loss) (adjusted for special factors) 549 91 59 5.7 49 45 6.0 41 41
Profitability
ROCE % 4.5 41 4.6 5 47 5.8 5.7 4.8
Statement of financial position
Total assets 6.0 298.6 281.6 264.9 170.7 145.4 141.3 148.5 143.9
Shareholders’ equity 72 87.3 81.5 72.6 46.2 43.4 42.5 38.8 38.2
Equity ratio % 29.2 289 274 271 299 30.0 26.2 26.5
Net debt’ 7.8 142.4 1321 120.2 76.0 55.4 50.8 50.0 47.6
Relative debt" 9 (Net debt/EBITDA
(adjusted for special factors)) 3.07 3.06 2.78 2.65 2.4 2.3 2.3 2.4
Cash flows
Net cash from operating activities 13 35.8 32.2 23.7 231 179 17.2 15.5 15.0
Cash capex 8.5 (24 (26.4) (18.7) (14.4) (12.5) (19.5) (13.6) (14.6)
Cash capex (before spectrum investment) (16.9) (21.0) (18.0) (17.0) (13.1) (12.2) (12.1) (1.0) (10.8)
Free cash flow (before dividend payments
and spectrum investmentjh 6.3 15.2 14.3 10.8 101 6.2 5.5 49 4.5
Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments
and spectrum investment)d' n 30.2 1.5 8.8 6.3 7.0 61 n.a. n.a. n.a.
Net cash used in investing activities 18.6 (22.3) (27.4) (22.6) (14.2) (14.3) (16.8) (13.6) (15.0)
Net cash (used in) from financing activities (43.2) (15.4) (10.8) 7.6 (7 (3.3) (4.6) (1.3) 09
Employees
Average number of employees
(full-time equivalents, without trainees) thousands 4.3) 21 221 224 213 216 216 221 226
T-Share - key figures
Earnings per share € 851 1.61 0.87 0.88 0.82 0.46 0.74 0.58 0.71
Adjusted earnings per share € 50.0 1.83 122 1.20 1.04 096 1.28 0.89 090
Dividend per share' € 94 0.70 0.64 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.65 0.60 0.55
Dividend payout! billions of € 94 3.5 3.2 2.8 2.8 3.3 31 2.8 2.5
Adjusted weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding millions 3.3 4972 4,813 4,743 4,743 4,742 4,703 4,625 4,553
ESG KPIs
Energy consumptionk GWh 0.5) 13,253 13,323 12,843 9,324 9,224 8,943 8,531 8,845
CO; emissions (Scope 1and 2)! kt COze (57) 233 247 2,512 1,797 2,354 2,896 4169 4,364

@ Since the third quarter of 2022, the GD Towers business entity, which operates the cell tower business in Germany and Austria, assigned to the Group Development operating segment, has

been recognized in the consolidated financial statements as a discontinued operation. However, in the combined management report we continue to include the contributions by GD Towers in

the results of operations according to the management approach. For information on the agreement with DigitalBridge and Brookfield on GD Towers, please refer to the section “Group
organization” in the combined management report and to the section “Summary of accounting policies” in the consolidated financial statements.

The prior-year comparatives up to and including 2020 were adjusted retrospectively to take account of changes to the principal/agent policy regarding the recognition of gross and net
revenues as of the third quarter of 2022. For further information, please refer to the section “Development of business in the Group” in the combined management report and the section
“Summary of accounting policies” in the consolidated financial statements.

© The definition of “service revenue” was not applied consistently Group-wide for the years prior to 2020.

Comparatives for 2018 were calculated on a pro forma basis for the key performance indicators redefined as of January 1, 2019 following the introduction of the IFRS 16 accounting standard.
As a result of the agreement concluded on July 13, 2022, since the third quarter of 2022, the GD tower companies have been recognized in the consolidated financial statements as a
discontinued operation. The prior-year comparatives up to and including 2020 were adjusted retrospectively. For further information, please refer to the section “Summary of accounting
policies” in the consolidated financial statements.

Including net debt included under liabilities directly associated with non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale.

Calculated using EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) according to the management approach, i.e., including the contributions by GD Towers.

And before interest payments for zero-coupon bonds and before termination of forward-payer swaps at T-Mobile US (both in 2020).

Subject to approval by the relevant bodies and the fulfillment of other legal requirements.

Subject to approval by the 2023 shareholders’ meeting concerning the dividend payments for the 2022 financial year. For further information, please refer to Note 35 “Dividend per share” in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

k Energy consumption, mainly: electricity, fuel, other fossil fuels, district heating for buildings.

! Calculated according to the market-based method of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol.
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Deutsche Telekom at a glance

millions
Change
compared to
prior year
% 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 20177 2016 2015
Fixed-network and mobile customers
Mobile customers? (1.2 245.4 248.2 241.5 184.0 168.4 165.0 156.4 150.5
Fixed-network lines 25.3 261 274 27.5 279 28.5 290 29.8
Broadband customers® 0.8) 21.4 21.6 217 21.0 189 18.4 17.8 174

& Including T-Mobile US wholesale customers (2022: 30.2 million; 2021: 33.6 million; 2020: 38.8 million).

b Excluding wholesale.

The figures shown in this report were rounded in accordance with standard business rounding principles. As a result, the total indicated may not be equal to the precise sum of the individual
figures. Changes were calculated on the basis of millions for greater precision.

Sprint has been included in Deutsche Telekom’s consolidated financial statements as a fully consolidated subsidiary since April 1, 2020, which means comparability with prior-year figures is

partially limited.
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To our shareholders

To our shareholders

Letter from the Chairman of the Board of Management

Dear shareholders,

Dear friends of Deutsche Telekom,

2022 was a watershed year. What many of us considered impossible finally came to pass: war in Europe. Even now, around a
year after Russia launched its attack on Ukraine, nothing has changed — much to the sorrow of those affected. We all hope that
this terrible conflict will be brought to an end as soon as possible.

The impacts of this war can be felt the world over. Energy costs have truly exploded since then and inflation has reached
unfathomable heights. And all the while, people’s faith in political institutions and established systems is dwindling. Anyone
just relying on tried-and-tested methods and refusing to let go risks getting left behind in future. The word “crisis” is truly
omnipresent. It's hardly possible to focus exclusively on business matters under these circumstances. Milton Friedman’s
famous statement, “The business of the business is business,” has perhaps never seemed as outdated as in 2022.

For us as a company, all of this throws up some very complex questions: How are we to act when the world has been turned
upside down? What role can Deutsche Telekom assume when the conditions for companies and households have changed
so drastically in such a short space of time? There are no easy answers. Even so, | am convinced that we have a special
responsibility in times like these — and we are rising to this responsibility.

We are guaranteeing stability by staying on track and making sure our business continues to operate reliably. We are not
allowing ourselves to get carried away by overblown forecasts or pipe dreams, and we are not taking any undue risks. We keep
our word. We consistently deliver on what we have promised. We are conscious of our strengths, but stay humble. It is our aim
to reduce uncertainty and build trust. To provide a firm footing and be an anchor of stability. We keep looking forward, even in
times of difficulty. That is what Deutsche Telekom stands for.

Dear shareholders,

| am convinced that it is more important now than ever that businesses do not let themselves be paralyzed when faced with
these developments. We will not be deterred and will instead continue working according to a long-term strategy. This is the
right course of action for Deutsche Telekom. We want to keep growing, and that’s the focus of our business. We are resolutely
driving forward the digital transformation of Deutsche Telekom. We are navigating the way carefully through these stormy
times, while remaining calm.

A glance at our 2022 financial figures shows this has been a success: in the United States, in our European national companies,
and in our home market of Germany, we have increased revenues and generated higher earnings on a like-for-like basis. Net
revenue increased once again, up 6.1 % to EUR 114.4 billion as of the end of the financial year — a result which, just a few years
ago, seemed far out of our grasp. It is particularly pleasing to see how on a like-for-like basis we achieved growth in service
revenues on both sides of the Atlantic, a key factor for the Company’s results. This has helped us secure our spot in the league
of the world’s largest telecommunications companies. In organic terms, i.e., based on constant exchange rates and comparable
corporate structure, we are staying on track for our medium-term growth targets.

The excellent development of business on both sides of the Atlantic has been crucial to this. In other words, Deutsche Telekom
is the sole telecommunications provider in the Western world with a successful business in both the United States and Europe.
Adjusted EBITDA AL, i.e., adjusted EBITDA taking account of depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest expenses on lease
liabilities, increased by 7.7 %, coming in at EUR 40.2 billion. In organic terms, we grew by 1.7 %. Free cash flow AL increased by
30.2 % to EUR11.5 billion and was thus well into the double-digit growth range.

There are numerous reasons for these positive developments: In the United States, T-Mobile US keeps growing and breaking
records. Across the entire year, our colleagues managed to win over more than 6.4 million new customers for mobile
communications contracts. This helped our U.S. subsidiary top the industry’s leaderboard and exceed the guidance which had
already been raised over the course of the year. We are seeing a similar picture with convergent fixed-mobile offerings (high-
speed internet): T-Mobile US has reached 2.0 million new customers in this market, gaining a strong foothold in this competitive
business area. We see great potential here for the future, particularly in more rural areas of the United States.
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CEO Mike Sievert and his team received their well-deserved reward for years of outstanding performance in August when
T-Mobile US became the world’s most valuable telecommunications company. The new number one, ahead of long-time
incumbents Verizon and AT&T. No other German company has ever achieved this kind of success on the highly important U.S.
market. Thanks to its 5G network, the best by far, and current popularity among young people, we see further opportunities for
growth for our Un-carrier. All this shows it was worth T-Mobile US also investing in network leadership in the United States. It’s
also a great success for Deutsche Telekom since we have been treading the path toward the merger with Sprint together with
the T-Mobile US team. Deutsche Telekom already owns 49 % of the shares in T-Mobile US by now, taking the treasury shares
held by T-Mobile US into account. We are also still pursuing a defined plan which will secure the majority stake for us in the
medium term.

Our activities on our home continent form the second pillar of our business. We have been at the forefront of our industry for
years in Germany and Europe and are a clear market leader. The current perception of our brand is also in keeping with all of
these developments. In January 2023, Deutsche Telekom received the accolade of most valuable brand in Europe for the very
first time. The ranking was based on the Brand Finance Global 500 report. With a brand value of USD 62.9 billion, we took the
eleventh spot in the worldwide ranking. This reflects our success in terms of customer perception. It also confirms that we are
on course to becoming the Leading Digital Telco.

For this to happen, we need to keep delighting people with our Company and products and services. This can only happen
if our customers are able to experience our best network and use it to go online and make calls. The best connectivity and
the best service — that’s what the people expect from Deutsche Telekom, and in 2022 we made another record investment to
achieve just that. Around EUR 21 billion was largely spent on the build-out of our global infrastructure, more than EUR 5.7 billion
of which was invested in Germany alone.

We have more than just purely economic considerations in mind here. We consider the build-out of our networks to be an
integral part of our responsibility to society. That is our aspiration as the leading telecommunications provider in the Western
world. It’s clear that digitalization won’t be successful in the long run without investing in infrastructure. However, it’s just as
clear that these investments must also pay off for the companies involved. We're doing very well in this area in Europe. We have
seen organic earnings growth in this segment for the past five years — that’s twenty successive quarters. That’s an outstanding
result.

Our technicians and engineers have made an incredible effort over the past year to push ahead with the digitalization goal in
Germany. We have set another record in the rollout of fiber-to-the-home (FTTH) lines. We reached our goal of 2 million new
lines in 2022, thus nearly doubling the rollout volume of the previous year of around 1.2 million lines. In the current year we plan
to vastly increase the pace of the build-out once again and enable up to 3 million additional households to connect to our high-
speed fiber-optic network.

We will continue to base our strategy on three pillars. In addition to our own build-out and the subsidized projects, joint ventures
and partnerships are becoming more and more important. This is increasing the speed of the network build-out. Over the past
year, our second joint venture GlasfaserPlus got itself up and running and has been working to speed up the FTTH rollout ever
since: the company added around 90,000 FTTH lines in its first year, making it the fastest growing fiber-optic start-up in the
country. At the same time, we've found additional partners for collaborative build-out projects in places like Bochum, Garbsen,
Bietigheim-Bissingen, and Coburg, to mention just a few. Build-out partnerships also send a signal to the industry and policy
makers: future-proof digitalization truly begins to take shape whenever two partners are able to agree on fair, normal market
conditions and build an open fiber-optic network together.

Nationwide fiber-optic coverage will continue to be a priority for us in the long term, which also means strengthening Germany
as a location for business in general. Our goal remains unchanged: by 2030, all households in Germany should have access to a
fiber-optic line with gigabit speeds. This is, and will remain, a gargantuan task which we cannot achieve on our own. That’s why
our competitors will also have to do their bit, as we have always underlined in the past.

The achievements of the past year are reflected in the T-Share price: in January 2023, it passed the EUR 20 mark for the first
time in 20 years. That means Deutsche Telekom is worth more than EUR 100 billion. We've left the other European telcos far
behind us — as of the end of 2022, Deutsche Telekom was worth more than Vodafone, Telefonica, Orange, and British Telecom
put together. I'm very proud of Deutsche Telekom’s development.
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We’re also way ahead of our biggest European competitors when it comes to the performance of the T-Share and total
shareholder return, the sum of the share price performance and reinvested dividends. The total shareholder return for the
T-Share amounted to 18.6 % over the past year. Just to compare: the DAX 40 fell by 12.4 % over this period, while the index for
the European telecommunications sector declined by 14.1 %.

We want as many people as possible to participate in this success: our customers, our employees, and naturally those who
invest in our Company too: our shareholders. Many of you have stuck with us through thick and thin. Without you, our investors,
there would be no Deutsche Telekom. That’s why we intend to increase the dividends for the 2022 financial year to 70 eurocents
per share. Provided we get the approval of the shareholders’ meeting, of course. That’s an increase of almost 10 %. We have
based this proposal on long-term adjusted earnings per share and, to this end, excluded numerous positive one-time effects
which occurred in 2022, particularly from the measurement of derivatives and as a result of the increased capital market
interest rates. With this proposal, we are setting an example of reliability in these difficult times.

We create the necessary investment leeway for implementing our strategy by restructuring our portfolio and making it viable
for the future. In July 2022, for example, we agreed to sell a 51.0 % stake in our cell tower business in Germany and Austria to
DigitalBridge and Brookfield. Deutsche Telekom’s remaining stake of 49.0 % enables us to keep benefiting from future increases
in the business’ value. At the same time, we fine-tuned the focus of our T-Systems business — as a digitalization partner to major
companies, T-Systems is on the right path for achieving sustainable growth.

Dear shareholders,

Despite the difficult circumstances, our results for 2022 are excellent. This is not something we take for granted. For this reason,
I am truly delighted about this outstanding performance. Another record-breaking year in which we have taken important steps
for Deutsche Telekom’s digital transformation and modernized our networks. Over 200,000 Deutsche Telekom employees all
over the world have played their part in this. They help make our Company the anchor of stability that our society so urgently
needs in difficult times.

Best regards,

Tim Hottges
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Supervisory Board’s report to the 2023 shareholders’ meeting

Dear shareholders,

The 2022 financial year was characterized by the systematic implementation of the Group strategy and the Group’s ongoing
transformation in an age of digitalization and technological change. With its updated strategy to transform Deutsche Telekom
into the leading digital telco (Leading Digital Telco — Vision 2030), the Company is well-positioned to leverage future
opportunities and face challenges head on. In the financial year just ended, the Board of Management closed numerous
transactions serving to further optimize and protect the Company’s investment portfolio. In the 2022 financial year, business
developed well overall. Deutsche Telekom successfully managed the challenges caused by geopolitical tensions, increased
energy prices, and high inflation, as well as the coronavirus pandemic with the requisite discipline. The network build-out
was ramped up further and the Company again underscored its ability to perform at the top level with special offerings for
customers and its strong commitment to service. The Group held its own in the challenging environment despite the rising
intensity of competition. Strong results brought the 2022 financial year to a successful close. The Group continues on its course
for growth while maintaining its industry-leading position. This financial year, Deutsche Telekom continued to live up to its
responsibility to society, for instance by supporting refugees fleeing Ukraine, its clear stance against online hate speech, and its
ambitious sustainability targets. The Supervisory Board exercised its functions as an advisory and supervisory body and gave
the Board of Management its full support.

Supervisory Board activities in the 2022 financial year

We continually supervised and supported the Board of Management in its management of the Company by providing advice.
Specifically, this consisted of ensuring that the Board of Management’s activities were lawful, compliant, appropriate,
strategically relevant, sustainable, and efficient.

The Board of Management’s written and oral reports formed the essential basis for the fulfillment of the Supervisory Board’s
tasks and duties under the law, the Articles of Incorporation, and the Rules of Procedure. The Board of Management kept
us regularly informed in good time on corporate strategy, planning, business development of the Company and its different
segments, the risk situation, risk and opportunity management, compliance, innovation focuses, and any deviations in the
business development from original plans, as well as significant business transactions involving the Company and its major
subsidiaries and associates.

The Board of Management fulfilled its duties to inform quickly and in full. The Board of Management’s reports met all statutory
requirements, the standards of good corporate governance, and the criteriaimposed on them by us with regard to both content
and scope. In addition to the reports, we requested and received supplementary information. We reviewed, critically analyzed,
and verified the plausibility of these reports and other information.

The Rules of Procedure of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board include a list of transactions and measures for
which the Board of Management has to obtain approval from the Supervisory Board. We met with the Board of Management to
discuss and thoroughly review the business transactions and measures presented to us in the 2022 financial year for approval
in line with this document. We approved the transactions and measures submitted for resolution.

The frequency of plenary and committee meetings means that we are in close contact with the Board of Management.
The Board of Management also reports on individual issues in writing or in discussions between the meetings. In addition,
the Chairman of the Supervisory Board is in contact with the Board of Management, especially the Chairman of the Board
of Management, at regular appointments at which current business transactions, strategy issues, planning, business
development, sustainability, regulation, the risk situation, risk and opportunity management, and compliance, as well as other
significant events, are discussed.

In the 2022 financial year, seven Supervisory Board plenary meetings were held as well as one off-site conference, and
23 meetings of the Supervisory Board committees took place. Detailed information concerning the form in which these
meetings were carried out is provided below. The overall attendance rate was around 98 %. In total, each of the Supervisory
Board members attended more than 75 % of the plenary meetings and the meetings of the respective committees on which
they sit. Those members who were unable to attend meetings were generally able to participate nonetheless by submitting
their votes in writing or by way of prior briefings on resolutions for decision.
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The meetings were either held face to face or virtually:

Committee Face-to-face meetings® Virtual meetings

Plenary meeting/off-site conference 4 4

General Committee
Audit Committee

Finance Committee
Staff Committee

Nomination Committee

N[O =2 BN
OO ™| 2| W

Technology and Innovation Committee
The Mediation Committee did not meet in 2022.

@ Option to participate via video/audioconference in certain cases where the participant could not be physically present.

Five resolutions were additionally adopted outside of the meetings by means of a written procedure: three by the Supervisory
Board as a whole and two by the Audit Committee.

Members of the Board of Management attended the plenary meetings and the committee meetings of the Supervisory Board.
The Supervisory Board also came together in plenary meetings without the Board of Management on a regular basis.

In the Supervisory Board meeting on February 23,2022, in the presence of the external auditor, we primarily dealt with the
Company’s 2021 annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements, the Group management report, which
is combined with the management report of Deutsche Telekom AG (combined management report), and the combined non-
financial statement contained in the combined management report as a separate section. Our approval of the 2021 annual
financial statements was based on the recommendation of the Audit Committee. The same applies to the review of the
combined non-financial statement. We agreed to the Board of Management’s proposal on the appropriation of net income. In
addition, we adopted a resolution on the preparation of the 2021 remuneration report and approved the agenda for the 2022
shareholders’ meeting, including the selection of Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft, Munich, as the independent
auditor of the annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements for the 2022 financial year based on the
recommendation of the Audit Committee. Beyond this, we dealt with various remuneration-related matters. We approved
the reappointment of Adel Al-Saleh as the Member of the Board of Management responsible for T-Systems. The Board of
Management reported comprehensively on the current situation and the most important financial and operational KPIs for
the Company and its segments. In this meeting, we also addressed the worldwide semiconductor and supply chain crises. In
addition, we discussed the findings of the Supervisory Board’s self-assessment from 2021. We also dealt with the Company’s
venture capital and private equity activities and approved the investment in a new growth equity fund. Furthermore, we
approved a real estate disposal.

In the meeting on May 19,2022, the Board of Management informed us comprehensively of the current situation and the
financial and operational KPIs for the Company and its segments in the first quarter of 2022. We also addressed the impact
of the war in Ukraine. We approved the reappointment of Dr. Christian P. Illek as the Member of the Board of Management
responsible for Finance. The Board of Management gave us an overview of the development and strategic alignment of the cell
tower business in Germany. Within the framework of sustainability, we also dealt with Deutsche Telekom’s climate protection
strategy.

In our meeting on July 13,2022, we approved the sale of a 51% stake in the cell tower business GD Towers in Germany and
Austria to a consortium of investors.

In the meeting on July 26,2022, we adopted a resolution on an acquisition of spectrum by T-Mobile US as well as the
foundation of a joint venture with a French investor for the fiber-optic build-out in Austria.

In the meeting on September 8,2022, the Board of Management reported on the current situation and the financial and
operational KPIs for the Company and its segments in the second quarter of 2022. We also adopted a resolution on a
remuneration-related matter as well as the capital allocation of T-Mobile US. Furthermore, the Board of Management gave us
an overview of the strategic priorities for HR.

At the joint off-site conference with the Board of Management on September 8 and 9, 2022, we dealt in particular with
Deutsche Telekom’s strategy and the trends affecting its business and the capital market perspective. We discussed the
implementation of the strategy (Leading Digital Telco — Vision 2030) and conferred on individual strategic focal topics and
scenarios as well as on the competitive situation. This entailed an in-depth look at matters such as the B2C business, the B2B
approach, and platform business models.

9
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In our meeting on October 24,2022, we dealt with the realignment of the B2B business within T-Systems and Telekom Deutschland.
Against this background, we approved the transfer of T-Systems Multimedia Solutions to a new Group company under the operational
management of Telekom Deutschland.

In our meeting on December 14, 2022, we dealt with various matters pertaining to the Board of Management and the Supervisory
Board, including target achievement for the 2022 financial year. We approved the reappointment of Dominique Leroy as the Member
of the Board of Management responsible for Europe. We also resolved on the Supervisory Board nominations to be submitted to
the 2023 shareholders’ meeting. Furthermore, the Board of Management reported on the current situation and the financial and
operational KPIs in the Company and its segments in the third quarter of 2022. We also dealt with regulation in Germany and the
supply chain crisis. One focus of the meeting was the resolution on the budget and on the annual financing plan for the 2023 financial
year. In addition, we acknowledged the medium-term planning for 2023 through 2026. Finally, we adopted resolutions on the German
Corporate Governance Code (including resolutions on the Declaration of Conformity and the qualification matrix concerning the
implementation status of the skills profile for the Supervisory Board).

In our plenary meetings and in the Audit Committee in particular, we also regularly supervised the management of the Company by
the Board of Management. As part of this, we made sure that the Board of Management ensured compliance with legal provisions
and internal standards and policies supported by the Group-wide compliance organization. We also regularly met with the Board of
Management to discuss the internal control system it had introduced and the risk and opportunity management system. Based on our
own reviews and on the audit reports from the external auditors, we came to the conclusion that there are no factors which contradict
the appropriateness and effectiveness of these systems in their entirety.

Outside of its meetings, the Supervisory Board attended information events to keep up to date on the latest topics and developments.

Organization of the Supervisory Board’s activities

To increase the efficiency of our work, and in consideration of the specific requirements we have to fulfill, we have set up the
committees listed below, all of which have an equal number of shareholders’ and employees’ representatives, with the exception of
the Nomination Committee. In regard to committee membership, our aim is to achieve regular rotation among the Supervisory Board
members. The committee chairpersons regularly reported to us at our plenary meetings on the content and results of committee
meetings.

Supervisory Board committees

Committee Supervisory Board member Committee Supervisory Board member
General Committee Nomination Committee
Dr. Frank Appel (Chairman), Dr. Frank Appel (Chairman),
since April 7,2022 since April 7, 2022
Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner (Chairman), Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner (Chairman),
until April 7, 2022 until April 7, 2022
Dr. Rolf Bésinger, until April 7, 2022 Dr. Rolf Bésinger, until April 7, 2022
Katja Hessel, since April 7,2022 Katja Hessel, since April 7, 2022
Kerstin Marx Dagmar P. Kollmann
Frank Sauerland
Finance Committee Mediation Committee
Dr. Frank Appel (Chairman),
Karl-Heinz Streibich (Chairman) since April 7, 2022
Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner (Chairman),
Dr. Gunther Braunig, until April 7, 2022 until April 7, 2022
Constantin Greve Dr. Rolf Bésinger, until April 7, 2022
Nicole Koch Katja Hessel, since April 7, 2022
Dagmar P. Kollmann Kerstin Marx
Karin Topel Frank Sauerland
Stefan B. Wintels, since April 7, 2022
Audit Committee Technology and Innovation
Committee
Dagmar P. Kollmann (Chairwoman) Lothar Schroder (Chairman)
Dr. Rolf Bésinger, until April 7, 2022 Odysseus D. Chatzidis
Dr. Glinther Braunig, since April 7, 2022 Lars Hinrichs
Dr. Helga Jung, since April 7, 2022 Nicole Seelemann-Wandtke
Prof. Dr. Michael Kaschke,
until April 7,2022 Karl-Heinz Streibich
Petra Steffi Kreusel Margret Suckale

Kerstin Marx
Susanne Schottke, since April 7, 2022
Sibylle Spoo, until April 7, 2022

Staff Committee
Frank Sauerland (Chairman)
Dr. Frank Appel, since April 7, 2022
Odysseus D. Chatzidis
Harald Kriiger
Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner, until April 7, 2022
Kerstin Marx
Margret Suckale
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The General Committee met seven times in 2022, one meeting of which was held jointly with the Finance Committee. The
committee focused mainly on preparing the recommendations for resolution for the plenary meetings in regard to all of
the decisions on Board of Management and Supervisory Board matters. Board of Management remuneration matters and
the reappointment of members to the Board of Management were particular focal points of the committee’s activities. The
committee reviewed the appropriateness of the Board of Management remuneration as scheduled. In the joint meeting with
the Finance Committee, the General Committee addressed the budget for 2023 in particular and made a recommendation
for resolution in this regard to the Supervisory Board. The medium-term planning for 2023 to 2026 was also addressed in this
meeting.

The Finance Committee met five times, of which one meeting was together with the General Committee. Investment planning
and focuses were the subject of the meetings. Other general topics included interest and foreign currency management,
pension obligations and capital investments, net debt and ratings, and a particular focus on budgeting and medium-term
planning at T-Mobile US. The committee also dealt with issues in order to prepare items for discussion in the subsequent
Supervisory Board plenary meetings (sale of shares in the cell tower business GD Towers in Germany and Austria, T-Systems/
realignment of the B2B business). In the joint meeting with the General Committee, the Finance Committee discussed the 2023
annual financing plan in particular and made a recommendation for resolution in this regard to the Supervisory Board.

The Audit Committee met five times in 2022. The external auditor was present at all five meetings. The Audit Committee
also consulted with the external auditor without the Board of Management in each of these meetings. The Audit Committee’s
area of responsibility is defined by German and European legislation, the German Corporate Governance Code, and its own
Rules of Procedure. It includes, in particular, the review and monitoring of accounting, the monitoring of the accounting
process, the effectiveness of the internal control system, the risk and opportunity management system, the internal auditing
system, compliance, including the compliance management system, and data privacy and data security. The Audit Committee
also handled matters relating to the audit of the Company’s financial statements, in particular selecting and ensuring the
independence of the external auditor, and of the additional services provided by the external auditor, the commissioning
of the external auditor for the audit of the annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements, including the
obligations to provide information as recommended by the German Corporate Governance Code, the agreement on fees, as
well as the stipulation of the main focuses of the audit and the discussion on the assessment of the audit risk, on the audit
strategy and audit plan, and the audit results together with the external auditor. The Chairwoman of the Audit Committee
also reported on the regular exchanges held with the external auditor outside of the meetings concerning the progress of
the audit. Furthermore, the Audit Committee commissioned Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft, Munich, with a
limited assurance engagement on the combined non-financial statement contained as a separate section in the combined
management report. In the 2022 financial year, the Audit Committee again held one extraordinary meeting on fundamental
issues affecting the Group. At this meeting, the committee dealt in particular with the effectiveness of the reporting system
on the internal control, risk and opportunity management, and internal auditing system, and on the compliance management
system, including the ongoing development of the reporting structure. The Audit Committee discussed information on new
requirements and developments in German law, such as the Act on Corporate Due Diligence in Supply Chains, as well as EU
law and accounting standards. Moreover, the Audit Committee’s work in the reporting year once again centered heavily on the
integration of Sprint following the business combination with T-Mobile US and the latest developments in data privacy and
data security, as well as the development of the risk profile, particularly against the backdrop of the geopolitical situation and
development in energy prices, and sustainability reporting and its implementation.

The Staff Committee held two meetings in 2022 and mainly discussed matters relating to headcount planning and qualitative
and quantitative staff-requirements planning for the purpose of preparing Supervisory Board resolutions on the 2023 budget.
In addition, the committee dealt with topics such as the people strategy, talent management, diversity, and the results of
the employee survey. The committee also looked at the demand for skilled employees in the future, the impact of the war in
Ukraine, the proportion of women in positions of leadership, and various current topics, such as the ongoing management of
the coronavirus situation and New Work.

The Nomination Committee met twice in 2022, and dealt in its meetings with succession planning for the Supervisory Board.
The Mediation Committee to be formed in accordance with § 27 (3) of the Codetermination Act did not meet in 2022.

The Technology and Innovation Committee held two meetings in 2022 and dealt with a very broad range of topics from a
variety of areas. For example, the committee discussed the competitive situation, sustainability and the energy efficiency of the
networks, Magenta Advantage, supply chain management, and the impact of the war in Ukraine. The committee supports and
promotes innovation and technological developments at infrastructure and product level; it supports the Board of Management
with advice on how to tap new growth areas.

"
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Supervisory Board member Meeting Attendance Attendance rate
Dr. Appel, Frank
since April 7, 2022 Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 77
General Committee 5/5
Nomination Committee ”n
Staff Committee 2/2
Audit Committee (as guest) @]
Finance Committee (as guest) 3)
Technology and Innovation Committee (as guest) ©]
Total 15/15 100 %
Prof. Dr. Lehner, Ulrich
until April 7, 2022 Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference Al
General Committee 2/2
Nomination Committee ”n
Staff Committee 0/0
Total 4/4 100 %
Sauerland, Frank
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8
General Committee 77
Staff Committee 2/2
Total 17/17 100 %
Dr. Bésinger, Rolf
until April 7, 2022 Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference Al
General Committee 2/2
Nomination Committee ”n
Audit Committee on
Total 4/5 80 %
Dr. Braunig, Giinther
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8
Audit Committee since April 7, 2022 4/4
Finance Committee until April 7, 2022 0/0
Total 12/12 100 %
Chatzidis, Odysseus D.
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8
Staff Committee 2/2
Technology and Innovation Committee 2/2
Total 12/12 100 %
Greve, Constantin
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8
Finance Committee 5/5
Total 13/13 100 %
Hessel, Katja
since April 7,2022 Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 7/7
General Committee 4/5
Nomination Committee 1
Total 12/13 92%
Hinrichs, Lars
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8
Technology and Innovation Committee 2/2
Total 10/10 100 %
Dr. Jung, Helga
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8
Audit Committee since April 7, 2022 4/4
Total 12/12 100 %
Prof. Dr. Kaschke, Michael
until April 7, 2022 Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 1
Audit Committee 1
Total 2/2 100 %
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Supervisory Board member Meeting Attendance Attendance rate
Koch, Nicole

Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8

Finance Committee 5/5

Total 13/13 100 %
Kollmann, Dagmar P.

Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8

Nomination Committee 2/2

Audit Committee 5/5

Finance Committee 5/5

Total 20/20 100 %
Kreusel, Petra Steffi

Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8

Audit Committee 5/5

Total 13/13 100 %
Kriiger, Harald

Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8

Staff Committee 2/2

Total 10/10 100 %
Marx, Kerstin

Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 7/8

General Committee 7/7

Audit Committee 5/5

Staff Committee 2/2

Total 21/22 95%
Schottke, Susanne
since April 7,2022 Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 7/7

Audit Committee 3/4

Total 10/1 91%
Schradder, Lothar

Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8

Technology and Innovation Committee 2/2

Total 10/10 100 %
Seelemann-Wandtke, Nicole

Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 6/8

Technology and Innovation Committee 2/2

Total 8/10 80 %
Spoo, Sibylle
until April 7, 2022 Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 1

Audit Committee 11

Total 2/2 100 %
Streibich, Karl-Heinz

Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8

Finance Committee 5/5

Technology and Innovation Committee 2/2

Total 15/15 100 %
Suckale, Margret

Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8

Staff Committee 2/2

Technology and Innovation Committee 2/2

Total 12/12 100 %
Topel, Karin

Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/8

Finance Committee 5/5

Total 13/13 100 %
Wintels, Stefan B.
since April 7,2022 Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 77

Finance Committee 5/5

Total 12/12 100 %
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Conflicts of interest on the Supervisory Board
No conflicts of interest have arisen among the Supervisory Board members in the reporting year. Should a conflict of interest
arise, the Supervisory Board members will discuss how to proceed with the Chairman of the Supervisory Board.

Corporate governance

The Supervisory Board and Board of Management are aware that good corporate governance is an important foundation for
corporate success. The provisions of the German Corporate Governance Code are hence reflected in the Company’s statutes.
The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board last issued their Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate
Governance Code on December 30, 2022.

This Declaration of Conformity can be found on the Deutsche Telekom AG website. It also provides access to the declarations of conformity from previous
years.

Apart from the exceptions disclosed therein, Deutsche Telekom complied, and continues to comply, with all recommendations
of the Code. For detailed information on corporate governance at Deutsche Telekom, please refer to the Corporate Governance
Statement.

| The Corporate Governance Statement can be found on the Deutsche Telekom AG website.

Training and development

The members of the Supervisory Board generally take on the necessary training and development measures required for
their tasks at their own initiative and are supported by Deutsche Telekom AG in doing so, e.g., by offering and organizing
informational events and workshops — in 2022 these covered subjects such as “The amendment to the Telecommunications
Act,” “The geopolitical situation,” and “The development of sustainability reporting” — with internal and external experts as well
as by offering company visits/the presentation of product innovations in order to enhance the Supervisory Board members’
understanding of the Company. The Company offers new Supervisory Board members a customized program to introduce them
to the industry and the situation of the Company. Furthermore, an annual special meeting is held to continually inform the
members of the Audit Committee in depth about the latest changes in the law, new accounting and auditing standards, and
any changes in corporate governance issues. The members of the Supervisory Board are also kept up to date about any new
requirements for work on the Supervisory Board at the regular Board and committee meetings.

Changes in the composition of the Board of Management

By resolution of February 23,2022, Adel Al-Saleh was reappointed as the Board member responsible for T-Systems from
January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2027. Furthermore, in the meeting on May 19,2022, Dr. Christian P. Illek was reappointed
as the Board member responsible for Finance from April1,2023 to March 31,2028. By resolution of December 14, 2022,
Dominique Leroy was reappointed as the Board member responsible for Europe from November 1, 2023 to October 31, 2028.

Changes in the composition of the Supervisory Board

Shareholders’ representatives

Dr. Rolf Bosinger resigned from his position as a member of the Supervisory Board effective the end of the shareholders’
meeting on April 7, 2022. He was succeeded by Katja Hessel, who was elected to the Supervisory Board by resolution of the
shareholders’ meeting on April 7, 2022, for a term of office until the end of the 2026 shareholders’ meeting.

Prof. Dr. Michael Kaschke resigned from his position as a member of the Supervisory Board effective the end of the
shareholders’ meeting on April 7, 2022. At the shareholders’ meeting on April 7, 2022, Stefan B. Wintels was elected for a term
of office as a member of the Supervisory Board until the end of the 2026 shareholders’ meeting.

At the shareholders’ meeting on April 7, 2022, Dagmar P. Kollmann was elected for a further term of office as a member of the
Supervisory Board until the end of the 2026 shareholders’ meeting.

Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner left the Supervisory Board effective the end of the shareholders’ meeting on April 7, 2022. In his place,
Dr. Frank Appel was elected by the shareholders’ meeting on April 7, 2022 as a member of the Supervisory Board until the end of
the 2026 shareholders’ meeting. He was then elected as the Chairman of the Supervisory Board by resolution of the Supervisory
Board.

Employees’ representatives

Sibylle Spoo resigned from her position as a member of the Supervisory Board effective the end of the shareholders’ meeting
on April 7,2022. Susanne Schéttke was previously appointed as a replacement candidate by the 2018 Assembly of Delegates
and became a member of the Supervisory Board upon Ms. Spoo’s resignation.

We would like to thank all members of the Supervisory Board who have left in the past financial year for their successful long-
term, constructive collaboration.
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To our shareholders

Review of the annual and consolidated financial statements, the non-financial statement, and the 2022 remuneration report
The Board of Management submitted the annual financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, and the Group
management report, which is combined with the management report of Deutsche Telekom AG (combined management
report), together with its proposal for the appropriation of net income and the Corporate Governance Statement, to us in good
time. The combined management report also included a separate section containing the combined non-financial statement for
Deutsche Telekom AG and for the Group (combined non-financial statement) for the 2022 financial year.

Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft, Munich, (Deloitte) which was appointed as auditor of the single-entity
financial statements and auditor of the consolidated financial statements (external auditor) for the 2022 financial year by
the shareholders’ meeting, audited the annual financial statements as of December 31,2022, which were prepared by the
Board of Management in accordance with the provisions of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch — HGB), and
the combined management report, as well as the consolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022, which were
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant
to § 315e (1) HGB, and the combined management report (documentation on the financial statements). The external auditor
issued an unqualified audit opinion for each document. Moreover, Deloitte performed a limited assurance engagement on
the combined non-financial statement for the 2022 financial year prepared by the Board of Management in respect of the
disclosures required by law as well as in relation to the two management-relevant performance indicators (CO, emissions
(Scope 1and 2) and energy consumption) in order to obtain reasonable assurance and issued a combined report without any
reservations in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (revised).

The external auditor confirmed its independence in writing to the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board together with
the submission of the audit reports. There are no circumstances that may give rise to doubts about the external auditor’s
impartiality. In the Supervisory Board meeting on February 22, 2023, the Audit Committee informed us about its monitoring
of the external auditor’s independence while taking account of the non-audit services provided, and of its conclusion that the
auditor continues to meet the independence requirements.

The external auditor submitted its reports on the nature and extent as well as the result of its audits (audit reports) to us. The
aforementioned documentation on the financial statements, the external auditor’s preliminary audit reports, and the Board of
Management’s proposal for the appropriation of net income were made available to the members of the Supervisory Board in
good time. The same applies to the combined non-financial statement and the Corporate Governance Statement.

We conducted our own in-depth review of the documents submitted by the Board of Management and the external auditor’s
audit reports. In preparation, the Audit Committee had conducted a thorough review of the aforementioned documents. The
documentation on the financial statements and the Board of Management’s proposal for the appropriation of net income were
explained in detail by the Board of Management to the members of the Audit Committee at its meeting on February 21, 2023.
The members of the Board of Management also answered the committee members’ questions. Moreover, the external auditor
also attended this meeting and reported on its audit, in particular the focal points of the audit defined in agreement with the
Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board, and the main findings of its audit, and explained its preliminary audit reports. The
members of the Audit Committee acknowledged and critically reviewed the preliminary audit reports and preliminary audit
opinions, and discussed them, as well as the audit itself, with the external auditor. The review included questions about the
nature and extent of the audit and about the audit findings. The Audit Committee satisfied itself that the audit and the audit
reports were compliant. In particular, its members had assured themselves that the audit reports and the audit conducted by
the external auditor met the legal requirements. The external auditor then issued its final audit reports without any changes
and issued an unqualified audit opinion for each of the financial statements. Furthermore, the Audit Committee adopted the
aforementioned approach with respect to the audit report and audit opinion on the combined non-financial statement and
conducted a review of both. Deloitte then issued this report along with an unqualified audit opinion. The Audit Committee
recommended that we approve the results of the audit conducted by the external auditor and, since it had no objections to
the documents submitted by the Board of Management, that we approve the annual financial statements and the consolidated
financial statements; it also recommended that we not raise any objections against the combined management report or the
combined non-financial statement, and that we support the Board of Management’s proposal for the appropriation of net
income.

We performed the final review of the documentation on the financial statements, as well as the Board of Management’s
proposal for the appropriation of net income, on February 22, 2023, taking into account the report and recommendations of
the Audit Committee and the external auditor’s final audit reports. The Board of Management attended this meeting, explained
the documents they had submitted, and answered our questions. The external auditor also attended this meeting and reported
on its audit and the main findings of its audit, explained its audit reports, and answered our questions, in particular relating to
the nature and extent of the audit and the audit findings. Based on this and the report presented by the Audit Committee, we
were satisfied that the audit and the audit report were compliant. Hence, we approved the findings of the audit by the external
auditor. The same applies to the combined non-financial statement contained in the combined management report.
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Based on the final outcome of our review of the annual financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, the
combined management report, and the combined non-financial statement, as well as the Board of Management’s proposal for
the appropriation of net income, no objections need be raised. The same applies to the Corporate Governance Statement even
insofar as it has not been audited by the external auditor. We followed the Audit Committee’s recommendation and approved
the annual financial statements and the consolidated financial statements for 2022. The 2022 annual financial statements are
therefore formally adopted.

The Supervisory Board’s assessment of the position of the Company and the Group is the same as that which the Board
of Management presented in its combined management report. It followed the Audit Committee’s recommendation and
approved these documents. The same applies to the combined non-financial statement.

When dealing with the budget and medium-term planning on December 14, 2022, we conducted an in-depth examination
of financial and investment plans, discussing in particular the development of earnings, free cash flow, the equity ratio, and
balance sheet ratios. The Board of Management’s proposal concerning the appropriation of net income was examined by the
Audit Committee on February 21,2023, and by the Supervisory Board on February 22, 2023. The external auditor was present
at both meetings. We approved and supported the Board of Management’s proposal to pay out shareholder remuneration of
around EUR 3,481 million and to carry forward around EUR 3,219 million to unappropriated net income.

The remuneration report for the 2022 financial year was prepared by the Board of Management and Supervisory Board in
accordance with § 162 (1) sentence 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz — AktG) and formally reviewed by the
external auditor to ensure the information pursuant to § 162 (1) and (2) AktG had been provided. No shortcomings were found
and the external auditor issued an unqualified opinion.

We would like to thank the members of the Board of Management, all employees, and the works committees for their
commitment and dedication in the 2022 financial year.

Bonn, February 22,2023
The Supervisory Board

Dr. Frank Appel
Chairman
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Members of the Board of Management of Deutsche Telekom AG in 2022

Timotheus Hottges
Chairman of the Board of Management since January 1, 2014

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= Mercedes-Benz Group AG, Stuttgart (since 7/2020)?
= Mercedes-Benz AG, Stuttgart (since 10/2021)

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
= T-Mobile US, Inc., Bellevue, United States, Chairman of the Board of Directors (since 4/2013)?

Adel Al-Saleh
Board member responsible for T-Systems since January 1, 2018

Member of comparable supervisory bodies of business enterprises in Germany or abroad:
= BT Group plc, London, United Kingdom, Member of the Board of Directors (since 5/2020)?

Birgit Bohle
Board member responsible for Human Resources and Legal Affairs, and Labor Director since January 1, 2020

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
= Deutsche Telekom Services Europe SE, Bonn (since 10/2019)

= Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn (since 1/2019)

m T-Systems International GmbH, Frankfurt/Main (since 6/2021)

Srini Gopalan
Board member responsible for Germany since November 1, 2020

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:

= Deutsche Telekom Service GmbH, Bonn, Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 11/2020)
m Deutsche Telekom Technik GmbH, Bonn, Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 11/2020)
= T-Mobile US, Inc., Bellevue, United States, Member of the Board of Directors (since 8/2022)2

Dr. Christian P. Illek
Board member responsible for Finance since January 1, 2019

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:

Buyln SA/NV, Brussels, Belgium (since 12/2018), Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 1/2023)

= Deutsche Telekom Services Europe SE, Bonn (since 8/2019), Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 11/2019)
= Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn (since 6/2021), Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 6/2021)

= T-Mobile US, Inc., Bellevue, United States, Member of the Board of Directors (since 1/2019)?

Thorsten Langheim
Board member responsible for USA and Group Development since January 1, 2019

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= FC Bayern Miinchen AG, Munich (since 9/2021)

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:

m Deutsche Telekom Capital Partners Management GmbH, Hamburg, Chairman of the Investment Committee (since 6/2015)

m Digital Infrastructure Vehicle Il SCSp SICAV-RAIF, Luxembourg, Member of the Limited Partner Advisory Committee
(since 7/2022)

= DTCP Growth Equity IIl SICAV-RAIF, Luxembourg, Member of the Limited Partner Advisory Committee (since 11/2022)

= T-Mobile US, Inc., Bellevue, United States, Member of the Board of Directors (since 6/2014)2

Dominique Leroy
Board member responsible for Europe since November 1, 2020

Member of comparable supervisory bodies of business enterprises in Germany or abroad:
= Compagnie de Saint-Gobain, Courbevoie, France, Member of the Board of Directors (since 11/2017)2

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:

= Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A. (OTE S.A.), Marousi, Athens, Greece (since 11/2020)?

= T-Mobile US, Inc., Bellevue, United States, Member of the Board of Directors (since 11/2020)2

= T-Mobile Polska S.A., Warsaw, Poland (since 11/2020), Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (since 11/2020)

a Listed on the stock exchange
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Claudia Nemat
Board member responsible for Technology and Innovation since January 1, 2017

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= Airbus Defence and Space GmbH, Ottobrunn (since 5/2016)

Member of comparable supervisory bodies of business enterprises in Germany or abroad:
= Airbus SE, Leiden, Netherlands, Member of the Board of Directors (since 5/2016)?

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:

= Deutsche Telekom IT GmbH, Bonn, Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (since 6/2017)

= Deutsche Telekom Security GmbH, Bonn (since 8/2020), Deputy Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (since 9/2020)
m T-Systems International GmbH, Frankfurt/Main (since 4/2020), Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (since 6/2021)

a Listed on the stock exchange
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Members of the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG in 2022

Dr. Frank Appel

Member of the Supervisory Board since April 7, 2022

Chairman of the Supervisory Board since April 7, 2022

Chairman of the Board of Management of Deutsche Post AG, Bonn

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= Fresenius Management SE, Bad Homburg (since 5/2021)

Dr. Giinther Braunig
Member of the Supervisory Board since March 21,2018
Former CEO of the Executive Board of KfW, Frankfurt/Main

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG, Unterschleifheim (since 8/2009), Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 8/2014)2
= Deutsche Post AG, Bonn (3/2018 to 5/2022)?

Odysseus D. Chatzidis

Member of the Supervisory Board since January 3, 2018

Chairman of the European Works Council of Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn
— No other seats —

Constantin Greve

Member of the Supervisory Board since November 20, 2018
Chairman of the Central Works Council of Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn
— No other seats —

Katja Hessel

Member of the Supervisory Board since April 7, 2022

Parliamentary State Secretary at the Federal Ministry of Finance, Berlin
— No other seats —

Lars Hinrichs
Member of the Supervisory Board since October 1, 2013
CEO of Cinco Capital GmbH, Hamburg

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= Xempus AG, Munich, Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 1/2016)

Dr. Helga Jung
Member of the Supervisory Board since May 25, 2016
Former Member of the Board of Management of Allianz SE, Munich

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:

= Allianz Deutschland AG, Munich (3/2016 to 3/2022)

= Allianz Global Corporate & Specialty SE, Munich, Deputy Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (since 5/2013)
m Allianz Lebensversicherungs-AG, Stuttgart (since 4/2020)

= Allianz Versicherungs-AG, Munich (since 11/2019)

Nicole Koch
Member of the Supervisory Board since January 1, 2016
Chairwoman of the Works Council of Deutsche Telekom Privatkunden-Vertrieb GmbH, Bonn

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
= Deutsche Telekom Privatkunden-Vertrieb GmbH, Bonn (since 6/2004)

Dagmar P. Kollmann

Member of the Supervisory Board since May 24, 2012

Entrepreneur, member of several supervisory boards and advisory boards as well as the Monopolies Commission
Former CEO of Morgan Stanley Bank, Frankfurt/Main

Former Member of the Board of Directors of Morgan Stanley Bank International Limited, London, United Kingdom

a Listed on the stock exchange
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Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG, Frankfurt/Main, Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (since 11/2021)

Member of comparable supervisory bodies of business enterprises in Germany or abroad:
= Coca Cola European Partners plc, London, United Kingdom (since 5/2019)2

= Paysafe Holdings UK Limited, London, United Kingdom (since 3/2021)?

m Unibail-Rodamco SE, Paris, France, Member of the Supervisory Board (since 5/2014)?

Petra Steffi Kreusel

Member of the Supervisory Board since January 1, 2013

Senior Vice President, Customer & Public Relations at Deutsche Telekom Business Solutions GmbH, Bonn

Group Officer for Digital Education and School at Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn

Chairwoman of the Executive Staff Representation Committee of Deutsche Telekom Business Solutions GmbH, Bonn
Deputy Chairwoman of the Group Executive Staff Representation Committee of Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
= Deutsche Telekom Business Solutions GmbH, Bonn (8/2020 to 12/2022)

Harald Kriiger

Member of the Supervisory Board since May 17, 2018

Managing partner of KC&C GmbH, Grafelfing

Former Chairman of the Board of Management of Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft, Munich

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
m Deutsche Lufthansa AG, Cologne (since 5/2020)2

Kerstin Marx
Member of the Supervisory Board since May 1, 2020
Chairwoman of the Group Works Council at Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
= Deutsche Telekom Business Solutions GmbH, Bonn (8/2020 to 12/2022)

Frank Sauerland

Member of the Supervisory Board since November 20, 2018

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board since March 27, 2020

Head of the Collective Bargaining Policy Committee, TC/IT National Committee at the ver.di National Executive Board, Berlin

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
= Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn (since 12/2016), Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 1/2017)

Susanne Schottke
Member of the Supervisory Board since April 7, 2022
Head of the North state district of ver.di, Libeck

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= MVV Energie AG, Mannheim (since 2/2021)?

Lothar Schroder
Member of the Supervisory Board since June 22, 2006
Trade Union Secretary, former member of the ver.di National Executive Board, Berlin

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:

= Vereinigte Postversicherung VVaG, Stuttgart (since 6/2008)
= VPV Holding AG, Stuttgart (since 6/2018)

m VPV Lebensversicherungs-AG, Stuttgart (since 10/2015)

Nicole Seelemann-Wandtke

Member of the Supervisory Board since July 5, 2018

Deputy Chairwoman of the Works Council of the Consumers unit of Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn
— No other seats —

Karl-Heinz Streibich

Member of the Supervisory Board since October 1, 2013

President of acatech — Deutsche Akademie der Technikwissenschaften (National Academy of Science and Engineering), Berlin,
until March 14, 2022

Honorary chairman of the acatech senate — Deutsche Akademie der Technikwissenschaften (National Academy of Science and
Engineering), Berlin, since March 15, 2022

a Listed on the stock exchange
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Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:

= Minchener Riickversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft in Miinchen, Munich (since 4/2019)2
= Siemens Healthineers AG, Erlangen (since 3/2018)?

= Software AG, Darmstadt, Chairman of the Supervisory Board (6/2020 to 1/2022)?

Margret Suckale

Member of the Supervisory Board since September 28, 2017

Member of several supervisory boards and former Member of the Board of Executive Directors of BASF SE, Ludwigshafen am
Rhein

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:

m DWS Group GmbH & Co. KGaA, Frankfurt/Main (since 3/2018)?
m HeidelbergCement AG, Heidelberg (since 8/2017)2

= Infineon Technologies AG, Neubiberg (since 2/2020)2

Karin Topel

Member of the Supervisory Board since July 1, 2017

Chairwoman of the Works Council of Deutsche Telekom Technik GmbH, Bonn, Technical Branch Office, Eastern District
— No other seats —

Stefan B. Wintels
Member of the Supervisory Board since April 7, 2022
CEO of the Executive Board of KfW, Frankfurt/Main

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= Deutsche Post AG, Bonn (since 5/2022)?
m KfW Capital GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt/Main, Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 11/2021)

Supervisory Board members who left in the 2022 financial year

Dr. Rolf Bosinger
Member of the Supervisory Board from June 1, 2018 to April 7, 2022
State Secretary at the Federal Ministry for Housing, Urban Development and Building, Berlin

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
m PD - Berater der 6ffentlichen Hand GmbH, Berlin (since 5/2022)

Prof. Dr. Dr. h. c. Michael Kaschke

Member of the Supervisory Board from April 22, 2015 to April 7, 2022

Former CEO & President of Carl Zeiss AG, Oberkochen, and Chairman of the Supervisory Board of the Karlsruhe Institute of
Technology (KIT), Karlsruhe

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:

m Henkel AG & Co. KGaA, Diisseldorf (since 4/2008)2

m Ottobock SE & Co. KGaA, Duderstadt (6/2021 to 12/2022), Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (9/2021 to 12/2022)
= Robert Bosch GmbH, Stuttgart (since 4/2016)

Member of supervisory boards in Germany required to be formed by law outside of business enterprises:
= Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Karlsruhe, corporation under public law (not a commercial enterprise within the
meaning of § 100 (2) sentence 1 no. 1 AktG), Chairman (since 12/2019)

Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner
Member of the Supervisory Board from April 17,2008 to April 7, 2022
Chairman of the Supervisory Board from April 25, 2008 to April 7, 2022

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart (since 11/2007)2

Sibylle Spoo

Member of the Supervisory Board from May 4, 2010 to April 7, 2022

Lawyer, Trade Union Secretary at the ver.di Federal Administration, Berlin, until December 30, 2021
— No other seats —

a Listed on the stock exchange
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The T-Share

2022 2021 2020
XETRA closing prices
Share price on the last trading day € 18.64 16.30 1496
Year high € 19.77 18.92 16.63
Year low € 1510 14.70 10.83
Trading volume
German exchanges billions of shares 24 2.3 3.4
Market capitalization on the last trading day billions of € 929 81.3 7.2
Weighting of the T-Share in major stock indexes on the last trading day
DAX 40 % 5.5 4.0 4.5
Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50° % 2.3 1.7 19
T-Share - key figures
Earnings per share € 1.61 0.87 0.88
Dividend per share? € 0.70 0.64 0.60
Total number of ordinary shares at the reporting dateP millions 4986 4986 4,761

@ Subject to approval by the relevant bodies and the fulfillment of other legal requirements.

o Including treasury shares held by Deutsche Telekom AG.

Development of international indexes

Following a very strong year in 2021, the stock markets showed a much weaker performance in 2022. Ultimately, all relevant
indexes worldwide recorded substantial losses in value. The stock markets were beset by inflation and the raising of interest
rates by central banks, the war in Ukraine, and the sharp rise in energy prices.

The most important barometer of the German stock market, the DAX 40, fell by 12.4 % over the course of the trading year. The
Dow Jones closed out the year with a loss of 4.1 % on a total return basis, i.e., including reinvested dividends.

The Dow Jones EURO STOXX S0° likewise ended 2022 on a low, down 9.5 %. The Japanese Nikkei also fell substantially, closing
out the year with a loss of 16.0 %.

T-Share performance
The European telecommunications sector was also hit by the general downturn: The industry’s barometer, the Dow Jones
STOXX® Europe 600 Telecommunications, had decreased 14.1 % by the end of the year.

In contrast to this weak environment, the T-Share closed 2022 at EUR 18.64, up by 14.0 %. The lowest price recorded during the
year was EUR 1510 on March 8, 2022, while the highest price of EUR 19.77 was recorded on November 25, 2022.

On a total return basis — and thus comparable with the DAX — our share ended the year 2022 up 18.6 %.

| For an overview of the performance of the T-Share in recent years, please visit our Investor Relations website.

Dividend
The Board of Management and Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG will propose to the shareholders’ meeting on
April 5, 2023 the distribution of a dividend of EUR 0.70 per dividend-bearing share.

Capital markets communication

Deutsche Telekom maintains a close dialog with participants on the capital market and is monitored and analyzed by a number
of German and international analysts (coverage). As of December 31, 2022, we recorded 23 analyst recommendations, 95 % of
these with a buy recommendation and S % with a hold recommendation.

| For a current overview of analyst coverage, please visit our Investor Relations website.

As direct dialog with our shareholders is extremely important to us, we also held our shareholders’ meeting on April 7, 2022, as
an in-person event.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2022 financial year.


https://www.telekom.com/en/investor-relations/share
https://www.telekom.com/en/investor-relations/share/analysts

To our shareholders

T-Share as compared to DAX, Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50¢, and Dow Jones STOXX® Europe 600 Telecommunications

January 1to December 31, 2022 (based on total shareholder return?)
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T-Share as compared to other European telecommunications companies
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@ Total shareholder return measures the development in the value of a shareholding over a specific period. It takes into account dividends paid during the
investment period along with any changes in share price.

Shareholder structure

The Federal Republic’s shareholding, including that of Kreditanstalt fiir Wiederaufbau (KfW), remained stable at 30.5 % in 2022.
The proportion of institutional investors increased slightly in 2022 from 47.7 % to 48.2 %, while the share of retail investors fell
slightly from 17.4 % to 16.8 %. As a result, the percentage of shares in free float stands at around 65 % of the share capital.

Shareholder structure Geographical distribution of free float
% (as of December 31,2022) % (as of December 31,2022)
4.5 3.7
SoftBank Other countries
13.8 9.5
Federal Republic - United Kingdom -
48.2 34.0
16.6 Institutional investors 23.5 Germany
Kfw Rest of Europe
16.8 29.3
Retail investors United States/Canada

For further information relevant to shareholders, please refer to our Investor Relations website.
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Development of selected financial data

Net revenue® P

= Net revenue increased by EUR 6.6 billion or 6.1% to EUR 114.4 billion. In organic terms, it was
on a par with the prior-year level. Service revenue increased by EUR 8.8 billion or 10.6 % to
EUR 91.9 billion. In organic terms, it increased by EUR 3.3 billion or 3.7 %.

m Qur United States segment recorded revenue growth of 11.3 %, mainly due to exchange rate
effects. In organic terms, revenue declined by 1.3 % year-on-year due to lower terminal equipment
revenues, partially offset by higher service revenues.

m Revenue in our Germany segment was up 1.9 % year-on-year, mainly due to the positive trend in
service revenues.

m |n our Systems Solutions segment, revenue increased by 1.4 % year-on-year, mainly driven by
growth in the Digital Solutions, Road Charging, and Advisory portfolio units.

= In our Europe segment, revenue decreased by 1.2 % year-on-year, mainly due to the sale of the
Romanian fixed-network business. In organic terms, however, revenue increased by 3.9 %,
primarily as a result of the strong performance in mobile business.

= Revenue in our Group Development segment declined by 46.0 % due to the sale of T-Mobile
Netherlands. In organic terms, revenue increased by 6.5% on the back of operationally and
structurally driven growth at the GD Towers business entity.

EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors)?

m Adjusted EBITDA AL increased by EUR 2.9 billion or 7.7 % to EUR 40.2 billion. In organic terms, it
increased by EUR 0.7 billion or 1.7 %.

m In our United States segment, adjusted EBITDA AL increased by 12.9 %, essentially due to
exchange rate effects. In organic terms, it increased slightly year-on-year by 0.1 %. Adjusted core
EBITDA AL increased by EUR 4.4 billion or 21.9 % to EUR 24.3 billion.

= |n the Systems Solutions segment, adjusted EBITDA AL grew by 4.8 % and by 0.9 % in organic
terms. Efficiency effects and increased revenue in the growth areas contributed to this trend.

= |n the Germany segment, adjusted EBITDA AL was up 3.2 %, driven by high-value revenue growth
and enhanced cost efficiency.

= Adjusted EBITDA AL in the Europe segment decreased by 1.1 %, but increased by 3.1 % in organic
terms, mainly due to a positive net margin.

= Adjusted EBITDA AL in the Group Development segment declined by 26.2 %, but increased by
26.4 % in organic terms driven by the consistent positive development of the GD Towers business
entity.

m At 35.1 %, the Group’s adjusted EBITDA AL margin was above the prior-year level. The margin was
401 % in Germany, 35.5 % in Europe, and 34.0 % in the United States.

Profit/loss from operations (EBIT)?

m EBIT increased by EUR 3.1 billion or 23.8 % to EUR 16.2 billion.

m Special factors had a negative effect of EUR 4.2 billion on EBITDA AL (2021: EUR -3.4 billion).
Deconsolidations, acquisitions, and disposals resulted in expenses totaling EUR 2.3 billion.
Expenses for staff-related measures amounted to EUR 1.2 billion. In addition, impairment losses
of EUR 0.3 billion were recognized on right-of-use assets, and other special factors affecting
EBITDA AL were recognized in the same amount.

m Impairment losses increased by EUR 0.9 billion to EUR 1.2 billion and primarily related to the
United States, Systems Solutions, and Europe segments. In the United States, the impairment
losses mainly related to the former Sprint’s fiber-optic-based wireline assets and were attributable
to the sale of the business.

m Depreciation and amortization decreased by EUR 0.5 billion, due in part to the suspension of
depreciation and amortization as a result of the business entities T-Mobile Netherlands and
GD Towers being held for sale on account of corresponding sales agreements.
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a Since the third quarter of 2022, the GD Towers business entity, which operates the cell tower business in Germany and Austria, assigned to the Group Development operating segment, has been
recognized in the consolidated financial statements as a discontinued operation. However, both here and in the combined management report we continue to include the contributions by
GD Towers in the results of operations according to the management approach. For information on the agreement with DigitalBridge and Brookfield on GD Towers, please refer to the section “Group

organization” in the combined management report and to the section “Summary of accounting policies” in the consolidated financial statements.

b The prior-year comparatives were adjusted retrospectively to take account of changes to the principal/agent policy regarding the recognition of gross and net revenues as of the third quarter of
2022. For further information, please refer to the section “Development of business in the Group” in the combined management report and to the section “Changes in accounting policies and

changes in the reporting structure” in the consolidated financial statements.
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Net profit

m Net profit increased by EUR 3.8 billion or 91.6 % to EUR 8.0 billion.

m Qur loss from financial activities decreased from EUR 5.1 billion to EUR 4.5 billion, with other
financial income/expense improving in particular due to the measurement of derivatives, in
particular as a result of the forward transaction to hedge the price of acquiring shares in
T-Mobile US shares, and the stock options to buy shares in T-Mobile US. The interest component
from the measurement of provisions and liabilities also increased due to the higher interest rate
level. By contrast, finance costs increased and the share of profit/loss of associates and joint
ventures accounted for using the equity method decreased.

= Tax expense came to EUR 2.2 billion compared with EUR 1.8 billion in the prior year.

m Profit attributable to non-controlling interests decreased from EUR 1.9 billion to EUR 1.5 billion.

Adjusted earnings per share amounted to EUR 1.83 compared with EUR 1.22 in the prior year.

To our shareholders 25
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| For a reconciliation for the organic development of key figures for the prior year, please refer to the section “Additional information.”

For further information on the financial data of our segments, please refer to the section “Development of business in the operating segments” in the combined management report and to

the IR back-up on our Investor Relations website.

ROCE

m ROCE (return on capital employed) increased by 0.4 percentage points to 4.5 %. This was due
to stronger percentage growth in net operating profit after taxes (NOPAT) than in the average
amount of net operating assets (NOA) over the year.

= The positive development in NOPAT is mainly due to the increase in adjusted EBITDA AL. Higher
total expenses classified as special factors had an offsetting effect.

m The increase in NOA is due in part to the acquisition of additional spectrum licenses by
T-Mobile US and the associated increase in intangible assets. In addition, the development of NOA
reflects our consistently high investment volume.

Net debt®

= Net debt increased by EUR 10.3 billion from EUR 1321 billion to EUR 142.4 billion.

m The increase was attributable in particular to the modification of the arrangements between
T-Mobile US and Crown Castle, which resulted in an increase of EUR 6.6 billion in right-of-use
assets and of EUR 0.8 billion in property, plant and equipment. This effect is mirrored by growth
in net debt of EUR 7.4 billion. Exchange rate effects (EUR 5.9 billion), additions of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets (EUR 4.6 billion), the dividend payment — including to non-controlling
interests — (EUR 3.4 billion), spectrum acquisitions primarily in the United States (EUR 3.2 billion),
the share buy-back program at T-Mobile US (EUR 3.0 billion), and the increase of the stake in
T-Mobile US (EUR 2.2 billion) also had an increasing effect.

The main factors reducing net debt were free cash flow (before dividend payments and spectrum
investment) of EUR 15.2 billion and the corporate transactions involving T-Mobile Netherlands and
GlasfaserPlus totaling EUR 4.7 billion.

¢ Including net debt included under liabilities directly associated with non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale.
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Cash capex (before spectrum investment)

= Cash capex (before spectrum investment) increased by EUR 3.0 billion to EUR 21.0 billion. billions of €

m The increase is largely attributable to the accelerated SG network build-out in the United States,
the integration of Sprint, and to exchange rate effects. In the Germany segment, too, our capital 25
expenditures for the fiber-optic and SG build-out were higher compared with the prior year. 20

m By contrast, cash capex (including spectrum investment) decreased by EUR 2.3 billion to 15
EUR 241 billion. Spectrum licenses were purchased for EUR 3.1 billion in the reporting year, in
particular mobile licenses in the United States segment. Another EUR 0.1 billion was paid for
spectrum in the Europe segment. In the prior year, cash capex had included the cash outflows
for mobile licenses — primarily at the C-band auction in the United States segment — totaling
EUR 8.4 billion.

210
170 180
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Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and spectrum investment)d
m Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and spectrum investment) increased by billions of €
EUR 2.7 billion to EUR 11.5 billion.
= The basis for this increase was the strong business performance in the operating segments. 15
Exchange rate effects also had an increasing effect. Net cash from operating activities increased 15
by EUR 3.6 billion. The decrease of EUR 1.8 billion in the principal portion of repayment of lease 10 8.8
liabilities, primarily in the United States, also had a positive effect. 6.3
m By contrast, EUR 3.0 billion higher cash capex (before spectrum investment), higher cash outflows
in connection with the integration of Sprint, and an increase of EUR 0.4 billion in net interest
payments had a decreasing effect.

9

2020 2021 2022

| For further information, please refer to the section “Development of business in the Group” in the combined management report.

For further information on the level of achievement of our main financial and non-financial key performance indicators, please refer to the relevant section “Development of business in the
Group — Comparison of the Group’s expectations with actual figures” in the combined management report.

d Before interest payments for zero-coupon bonds and before termination of forward-payer swaps at T-Mobile US (both in 2020).
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Highlights in the 2022 financial year

| For further information on these and other events, please refer to our media information.

Developments at senior management level

The shareholders’ meeting held on April 7, 2022 elected Dr. Frank Appel as a member of Deutsche Telekom AG’s Supervisory
Board. The Supervisory Board then elected Dr. Appel as the new Chairman of the Supervisory Board, as successor to
Prof. Ulrich Lehner, who left the Supervisory Board with effect from the end of the shareholders’ meeting.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

On December 15, 2021, the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG resolved to reappoint Timotheus Hottges as Chairman
of the Board of Management for the period from January 1, 2022 through December 31, 2026.

Business and other transactions

Agreement with DigitalBridge and Brookfield on GD Towers. On July 13, 2022, Deutsche Telekom agreed to sell a 51.0 % stake
in GD Towers, comprising its tower assets in Germany and Austria, assigned to the Group Development operating segment, to
DigitalBridge and Brookfield. Deutsche Telekom will retain a 49.0 % stake, benefiting from future value upside at GD Towers.
The transaction was consummated on February 1, 2023. All necessary regulatory approvals had been duly granted and all other
closing conditions met.

New limited partners admitted to infrastructure fund DIV Il. In August and September 2022, Digital Transformation Capital
Partners admitted new investors to the investment company Digital Infrastructure Vehiclell (DIVII). As a result,
Deutsche Telekom’s share in DIV Il decreased from 66.67 % to 41.25 % and the entity was deconsolidated in the third quarter of
2022.

Agreement with Cogent to sell the U.S. wireline business. On September 6, 2022, T-Mobile US reached an agreement with
Cogent Infrastructure (Cogent) on the sale of the fiber-optic-based wireline business of the former Sprint. The transaction is
subject to approval by the authorities as well as other closing conditions. The transaction is expected to be completed by
mid-2023.

Share buy-back program at T-Mobile US. On September 8, 2022, T-Mobile US announced that its Board of Directors has
authorized a share buy-back program for up to USD 14.0 billion of the company’s common stock through September 30, 2023.
Repurchases are expected to be made from available cash on hand and proceeds of one or more debt issuances or other
borrowings, based on the company’s evaluation of market conditions and other factors. By December 31, 2022, T-Mobile US
had bought back approximately 21.4 million own shares with a total volume of USD 3.0 billion (EUR 3.0 billion) under this
program. On September 15,2022, T-Mobile US issued senior notes with a total volume of USD 3.0 billion (EUR 3.0 billion) and
intends to use the cash proceeds for general business purposes, which may include, among other things, the financing of the
share buy-back program and the early repayment of higher-interest bonds.

Increase of the stake in T-Mobile US. On April 12, 2022, Deutsche Telekom exercised a further portion of its stock options
to acquire a total of around 21.2 million shares in T-Mobile US from SoftBank for a purchase price of USD 2.4 billion
(EUR 2.2 billion). Upon its completion, the transaction increased Deutsche Telekom’s stake in T-Mobile US by 1.7 percentage
points.

Sale of T-Mobile Netherlands. On September 46,2021, Deutsche Telekom and Tele? signed an agreement with
WP/AP Telecom Holdings IV on the sale of our subsidiary T-Mobile Netherlands. The transaction was consummated on
March 31, 2022. The sale price is based on an enterprise value of EUR 5.1 billion. The cash proceeds amounted to EUR 3.6 billion.

Joint venture GlasfaserPlus with IFM. On November 5, 2021, Deutsche Telekom announced that IFM Global Infrastructure
Fund would acquire a stake of 50 % in GlasfaserPlus, a fiber-optic build-out entity. The transaction was consummated on
February 28, 2022. The sale price was EUR 0.9 billion.
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Extension of agreement between T-Mobile US and Crown Castle. In January 2022, T-Mobile US and Crown Castle agreed
a modification of existing arrangements, mainly concerning the lease of Crown Castle’s cell sites. This agreement includes
a modification of the monthly lease payments for existing cell sites and an extension of the non-cancelable lease term
until December 31, 2033 (with additional extension options). The modification of the arrangements results in a USD 7.3 billion
(EUR 6.6 billion) increase in right-of-use assets and a USD 0.9 billion (EUR 0.8 billion) increase in property, plant and
equipment. Net debt increases accordingly. The extension will give T-Mobile US increased planning reliability and greater
flexibility for building out the network as well as integrating and merging the existing mobile networks.

Reassignment of the security business. Effective July 1, 2022, Deutsche Telekom reassigned its subsidiary Deutsche Telekom
Security and the security business in Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Hungary, and Slovakia from the Systems Solutions
operating segment to the Germany operating segment.

For further information on these corporate transactions and others, please refer to the section “Group organization” in the combined management report
and the sections “Other transactions that had no effect on the composition of the Group,” “Changes in the composition of the Group and other transactions,”
and Note 38 “Segment reporting” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Rating

On April 22,2022, the rating agency Standard & Poor’s (S&P) raised its rating outlook for Deutsche Telekom AG from “stable”
to “positive” and also confirmed its long-term rating of BBB. S&P considers an upgrade in the long-term rating within the next
two years to be possible.

In July 2022, the rating agency Moody’s upgraded the rating for our subsidiary T-Mobile US from Ba2 to Baa3 with a stable
outlook. Standard & Poor’s raised their rating for T-Mobile US in August 2022, from BB+ to BBB- with a positive outlook.
Together with the existing BBB- rating with a positive outlook from Fitch, our U.S. subsidiary has now secured its first-ever full
investment grade rating at all three major rating agencies.

Investments in networks [ #5069 | [ EIFNANCE ]

Awarding of 5G spectrum. In the United States and the countries of our Europe operating segment, a number of 5SG spectrum
award proceedings were held in the reporting year, at which T-Mobile US and our national companies in Greece and Slovakia
were each able to successfully secure spectrum. T-Mobile US was awarded a further 7,000 2.5 GHz licenses at the FCC
Auction 108 for which it paid a total of around USD 0.3 billion (EUR 0.3 billion). This is in addition to the 199 mobile licenses
in mid-band spectrum from 3,450 to 3,550 MHz that were awarded to T-Mobile US in January 2022 for a purchase price of
USD 2.9 billion (EUR 2.6 billion) at the FCC Auction 110. On August 8, 2022, T-Mobile US reached agreements with Channel 51
License and LB License on the acquisition of licenses in the 600 MHz spectrum for an aggregate purchase price of
USD 3.5 billion (EUR 3.4 billion). The transactions are expected to be completed between mid and late 2023. With these
spectrum acquisitions we can now forge ahead with the rapid build-out of our network infrastructure and bring more services,
including 5G, to our customers.

| For further information on spectrum awards, please refer to the section “The economic environment” in the combined management report.

Network build-out in Germany. We continued to build out our network infrastructure in Germany throughout the reporting year.
At the end of 2022, our 5G network covered 94.8 % of the population. More than 80,000 antennas at around 24,000 sites are
transmitting SG. In around 620 cities, 5G is available in the powerful 3.6 GHz band on some 7,700 antennas at 2,600 sites. In
addition, we began using the 700 MHz spectrum for 5G in June 2022, with over 8,800 antennas transmitting on this frequency
in Germany. The resulting improvements in mobile coverage mainly benefit rural areas.

In the fixed network, the fiber-optic build-out took center stage. Since the start of 2022, we have rolled out fiber-optic lines
(FTTH) to around 2.0 million more households/companies. A total of around 5.4 million households/companies thus had the
option of a direct connection to our fiber-optic network as of the end of 2022. In the reporting year, we announced further
plans to roll out FTTH in Bavaria and Baden-Wirttemberg and other parts of the country. We are set to maintain our rapid FTTH
build-out pace over the coming two years by building out on our own, but also through partnerships, with the addition of up to
3 million households/companies per year. Our goal is to roll out fiber-optic lines to more than 10 million households/companies
by the end of 2024.
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Network build-out in the United States. T-Mobile US’ 5SG network covered large swaths of the United States as of the end of
2022. Our U.S. subsidiary now reaches 325 million people or 98 % of the U.S. population via the 600 MHz band and 263 million
people with Ultra Capacity SG in the 2.5 GHz band and millimeter-wave spectrum, and, beginning in December 2022,
T-Mobile US started deploying an additional new layer of 1,900 MHz Ultra Capacity SG spectrum to deliver greater speed and
performance. As planned, T-Mobile US completed the decommissioning of its 3G CDMA network on June 30,2022 and of
former Sprint’s 4G LTE network in the third quarter of 2022, respectively.

Leveraging its extensive 5G network, in the reporting year T-Mobile US additionally hooked up California, Colorado, lowa,
Kansas, Missouri, Oklahoma, Illinois, Michigan, Wisconsin, along with six further states in the Northeastern United States, to
its high-speed internet service. By the end of 2022, a total of more than S0 million households across the United States were
eligible for T-Mobile US’ SG high-speed internet.

Network build-out in Europe. In the countries of our Europe segment, too, we continued to press ahead with the network build-
out in the reporting year. As of the end of 2022, our national companies covered 47.4 % of the population in our European
footprint with 5G. In Greece, Montenegro, North Macedonia, Austria, and Croatia, as much as 50 to 92 % of the population
already enjoy the benefits of SG — keeping in mind that Makedonski Telekom only launched its first commercial SG network
in North Macedonia in February 2022. This means we can offer our customers 5G in almost all the countries of our European
footprint. As of June 30, 2022, Magyar Telekom in Hungary shut down its 3G network to refarm the released spectrum for the
better performing 4G and 5G services.

We also made good progress with the build-out of our fixed network in 2022. Since the start of 2022, we have rolled out
fiber-optic lines (FTTH) to around 1.1 million more households/companies in our Europe segment. A total of 32.0 % or around
8.1 million households/companies thus had the option of a direct connection to our fiber-optic network as of the end of 2022. In
the reporting year we announced further plans to roll out more FTTH in countries such as Austria and Croatia. By 2024, we are
set to increase fiber-optic coverage in our Europe operating segment to 40 %, or by more than 3 million additional households/
companies.

Corporate responsibility

Sustainability Day 2022. [>s0c7s | [@reatonshPs] At the Group’s first-ever Sustainability Day on October 12,2022, we
highlighted our targets and measures that we will implement on our journey to becoming a sustainable telecommunications
company. With sustainability as a top priority for Deutsche Telekom, each member of the Board of Management threw light
on the subject from their own particular perspective. Sustainability is firmly anchored in both our Group strategy and the
remuneration system for Board of Management members and other managers. Among other steps, we want to double our
energy efficiency by 2024 and further decouple energy consumption from ever-rising online data volumes. The Group’s goal is
to achieve climate neutrality for its own business operations (Scope 1-2) by 2025, and along its entire value chain (Scope 3) by
2040. This means an end to new orders of combustion engine vehicles in Germany, which is a first step in converting our entire
fleet to electric vehicles. Additionally, from 2025 all devices marketed by Deutsche Telekom will be sold only in sustainable
packaging. This is already the case with our new branded products.

| For further information on the Sustainability Day, please refer to the topic special on our website.

GreenTech Festival. [© 50615 [ x ENVRONMENT ] “Rethink. Reuse. Repeat.” was the motto at the world’s largest sustainability festival,
held in Berlin from June 22 to 24, 2022, where we showcased how we combine ecological sustainability and smart concepts.
Designed around a holistic approach to sustainability, our trade fair booth presented products such as the refurbished phone
for consumers and business customers. Buying discarded smartphones at a fair price, refurbishing them, and recycling the
components is in line with our vision of a circular economy.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

Corporate digital responsibility. [ = 0o | [ Ernance ] Since 2017, Deutsche Telekom has been taking a close look at the topic
of responsible digitalization from different perspectives. In early June 2022, we presented our newly drafted definition of digital
responsibility: Corporate Digital Responsibility@Deutsche Telekom offers guidance on how to actively deal with the various
impacts of digitalization and tackle the challenges they pose.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

For further information on our corporate responsibility activities, please refer to the section “Combined non-financial statement” in the combined
management report.
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Employees

Collective agreements. [aisocs | [ s emplovees ] A total of 90 collective agreements were concluded with the trade unions in the
reporting year for the Group entities in Germany covered by collective agreements. The “big” collective bargaining round for
nine entities was successfully concluded in May 2022, with salary increases negotiated for a total of 55,000 employees. The
agreements mainly include a two-phase salary increase for employees covered by collective agreements of between 2.7 and
31% in 2022, and by a further 21% in 2023. Furthermore, one-time payments were additionally agreed for the lower and
middle pay groups to cushion the effects of inflation.

| For further information on our HR activities, please refer to the section “Employees” in the combined management report.

Innovations [ % 5069 | [ RELATIONSHIPS ]

6G NeXt research consortium. In October 2022, we took over the lead for the 6G NeXt (Native Extensions for XR Technologies)
research project, part of the “6G industry projects for research into integrated systems and sub-technologies for 6th generation
mobile communications” program funded by Germany’s Federal Ministry of Education and Research. Under the project, nine
partners from industry and science are working together to develop infrastructure for a high-speed software layer.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

World exhibition of digitalization: Digital X 2022. On September 13 and 14, 2022, the Digital X exhibition took place in Cologne.
Together with more than 300 partners, over 200 brand houses, and around 60 start-ups, Europe’s leading digitalization
initiative presented trends and technical innovations covering topics from SG, loT, and autonomous driving, to the metaverse
and robotics. Around 70,000 visitors experienced the megatrends around mobility, security, new work, urbanization, and
sustainability live and up close on dedicated routes through Cologne.

| For further information on Digital X, please refer to the topic special on our website.

Hannover Messe 2022. We have transformed Hannover Messe into a 5G innovation campus. The trade fair, which took place
this year from May 30 to June 2, offers a private campus network available exclusively to the trade fair company and exhibitors
for their applications, while visitors to Hannover Messe can use the public SG network on the grounds. The campus network is
a 5G testing ground in which technology leaders from different sectors can operate and showcase industry solutions, such as
autonomous forklift trucks, live for visitors.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

Mobile World Congress (MWC) 2022. At MWC in Barcelona from February 28 to March 3, 2022, we presented innovations and
solutions for digital living, sustainable action, and social cohesion. The central theme was “Connecting Meaningful Technology.”
The focus was on technologies that connect people with each other and make life and work easier for them: with self-parking
cars (in cooperation with BMW and Valeo), mobile TV productions (together with RTL in the 5G standalone network), and
borderless connections for the Internet of Things (for example, T IoT, the solution presented together with T-Mobile US).

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

| For further information on our innovations, please refer to the section “Technology and innovation” in the combined management report.

Cooperations, partnerships, and major deals

Europe-wide fiber-optic cooperations. [ #s0co | [@RewTonsHPS| To make fiber-optic lines available to households and
commercial units in Europe, we rely on fiber-optic cooperations for shared use of networks as a key cornerstone of our strategy.
In June 2022, we announced a long-term cooperation with Glasfaser Ruhr in Germany. The common goal is to bring full fiber-
optic coverage to Bochum, with over 134,000 direct FTTH lines to be laid by 2032. An FTTH product agreement was signed
with Vodafone in June 2022. This strategic partnership, on the basis of open access, safeguards the utilization of our networks
and accelerates the fiber-optic build-out in Germany. An FTTH product agreement was signed with 1&1 in February 2022,
which enables 1&1 to offer fiber-optic services over our network. In 2022, we also reached and signed an agreement with the
regional telecommunications provider wilhelm.tel, which primarily operates in Hamburg, on the general conditions for a long-
term cooperation based on open access. We also cooperate with cities and municipal utility companies: For example, in early
December 2022 we signed a cooperation agreement with the city of Sindelfingen on comprehensive fiber-optic coverage. The
common goal is to roll out FTTH lines to all buildings in the metropolitan area by 2030. In June 2022, we presented the details
of our cooperation in Bietigheim-Bissingen, which aims to bring fiber-optic lines to 90 % of all households by 2030.
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Our European subsidiaries are also engaging in collaborations to drive forward the fiber-optic build-out. In August 2022,
Magenta Telekom agreed a strategic partnership with French investor Meridiam for the fiber-optic build-out in Austria. The
goal is to roll out over 650,000 new FTTH lines, predominantly in rural areas, by 2030. In the Czech Republic, T-Mobile Czech
Republic and Vodafone Czech Republic agreed in March 2022 to build out almost one million new fiber-optic lines together.
The agreement also includes mutual network access to part of the existing infrastructure in a number of cities, including Prague
and Brno.

Major deals for T-Systems. In August 2022, T-Systems signed a deal to migrate MAN Energy Solutions’ entire IT infrastructure
to the cloud, including its SAP system and all further applications. This migration to the public and private clouds will create
a flexible and scalable IT organization for more than 100 locations internationally. In September 2022 it was announced
that T-Systems will transfer Continental AG’s over 450 SAP systems, thus making it one of Germany’s largest SAP system
landscapes, to the private cloud in Frankfurt/Main, where the IT service provider will continue to deliver support services for
the SAP system until at least the end of 2027. The contract covers all services related to operation. In late June 2022, it was
announced that T-Systems will provide and manage digital identities for members of the Barmer health insurance provider
via ID services. T-Systems delivers this solution using the Verimi ID Wallet, which has already been approved as a secure
digital procedure by the Federal Office for Information Security. T-Systems will operate the service in its Open Sovereign
Cloud in accordance with gematik standards. The World Health Organization (WHO) is making it easier for member states to
introduce digital vaccination certificates in the future. To this end, it is setting up a gateway that enables QR codes on electronic
vaccination certificates to be checked across national borders. T-Systems has been selected as the industry partner to develop
the verification service. After Covid-19, this service is also to be used as a standard procedure for other vaccinations, such as
polio or yellow fever.

Partnership with SpaceX in the United States. [ < s0ce | [ @rnance | |n August 2022, T-Mobile US and SpaceX announced
joint plans that will enable our U.S. subsidiary to bring cell phone connectivity to its customers in parts of the United States
previously without cell tower coverage using SpaceX’s Starlink satellites. To provide this service, the two companies will create
a new network, broadcast from Starlink’s satellites using T-Mobile US’ mid-band spectrum nationwide. With this technology,
T-Mobile US is planning to give customers text message coverage, including MMS and participating messaging apps,
practically everywhere in the United States, Puerto Rico, and territorial waters. As a next step, the companies plan to pursue
the addition of voice and data coverage.

Partnerships with Google expanded. In partnership with Google, we plan to define a joint roadmap for the telecommunications
industry bringing the power of the cloud closer to mobile and connected devices. Telecommunications service providers are
reimagining their network infrastructures and creating new cloud-based models for network deployment. Partnering with
companies like Google Cloud enables us to create more secure, reliable, and scalable networks. As early as in January 2022,
we announced an expanded partnership with Google in three key areas: enhanced mobile messaging services for businesses
through Telekom RCS Business Messaging powered by Google and Jibe Cloud; the new Sovereign Cloud for Germany will be
available to German cloud customers ahead of schedule; and MagentaTV One powered by Android TV OS is now available in
Germany and expanding to additional European markets.

T-Mobile US and DISH extend partnership. On June 21,2022, our U.S. subsidiary and the mobile provider DISH signed an
amendment to the 2020 Master Network Service Agreement. The 2020 Master Agreement gives customers of DISH, including
prepaid customers, access to T-Mobile US’ national 5G network. Among other changes, the amendment incorporates modified
pricing and enhanced roaming solutions for DISH’s SG customers.

Partnership with Zoom strengthened. At the end of February 2022, we announced the strengthening of our partnership with
Zoom Video Communications. The solution Zoom X powered by Telekom developed jointly for the German market, combines
Zoom’s video communication platform with our network. The new platform is aimed at business, corporate, and public sector
customers. In addition to a secure network, we are responsible for contracting, order processing, nationwide support, and
billing services. Zoom X has been available exclusively from us since mid-2022.
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Products, rate plans, and services

Market launch of the T Phone. [s0610 ] [ @rnance ] On October 5, 2022, we launched the brand-new 5G-capable T Phone
in nine European countries. The T Phone was developed in collaboration with Google and builds on the successful REVVL line
available in the United States. Our goal is to open up access for all to fast connected technology by offering low-cost handsets
and additional rate plan bundles. The T Phone has been available in Germany since the start of 2023.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

New MagentaTV plan. We launched our new MegaStream TV plan on October 5, 2022. For EUR 26 a month, subscribers can
enjoy content from Disney+, Netflix Standard, and RTL+ Premium. The plan also includes more than 100 HD TV channels,
access to the MagentalV Megathek media library, SO hours of cloud storage, and much more besides. MegaStream can be used
on five devices and up to three users can stream content simultaneously.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

IT made easy for small U.S. businesses. T-Mobile US is joining forces with Apple to introduce a plan especially for small
businesses. Available since July 21, 2022, Business Unlimited Ultimate+ for iPhone is the first and only wireless plan that makes
IT easy for small businesses, pairing Apple Business Essentials with AppleCare+ for Business Essentials.

New smartphone from Nothing exclusive to Deutsche Telekom. The innovative Phone (1) by British manufacturer Nothing
hit the market on July 21,2022 with Deutsche Telekom being the sole network provider in Germany to offer the device. The
Phone (1) is impressive with its innovative design and use of the latest technology, and comes delivered with the new Nothing
OS based on Android.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

New MagentaMobil rate plans. We launched a new rate plan for mobile customers starting July 1, 2022, offering more data
volume and extra price advantages thanks to additional SIM cards: the MagentaMobil PlusKarte. The main card determines how
much data volume each additional card gets. The second card generally costs only EUR 19.95 per month and the monthly price
for each card on top of that is EUR 9.95. What’s new is that all MagentaMobil PlusKarte SIM cards added to the rate plan are
automatically given the same data volume as the main card.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

Voice over 5G for Portland and Salt Lake City. T-Mobile US launched Voice over 5G (Voice over New Radio, VONR) in the two
U.S. cities in June 2022. VoNR services are routed via a standalone SG network not anchored to LTE, which means it will be
capable of delivering a new level of performance with fast speeds, real-time responsiveness, and full connectivity. Devices can
now stay always connected to SG, supporting future applications that require a seamless SG connection.

Extension of dial around and preselection. Consumers in Germany can continue to make use of dial around access codes
and carrier preselect services offering lower-cost call rates. Telekom Deutschland and VATM, an association representing
telecommunications and multimedia companies active in the German market, have agreed to continue enabling these services
through the end of 2024. The partners have extended the existing voluntary agreement for a further two years.

New loT solution. In partnership with T-Mobile US, we presented T loT in the first quarter of 2022. We have combined our
network expertise with that of our U.S. subsidiary to offer customers seamless connectivity in over 380 networks in
180 countries and regions worldwide. On top of this, loT applications are easy to manage, since T loT provides direct access to
major platforms, services, and to customer support.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

Awards [ 250G 16 | [ RELATIONSHIPS |

In the reporting year we once again received numerous accolades for our networks, our products and service, our HR work and
CR reporting, and our innovations. The illustration below shows a selection of the awards received.
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B Brand Finance Global 500

Brand Finance lists Deutsche Telekom as
the most valuable telecommunications
brand in Europe. With a brand value of
USD 60.2 billion, Deutsche Telekom is one
of the world’s top 20 brands.

Corporate Equality Index 2022

T-Mobile US scores 100 % in the Human
Rights Campaign Corporate Equality Index,
making it one of the best employers for
members of the LGBTQ+ community.

Kurier seal of quality “Sustainable
Company 2022”

For the second time in a row, Magenta
Telekom in Austria wins the award for
extraordinary activities in the areas of
climate protection and social and
economic responsibility.

BAGSO Digital Pact for Old Age

BAGSO, the German Association of Senior
Citizens’ Organizations, singles out
Deutsche Telekom’s Digital Home Service
as an innovative service that provides
exemplary support to older citizens on their
path to digitalization.

TOP employer in 2022

T-Mobile Czech Republic takes the #1 spot
in the national study to find the telecom-
munications sector’s best employer.

B Top Supplier Retail Award 2022

For the fourth time in succession,
T-Systems was named Top Supplier Retail
by EHI Retail Institute in the Best Enterprise
Solution category. The prize is awarded for
an innovative mixed reality solution.

| Chip mobile network test 2022
The Chip magazine test of Austria’s
mobile networks rates Magenta Telekom
best in test in the categories Internet,
Telephony, and 5G, once again with a top
rating of “very good.”

m Stiftung Warentest mobile network test
Deutsche Telekom is rated best in test.
The network leads the field both in cities
and in rural areas and performs well with
LTE and 5G alike. The results show faster
speeds, lower latency, and better voice
quality.

m Connect hotline test of mobile providers
2022
Deutsche Telekom and Magenta Telekom
once again win the hotline test of mobile
providers. We are the only network opera-
torin Germany and Austria to receive an
overall verdict of “very good.”

m Connect B2B customer barometer 2022
Connect magazine confirms: Magenta
Telekom has the happiest business custo-
mers. Our Austrian subsidiary takes the
#1spot in the B2B customer barometer.

B Connect readers’ choice 2022

Connect readers vote Deutsche Telekom
#1in four categories: Mobile Network
Operator, Network Operator Prepaid Cards,
Fixed-Network Operator, and IPTV Services.

m European Climate Leaders 2022

The Financial Times includes our Croatian
subsidiary Hrvatski Telekom on its list of
climate leaders in Europe.

M Chip fixed-network comparative test 2022
Chip magazine rates Deutsche Telekom’s
fixed network Germany's best based on
tests of download/upload speeds, latency,
and more.

B Top100 Most Valuable Global Brands
The BrandZ study once again names
Deutsche Telekom as the second most
valuable German brand worldwide with
avalue of USD 64.6 billion.

| oV

| Umlaut’s best in test
The independent consulting company
rates Hrvatski Telekom’s Croatian mobile
and fixed networks as best in test.

B Leading Employer 2022
The award puts Magenta Telekom in the
top 1% of employers in Austria.

W Microsoft Azure Expert Managed Service
Provider (MSP)

T-Systems is a recognized Microsoft
Azure Expert MSP. Key criteria for the
recognition are global experience,
high-quality customer solutions, security,
reliable operation, infrastructure, and
employees.

B Employer Branding Excellence Awards
2022
The Employer Branding Summit in Poland
awards first prize for the best employer
branding strategy to T-Mobile Polska.

| California Diversity Award 2022
T-Mobile US is recognized for its support
of underserved diverse communities with
the California Diversity Award 2022.

m Connect fixed-network test 2022
Deutsche Telekom wins connect maga-
zine's fixed-network test for the seventh
time with an overall verdict of “very good.”
Magenta Telekom wins in Austria for its
“outstanding” internet services.

B Ookla® Speedtest & Umlaut Audit Report
Tests by the two market analysts show
that T-Mobile US has the U.S! fastest and
most reliable SG mobile network with the
most stable speeds and highest
availability.

W 2022 Inclusion Awards

Disability:IN recognizes T-Mobile US as
Employer of the Year for its exemplary
policies, strategies, and initiatives to
promote inclusiveness for people with
disabilities in the workplace, marketplace,
and supply chain.

W AWS Security Competency Partner
T-Systems achieves an Identity and
Access management distinction in the
Amazon Web Services (AWS) Security
Competency.

| J.D. Power Customer Care Study 2022
T-Mobile US takes the top spot in
customer care among mobile network
operators in the United States for the
10th consecutive time in the study by the
analysts at J.D. Power.

W Rated “best in test” by Ookla® Speed-
test & Umlaut

Our subsidiary Cosmote’s mobile network
is once again rated Greece's fastest.
Cosmote’s mobile internet and voice
telephony is certified as “best in test” for
the eighth time in succession.

\ Q3

| Investors’ Darling 2022

Manager Magazin votes Deutsche
Telekom best for financial communica-
tion with the #1 spot in its overall ranking
of DAX, MDAX, and SDAX companies.

| AV-Test certificate

Following security testing by the indepen-
dent IT experts at AV-Test, the Magenta
Zuhause app and the Magenta
SmartHome solution are awarded the
Tested Smart Home Product certificate.

m Computer Bild “Der Goldene Computer”
Readers of Computer Bild magazine rate
Deutsche Telekom’s 5G network #1
among the network operators in the
2022 readers’ choice awards.

m PC Magazin’s broadband benchmark test
2022

PC Magazin tested the speed, data rates,
latency, and stability of internet access.
The trade magazine ranks Magenta
Telekom best in class in Austria for the
fourth time in succession.

B Connect mobile shop test 2022
Connect magazine has tested the quality
in shops across the DACH (Germany,
Austria, Switzerland) region and rates
Deutsche Telekom best in test with an
overall verdict of “very good.” Six shops
receive an individual verdict of
“outstanding.”

m Top 25 IT service providers
Automotivel T magazine ranks T-Systems
Germany’s largest IT service provider in
the automotive industry for the 13th time
inarow.

W Health & Safety Awards 2022
OTE in Greece wins the Health & Safety
Award in three categories: Health & Well-
ness Initiatives, Telecommunications, and
Action Plan/Behavioral Risk Initiative.

m Ookla® Speedtest Award™
Hrvatski Telekom wins for the fourth time
in succession and has Croatia’s fastest
mobile network with the best Speed
Score™.

W Imtest network test 2022
Deutsche Telekom’s mobile network is the
best in Germany according to consumer
magazine Imtest. Ours was the only
network on test to be rated “very good.”

m Germany’s best training provider 2022
Capital magazine awards 5 stars to
Deutsche Telekom as a leading training
provider for trainee courses and dual study
programs.

m Tier lll certification
T-Systems receives Uptime Institute’s
Tier Il Certification of Design Documents
for the data center in Biere.

m Connect mobile-network test 2023
Connect magazine rates Deutsche
Telekom and Magenta Telekom best in
test for mobile network and 5G in their
respective countries, awarding both a top
rating of “outstanding.”

m BBGM Practice Benchmark Award 2022
Federal Occupational Health Association
(Bundesverband Betriebliches Gesund-
heitsmanagement — BBGM) recognizes
T-Systems for its #ausruhezeichen
campaign.

B HRAwards 2022

Our Greek subsidiary OTE wins the award
in five categories, including Learning &
Development, Best Change Management
Strategy/Initiative, and Most Effective
Talent Retention Initiatives.

| Q4

B Chip mobile network test 2023
Deutsche Telekom wins overall for the
13th time in succession and ranks #1in
all four test categories with a verdict of
“very good.”

B PwC Most Attractive Employer 2022
PwC ranks Magyar Telekom Hungary’s
most attractive employer in the telecom-
munications and media sector.

B HR Excellence Award 2022

Deutsche Telekom wins the prize several
times over, e.g., for its initiatives
DiscoverMINT and WeGrow in the
categories Training and Performance
Management.

B Best Employer Brand Awards Adria 2022
Our Croatian subsidiary Hrvatski Telekom
receives the award in the categories
Telecom Sector, Student Program, Event,
and CSR Activity. It is also awarded the
Grand Prix Adria and the Grand Prix Croatia.

B |eading Employer 2023
The award puts Deutsche Telekom in the
top 1% of employers in Germany.

B Ookla® Speedtest Award™ 2022
Magenta Telekom wins for the second time
in succession, and has Austria’s fastest
fixed-network internet with the best
Speed Score™.
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| Further information on awards can be found using the following links:

Brand Finance Global 500
Corporate Equality Index 2022

Kurier seal of quality “Sustainable Company 2022” (German only)
BAGSO Digital Pact for Old Age (German only)

TOP Employer 2022 (Czech only)

Top Supplier Retail Award 2022 (German only)

Chip mobile network test 2022 (German only)

Stiftung Warentest mobile network test (German only)

Connect hotline test of mobile providers 2022 GER and
AT (German only)

Connect B2B customer barometer 2022 (German only)

Connect readers’ choice 2022

European Climate Leaders 2022

Chip fixed-network comparative test 2022 (German only)
Top100 Most Valuable Global Brands
Umlaut ,,Best in test*

Leading Employer 2022 (German only)

Microsoft Azure Expert Managed Service Provider

Employer Branding Excellence Awards 2022 (Polish only)
California Diversity Award 2022

Connect fixed-network test 2022 GER and AT (German only)
Ookla® Speedtest and Umlaut Audit Report

2022 Inclusion Awards

AWS Security Competency Partner

To our shareholders

J.D. Power Customer Care Study 2022
Ookla® Speedtest and Umlaut’s “Best in test”

Investors’ Darling 2022 (German only)

AV-Test certificate

Computer Bild “Der Goldene Computer” (German only)

PC Magazin’s broadband benchmark test 2022 (German only)
Connect mobile shop test 2022 (German only)

Top 25 IT service providers
Health & Safety Awards 2022 (Greek only)

Ookla® Speedtest Award™
Imtest network test 2022 (German only)
Germany’s best training provider 2022 (German only)

Tier Il certification

Connect mobile network test 2023 GER and AT (German only)
BBGM Practice Benchmark Award 2022 (German only)

HR Awards 2022 (Greek only)

Chip Mobilfunk-Netztest 2023 (German only)

PwC Most Attractive Employer 2022 (Hungarian only)

HR Excellence Award 2022 (German only)

Best Employer Brand Awards Adria 2022

Leading Employer 2023 (German only)

Ookla® Speedtest Award™ 2022
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Introductory remarks

This report combines the management report of the Deutsche Telekom Group, comprising Deutsche Telekom AG and its
consolidated subsidiaries, and the management report of Deutsche Telekom AG.

The structure and content of the report follow the internal management approach of Deutsche Telekom AG. Since the third
quarter of 2022, the GD Towers business entity, which operates the cell tower business in Germany and Austria, assigned to
the Group Development operating segment, has been recognized in the consolidated financial statements as a discontinued
operation. However, in the combined management report we continue to include the contributions by GD Towers in the results
of operations according to the management approach.

| For information on the agreement with DigitalBridge and Brookfield on GD Towers, please refer to the section “Group organization.”

The recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC) in the amended version published in the Federal
Gazette on June 27, 2022 require information on the internal control system and the risk and opportunity management system
that go beyond the legal requirements for the management report and are therefore excluded from the substantive audit of
the management report by the independent auditor (information extraneous to the management report). This information is
included in paragraphs clearly separated from the information that has to be audited, and is designated with a footnote.

| For further information, please refer to the section “Governance and other disclosures.”

In the reporting on our corporate responsibility activities, we also explain the ways in which we contribute to achieving the
UN Sustainability Development Goals (SDGs), which have been set as part of the 2030 Agenda. To clearly highlight the
contribution our products, services, and activities make towards the individual sustainability development goals and our value
chain, we have marked the relevant passages with the respective SDG and value contribution symbols (illustrative example:
[wsocs | [ EemaNce ] This is also information extraneous to the management report and is excluded from the auditor’s
substantive audit.

| For further information on the SDGs and our value contributions, please refer to the section “Combined non-financial statement.”

In addition, our Annual Report (PDF and online) includes references and links to websites with additional information not
contained in the Annual Report. These references and links are purely of a supplementary nature and are only intended to
simplify access to this information. Please note that this information is not part of the Annual Report and is therefore also
excluded from the auditor’s substantive audit.

Group organization

Business activities

With 245 million mobile customers, 25 million fixed-network lines, and 21 million broadband customers, we are one of the
leading integrated telecommunications companies worldwide. We provide fixed-network/broadband, mobile, internet, and
internet-based TV products and services for consumers, and information and communication technology (ICT) solutions for
business and corporate customers. We have an international focus and are represented in more than S0 countries. With
206,759 employees worldwide (as of December 31, 2022), we generated revenue of EUR 114.4 billion in the 2022 financial year.
779 % of the Group’s net revenue is generated outside of Germany.

Our ambition is to become the Leading Digital Telco. Only if Deutsche Telekom is digitalized in all areas, can the success of the
last few years continue. With our footprint in Europe and the United States, we are ideally positioned for this. Our core business,
i.e., the operation and sale of networks and lines, remains the basis.

| For further information on our Leading Digital Telco vision, please refer to the section “Group strategy.”

Our mobile communications business offers mobile voice and data services to consumers and business customers; in addition,
we sell mobile devices and other hardware. We also sell mobile services to resellers and to companies that buy network services
and market them to third parties (mobile virtual network operators, or MVNOs). Our fixed-network business includes all voice
and data communications activities based on fixed-network and broadband technology. This includes the sale of terminal
equipment and other hardware, as well as the sale of services to resellers. Drawing on a global infrastructure of data centers
and networks, we operate ICT systems for multinational corporations and public-sector institutions.
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Our responsible corporate governance and business success are based on our shared corporate values and our Guiding
Principles. (i s0G8 ] [ RELATIONSHIPS ]

| For further information about our Guiding Principles, please refer to the section “Employees.”

Our identity defines our corporate purpose and describes what we at Deutsche Telekom stand for: We want to be a sustainably
growing company that not only delights its customers, creates value for its investors, and in which employees enjoy their work,
but also one that is environmentally friendly and fosters a democratic and inclusive society. Our network is fast, reliable, secure,
and should be easily accessible for everyone. In addition, it has been operated throughout the Group with electricity from
100 % renewable sources since 2021, (@ s0c 5] [ ReLATIONSHIPS ] But, we are more than just another company that provides society
with infrastructure. We want to connect people and make their lives permanently easier and more enriched. With our No Hate
Speech campaign, we are actively pushing for greater digital democracy. [ 50610 | [ RELATIONSHIPS ] This is our mission. We are a
close and trusted companion to the customer; transparent, fair, and open to dialog. We identify innovative products at an early
stage and develop them in collaboration with our partners. It is our contribution to social togetherness. Our identity reflects all
of this. We want everyone to #TAKEPART as is summarized in one short purpose statement: We won’t stop until everyone is
connected. [ %5DG16 | [ RELATIONSHIPS |

Segment structure [ socs | [ EIFNANCE |
Our financial reporting aligns with our Group strategy and is divided into five operating segments plus the Group
Headquarters & Group Services segment, each of which we describe in detail below.

Our Germany operating segment comprises all fixed-network and mobile business activities for consumers and business
customers, including separate sales entities in Germany to allow a customer-centric sales approach. As a pioneer of
digitalization, the segment offers its customers a tailored service and product portfolio that is designed to be innovative
while at the same time secure and simple. Furthermore, the security business in Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Hungary, and
Slovakia has been merged in this segment since the reporting year. Another focus is on the wholesale business to provide
telecommunications services for carriers. The bundling of customer service activities places a further focus on customer
satisfaction and quality assurance. Build-out of the mobile and fixed networks is managed by the Technology business unit in
this segment.

Our United States operating segment combines all mobile activities in the U.S. market. T-Mobile US provides service, devices
and accessories across our flagship brands. In addition, we sell devices to dealers and other third-party distributors for
resale. The positive business development has been built on the back of the Un-carrier strategy, disrupting the wireless
communications services industry. They provide wireless communications services through a variety of service plan options
to U.S. domestic customers, including plans marketed to businesses. T-Mobile US also offers a wide selection of wireless
devices, including smartphones, wearables, tablets, home broadband routers and other mobile communication devices that
are manufactured by various suppliers. In addition to their wireless communications services, they offer High Speed Internet
utilizing their nationwide 5G network. They also provide products that are complementary to our wireless communications
services, including device protection and wireline communication services. In September 2022, T-Mobile US entered into an
agreement for the sale of the Wireline Business.

Our Europe operating segment comprises all fixed-network and mobile operations of the national companies in Greece,
Hungary, Poland, the Czech Republic, Croatia, Slovakia, Austria, North Macedonia, and Montenegro. In these countries, we are
an integrated provider of telecommunications services. In Romania, we are focused on mobile activities since the sale of OTE’s
54 % stake in Telekom Romania Communications in the prior year. Besides traditional B2C fixed-network and mobile business,
most of our national companies also offer ICT solutions for business customers.

As a leading provider of IT services to businesses in German-speaking countries, our Systems Solutions operating segment
offers a focused B2B product and solution portfolio under the T-Systems brand. With its horizontal offerings for advisory, cloud
services, and digitalization solutions, T-Systems addresses the most attractive growth areas in the information technology
market. Data sovereignty and security solutions are at the core of the product options, supplemented with strategic
partnerships. Focused vertical offerings penetrate deep into the value chains of selected industries (automotive, healthcare,
public sector, and transportation). We have been implementing a comprehensive transformation program since 2018, part
of which has been to realign both our organization and our workflows, and make adjustments to our capacities. We now
have four portfolio units: Cloud Services (Public Cloud, SAP AO, Managed Infrastructure Services & Private Cloud), Digital
Solutions (including SAP SlI), Security (in close cooperation with Deutsche Telekom Security), and Advisory (with Detecon as an
integrated consulting provider). In addition, our Road User Services business unit offers road toll systems.
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Our Group Development operating segment actively manages entities, subsidiaries, and equity investments to grow their value
while giving them the entrepreneurial freedom they need to promote their continued strategic development. In this context, we
sold our subsidiary T-Mobile Netherlands on March 31, 2022. Within the segment, the GD Towers business entity comprises the
German and Austrian cell tower businesses. On July 13, 2022, we signed an agreement for the sale of 51.0 % of the shares in this
entity. The transaction was consummated on February 1, 2023. The investment management group Deutsche Telekom Capital
Partners; Comfort Charge, which is a provider of e-mobility charging infrastructure; and the Group functions of Mergers &
Acquisitions and strategic Portfolio Management are also assigned to Group Development.

Group Headquarters & Group Services comprises all Group units that cannot be allocated directly to one of the operating
segments, and also reports on our Board of Management department for Technology and Innovation. As the organization
that sets the direction and provides impetus, it defines strategic aims for the Group, ensures they are met, and becomes
directly involved in selected Group projects. Group Services provides services to the entire Group; in addition to typical services
provided by Deutsche Telekom Services Europe, such as financial accounting, human resources services, and operational
procurement, Group Services also includes placement services provided by our personnel service provider, Vivento. Vivento is
in charge of securing external employment opportunities for employees, predominantly in the public sector. Further units are
Group Supply Services (GSUS) for our real estate management and our strategic procurement, and Telekom MobilitySolutions,
which is a full-service provider for fleet management and mobility services.

Our Technology and Innovation Board of Management department unites the cross-segment technology, innovation, IT, and
security functions of our Germany, Europe, and Systems Solutions operating segments. These include Deutsche Telekom IT,
which focuses on the Group’s internal IT projects, and our central innovation unit, Product Innovation and Customer Experience
(PIC), which works closely with our operating segments to drive topics such as digitalization, big data, software-defined
networks, voicification, virtualization, and cloud services. Our Innovation Hub (IHUB) pools all of the expertise required for
future innovation projects to ensure we stay flexible and innovative. In the Technology Delivery International (TDI) unit, we
pool expertise to position ourselves as a strong partner to the technology units in our national companies and develop,
produce, operate, and scale platforms and services across borders from a single source. TDI also harmonizes the planning,
development, and operation of products, services, and platforms at the national companies in Europe, taking technological and
commercial aspects into account. Strategy & Technology Innovation (S&T!) ensures efficient and customer-centric research and
innovation with a focus on mobile and fixed-network communications. Group Security (GSC) is responsible for developing and
transforming the Group-wide security strategy.

Changes to the segment and organizational structure in 2022

New limited partners admitted to infrastructure fund DIV Il. In August and September 2022, Digital Transformation Capital
Partners admitted new investors to the investment company Digital Infrastructure Vehiclell (DIVII). As a result,
Deutsche Telekom’s share in DIV Il decreased from 66.67 % to 41.25 % and the entity was deconsolidated in the third quarter of
2022. Since the deconsolidation, the stake retained by the Group has been included in the consolidated financial statements as
an associate using the equity method.

Sale of T-Mobile Netherlands. On September 46,2021, Deutsche Telekom and Tele2 signed an agreement with
WP/AP Telecom Holdings IV, a private equity consortium advised by Apax Partners and Warburg Pincus, on the sale of our
subsidiary T-Mobile Netherlands. The transaction was consummated on March 31,2022 after obtaining the necessary
approvals from the authorities and satisfying the other closing conditions. The sale price is based on an enterprise value of
EUR 5.1 billion. The cash proceeds — based on our shareholding of 75 % — amounted to EUR 3.6 billion. In financial terms,
excluding the partial settlement of intragroup shareholder loans and other intragroup transactions, the transaction resulted
in value added of EUR 4.0 billion. The gain on deconsolidation resulting from the sale amounted to EUR 0.9 billion. Until the
transaction was closed, the entity had been assigned to the Group Development operating segment.

Increase of the stake in T-Mobile US. As announced, Deutsche Telekom used part of the cash proceeds from the sale of
T-Mobile Netherlands to further increase its stake in T-Mobile US and, on April 12,2022, acquired around 21.2 million shares in
T-Mobile US from SoftBank for a purchase price of USD 2.4 billion (EUR 2.2 billion). To this end, Deutsche Telekom exercised
a further portion of the stock options it had received from SoftBank in June 2020 to purchase shares in T-Mobile US. This
gives a weighted average price of around USD 113 per T-Mobile US share. Upon its completion, the transaction increased
Deutsche Telekom’s stake in T-Mobile US by 1.7 percentage points.

Share buy-back program at T-Mobile US. On September 8, 2022, T-Mobile US announced that its Board of Directors has
authorized a share buy-back program for up to USD 14.0 billion of the company’s common stock through September 30, 2023.
Repurchases are expected to be made from available cash on hand and proceeds of one or more debt issuances or other
borrowings, based on the company’s evaluation of market conditions and other factors. The specific timing, price, and size
of repurchases will depend on prevailing stock prices, general economic and market conditions, and other considerations. By
December 31,2022, T-Mobile US had bought back approximately 21.4 million own shares with a total volume of USD 3.0 billion
(EUR 3.0 billion) under this program.
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Joint venture GlasfaserPlus with IFM. On November 5, 2021, Deutsche Telekom had announced that IFM Global Infrastructure
Fund — advised by IFM Investors — would acquire a stake of 50 % in GlasfaserPlus, a fiber-optic build-out entity. The sale of a
50 % stake in GlasfaserPlus was consummated on February 28, 2022, after the EU Commission had approved the transaction
on January 25,2022 and the other closing conditions had been satisfied. The sale price came to EUR 0.9 billion, half of which
was paid upon completion of the transaction and the other half of which will follow in stages upon achieving certain build-
out milestones. The resulting joint venture is to build out an additional 4 million gigabit-capable FTTH lines in rural and
development areas by 2028. Following the loss of control pursuant to the IFRSs as a result of the transaction, the GlasfaserPlus
entities were deconsolidated as of February 28, 2022. The resulting gain on deconsolidation amounted to EUR 1.7 billion. Until
the transaction was closed, the entities had been assigned to the Germany operating segment. The stakes in the joint venture
are included in the consolidated financial statements under the Germany operating segment using the equity method.

Reassignment of the security business. Effective July 1, 2022, Deutsche Telekom reassigned its subsidiary Deutsche Telekom
Security and the security business in Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Hungary, and Slovakia from the Systems Solutions
operating segment to the Germany operating segment in order to maintain a consistent focus on implementing our Group
strategy pillar “Lead in business productivity.” Prior-year comparatives in both of the segments affected concerning the
development of operations, customer development, headcount development, and order entry were adjusted retrospectively.

(Expected) changes to the segment and organizational structure in 2023

Agreement with DigitalBridge and Brookfield on GD Towers. On July 13, 2022, Deutsche Telekom agreed to sell a 51.0 % stake
in GD Towers, comprising its tower assets in Germany and Austria, assigned to the Group Development operating segment, to
DigitalBridge and Brookfield. The preliminary sale price is based on an enterprise value of EUR17.5 billion. The estimated cash
proceeds from the transaction are expected to be EUR 10.7 billion. Deutsche Telekom will retain a 49.0 % stake, benefiting from
future value upside at GD Towers. Assets and the directly associated liabilities are shown as “held for sale” in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The transaction was consummated on February 1, 2023. All necessary regulatory approvals had
been duly granted and all other closing conditions met. Deutsche Telekom has largely leased back the sold passive network
infrastructure in Germany and Austria, enabling Telekom Deutschland and T-Mobile Austria to continue improving their network
leadership.

For further information on the agreement with DigitalBridge and Brookfield on the Group’s cell tower business in Germany and Austria, and on the disclosure
of GD Towers as a discontinued operation, please refer to the section “Changes in the composition of the Group and other transactions” in the consolidated
financial statements.

Agreement with Cogent to sell the U.S. wireline business. On September 6, 2022, T-Mobile US reached an agreement with
Cogent Infrastructure (Cogent) on the sale of T-Mobile US’ fiber-optic-based wireline business. Under the agreement, Cogent
will take over all shares in the entity that holds all of the assets and liabilities related to the former Sprint’s fiber-optic-based
wireline network. The sale price is USD 1 and is subject to customary adjustments laid down in the purchase agreement. In
addition, upon completion of the transaction, T-Mobile US undertakes to enter into a separate agreement on IP transit services,
according to which T-Mobile US will pay a total of USD 700 million to Cogent. The transaction is subject to regulatory approval
as well as other closing conditions. The assets and liabilities of the wireline business have been reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position as “held for sale” since September 30, 2022. The transaction is expected to be completed by
mid-2023.

Group strategy

Our vision: Leading Digital Telco[ @sb6s [ TIFNANGE |

In 2021, we adjusted our Group strategy after seven years and set ourselves a new ambition: Leading Digital Telco. And we
remain very successful on the market: Deutsche Telekom is by far the leading telecommunications company in Europe in terms
of market capitalization, revenue, and earnings (adjusted EBITDA AL) (as of December 31, 2022). Our Group continues to grow,
as confirmed by our most important financial performance indicators. We raised our full-year guidance for 2022 as many
as three times in the course of the year (in terms of adjusted EBITDA AL, free cash flow AL (before spectrum), and adjusted
earnings per share). Understanding of the strategy and support for it among the workforce remain at a record high level of
81% (pulse survey in November 2022) and in fact increased by another 2 percentage points compared with the prior year.
However, few if any industries face change on the same scale as the telecommunications industry. And digitalization is the
central catalyst for the key trends that have a long-term impact on our ecosystem:
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= Data traffic continues to grow worldwide, driven by the quickening pace of digitalization in many aspects of personal and
professional life. Correspondingly, demand for high-speed broadband — over the fixed and mobile networks — is also on the
rise. According to forecasts by Ericsson, average data use worldwide per smartphone will increase from 9.1 GB per month
in 2020 to more than 19 GB per month in 2023, while the number of fixed wireless access connections to the internet will
increase globally from 72 million in 2020 to more than 131 million in 2023.

m Digitalization is shaping demand among consumers and business customers alike: Consumers want their product and
service experiences to be fully customized to their personal needs, context-sensitive, and to work seamlessly. For business
customers, requirements are driven by the new way of working: digital, hybrid, and app-centric. They expect secure
connectivity as well as flexible service and product models that integrate easily and securely into workflows — and all from a
single source and “as a service.”

m We are seeing companies from other industries pushing onto the market with lean, software-defined production models.
Providers such as Google, Microsoft, and Amazon Web Services are expanding into the global connectivity field and
increasingly providing network functions in their cloud environments. More and more, they are positioning themselves as
vendors of connectivity services not only to telcos, but also as partners for business customers.

m CPaaS (communications platform as a service) companies offer user-friendly communications services on their own
communications platform — without having their own networks. They provide developers and business customers with
standard telecommunications services (calls, text messages) and new network functions through standardized application
programming interfaces (APIls). Network connectivity for this is guaranteed through wholesale agreements with
telecommunications companies. This shifts access to end customers from telcos to the CPaaS companies.

= Alternative network providers and technologies (e.g., satellite connectivity) are gaining in relevance and can be an
opportunity to extend terrestrial telecommunications networks (e.g., network coverage in sparsely populated areas). But
continued fragmentation in the connectivity market also brings ever-greater complexity. Especially among business
customers with international footprints, demand is growing for a one-stop shop offering global network orchestration and a
network customized to individual business cases.

m At the same time, the parallel build-out of broadband and mobile infrastructure (optical fiber, 5G) calls for
telecommunications companies to commit to high investments and find innovative approaches to implementation, for
instance by using third-party infrastructure or partnering with investors.

= Sustained global population growth, and growing resource consumption are putting a strain on available resources. It is
thus imperative that we find a sustainable, more ecological way of doing business and act with a greater focus on social
responsibility. At the same time, geopolitical tensions in consideration of the globalized world economy and the increasing
use of digital technologies are creating supply chain bottlenecks and putting guaranteed access to network components and
energy supply at risk.

= The acquisition of new skills and expertise is another vital aspect of digital transformation. The challenge here lies in quickly
building up a critical mass of digital talent. Flexible work models, global recruitment processes, and responsible corporate
action are gaining relevance.

In the Western tech-sphere, we are well positioned to implement our Leading Digital Telco strategy. No other
telecommunications company has a comparable footprint with its own networks on both sides of the Atlantic: in Europe and the
United States. We are a global enterprise with a considerable presence in Europe, European roots and values, and an extremely
strong business in the United States. Our goal is clear: we want to align ourselves long-term with the needs of our customers
and transform ourselves into a digital company to hold our own against new competitors and continue our growth course. Our
future growth is based on three pillars: “Lead in digital life & work,” “Lead in business productivity,” and “Magenta Advantage.”
Building and operating the best convergent networks remains at the core of our strategy and is an important driver for our
growth areas. We want to “build and scale the telco as a platform” and we are investing both in our network infrastructure and
in establishing cloud-based service platforms. We leverage our international footprint to generate synergies across the Group
and to carry weight alongside the global tech giants.

The two areas of operation, “Save for growth investments” and “Simplify, digitalize, accelerate & act responsibly,” support our
growth target and provide the guidelines for our actions. Our Group strategy does not aim to micromanage all local units, but to
provide a strategic framework and to utilize local strengths (networks, competitive standing). We measure the success of our
strategy on the one hand by means of specific digitalization targets: by 2024, for example, we want to increase the first time
right rate in the provision of broadband lines in Germany and Europe to at least 95 % and reduce the time to market in IT to two
months in Germany and to one month in Europe. On the other hand, success can be seen in our long-term competitiveness and
as such is reflected in the established key financial figures: Recently, at the 2021 Capital Markets Day, we set an annual growth
target (Group CAGR) of 1to 2 % for revenue and 3 to 5 % for adjusted EBITDA AL by 2024.

| For further information on our ambition levels, please refer to the section “Finance strategy.”
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Group strategy: Leading Digital Telco

Grow
Lead in digital Lead in business Magenta
life & work productivity Advantage

Best convergent networks+ Software-defined, secure, global New business models
& perfect service networks, loT & digitalization based on DT assets

Build & scale Telco as a platform
Cloud-based customer and network-service platforms
Best-in-class integrated network infrastructure — DT & partners

Save for growth investments

Simplify, digitalize, accelerate & act responsibly

Strategic areas of operation

Lead in digital life & work: Best convergent networks+ & perfect service

Our aspiration is to offer customers the best network experience, anytime, anyplace — whether at home or at work, our
network should work seamlessly and across all technologies. That’s why we market fixed-network and mobile communications
in convergent products (fixed-mobile convergence (FMC)). By the end of the reporting year, some 5.6 million customers in
Germany had opted for MagentaEins; that is around 300 thousand more than in the prior year. The national companies of
our Europe operating segment won over 790 thousand new customers for MagentaOne and similar FMC offerings in 2022. To
continue on this path of growth, we work continuously to improve our convergent portfolio. A key component for this in the
2022 financial year was also the further enhancement of our mobile offering to additionally provide mobile communications to
customers who have previously only had a fixed-network product with us. The new MagentaMobil portfolio offers larger data
volumes as well as attractive price benefits through an offer of additional cards (MagentaMobil PlusKarte). The more SIM cards
are added onto the main contract, e.g., for family members or friends, the lower the average price per person. Butitis notjustin
Europe, but also in the United States that we are offering more broadband products for the home, based on our mobile network.
In the 2022 financial year, we won 2.0 million new customers with our high-speed internet offering.

In pursuit of our goal to become the Leading Digital Telco, we want to offer more than simply the best connectivity: what
really counts for us is the network experience. For this reason we offer our customers additional services that turn our network
leadership aspiration into a first-hand experience. We reached some key milestones in this regard in the reporting year. Our
MagentaTV product has been repositioned throughout our entire European footprint to aggregate linear television, including
extensive features, with access to content from the biggest video-on-demand providers, and exclusive content. In 2022, we
further enhanced the TV experience: In Germany, for example, we were the only provider with the broadcast rights to all the
matches of the 2022 Soccer World Cup. In addition, we brought a new rate plan to market with MagentalV MegaStream,
which integrates linear television and the Megathek library with Disney+, Netflix, and RTL+. Our national companies in Europe
further rolled out the Android-based TV platform with a Deutsche Telekom-specific user interface to deliver an even more
personalized user experience (2022: Austria, Croatia, and Poland). The addition of 121 thousand TV customers in Germany and
around 112 thousand in our European subsidiaries shows that we are on the right track.

Of equally high priority for us is ensuring seamless product integration across our portfolio. To this end we launched our own
operating system HomeOS in 2021, as a “linking element” for the digital household. In the reporting year alone, we developed
12 new use cases (e.g., integration of weather and news applets, the digital voice assistant Frag Magenta, or the configuration
of smart-home routines via MagentaTV).
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Perfect customer service, supported by digitalization, continues to be another powerful lever to help set us apart from the
competition. That is why we offer our customers a huge array of service tools, such as a digital home service (phone or on-site advice
on all home network issues), our callback service, or switching advice. In addition, we place great importance on finding a quick
solution to our customers’ issues. In 2022, we increased our first-call resolution rate again, that is the customer issues we resolve
directly at the first point of contact (561 %, up +0.1 percentage points against 2021). In addition, we further developed the OneApp
platform for a digital sales and service experience in our European national companies and in Germany. The OneApp platform not
only improves the customer experience (e.g., by setting up and managing the router or monitoring internet usage behavior in the
home network via the app), it also enables us to monetize our offerings (e.g., Magenta Moments as a new section for our loyalty
program and in-app coupons, upselling of fixed-network/fiber-optic contracts). Our ratings validate our efforts in this regard, including
the Connect service tests (overall score of “very good” in the hotline and service app tests in Germany and Austria, issue 10/2022).
What’s more, according to Computer Bild (issue 24/2022), with Frag Magenta we “employ” the best digital assistant in Germany —
notjust in the telecommunications industry, but across all industries. In the United States, too, we are reaping the rewards of our focus
on customer-centricity: numerous surveys rank T-Mobile US ahead of its competitors for service quality (e.g., the J.D. Power study
“Wireless Customer Care Mobile Network Operator Performance” rated T-Mobile US the mobile carrier with the best customer service
in the United States for the 10th time in succession).

We measure customer satisfaction using the globally recognized TRI*M method. We use the results of this performance indicator to
improve our customer contact processes, and our products and services. At the same time, we determine the loyalty of our customers
towards Deutsche Telekom. The results are presented as a performance indicator, the TRI*M index, which ranges between minus
66 and plus 134 points. At the end of the reporting year, this indicator (excluding T-Mobile US) came in at 76.0 points versus an
adjusted value of 72.6 points at the start of the year (both determined on a comparable basis). For the Germany and Systems Solutions
operating segments in particular, the values achieved put us in a leading position compared to the relevant benchmark and we intend
to maintain this position in 2023. We are aiming for a slight improvement in the Europe operating segment.

Lead in business productivity: Software-defined, secure, global networks, loT & digitalization

In the reporting year, we maintained our market-leading position (in terms of revenue) as a provider of telecommunications services
for business customers in the Germany operating segment and posted growth slightly above the prior-year level. As a trusted partner,
we drive forward the digitalization of our customers based on global, secure connectivity, flexible software-based networks, and end-
to-end security solutions. And in future, these activities will increasingly be based on integrated offerings (combining fixed network,
mobile communications, and IT) and further strengthen our portfolio in the IT environment. The MagentaBusiness Collaboration
product family, for example, already combines flexible communications solutions and tools for collaborative work in a seamless overall
solution. In 2022, we introduced, among other products, the Microsoft Teams | X solution and we will further enhance our offering
going forward. However, integrated offerings also require digitalization expertise beyond connectivity (e.g., presales, integration),
since small and medium-sized enterprises in particular are increasingly looking for solutions from a single source. In the reporting
year, we continued to post organic growth in IT revenue from business customers in our Germany operating segment. In our national
companies in Europe, too, revenue with business customers remained stable, primarily on the back of a stable development in mobile
communications. The IT business, which had declined in the prior year, recorded growth in 2022. Demand for our productivity, cloud,
smart cities, and security solution portfolio continued to grow again in 2022.

Going forward, we want to remain the partner of choice for multinational corporations with cross-border connectivity needs, and
to this end are investing in robust, global fixed-network and mobile connectivity and providing a one-stop shop for connectivity
through the orchestration of our own networks and those of our partners. In 2022, we entered into a strategic partnership with the
software company Teridion, which enables us to offer our business customers secure connectivity to network their locations across
the globe. The partnership and related investment in Teridion by Deutsche Telekom underlines how important the issue of software-
based networks is for us. In the medium term, we want to respond to changing customer needs with fully cloud-based, modular
network services and dynamically adapt our networks. APIs will even make it possible in future to automatically manage individual
network parameters in real time. To this end, over the coming years we plan to radically overhaul our own network and IT landscape,
transforming it into a modular, software-defined production environment with integration capabilities for customized app and IT
landscapes.

As major topics like the Internet of Things (loT) and cybersecurity become more relevant, security and network solutions (network, IT,
and cloud computing) are beginning to merge into highly secure, end-to-end solutions. Security functions which were once purchased
separately are increasingly becoming part of the connectivity product or of security solutions, like new-generation firewalls that are
already integrated into some SD-WAN solutions, and Secure Access Service Edge (SASE) suites that deliver SD-WAN in combination
with cloud and application security from a single source. We will continue to develop the core elements of our B2B portfolio,
comprising our Multiprotocol Label Switching (MPLS) solutions and SD-WAN products, holistically, taking account of network and
security aspects. Security is an integral component of every one of our products and services (e.g., campus networks, loT) — and
that goes for every link in the communication chain: from the user via the terminal equipment, Wi-Fi/mobile communications/LAN,
through to access and corporate networks, transport networks, and data centers. “Security by Design” is our goal here — from
development and operation to management of the network services by us and our customers. In order to implement this consistently,
Deutsche Telekom reassigned its subsidiary Deutsche Telekom Security and the security business in Germany, Austria, Switzerland,

Hungary, and Slovakia from the Systems Solutions operating segment to the Germany operating segment effective July 1,2022.
[>sDG16 | [ & STRUCTURE |

42

Deutsche Telekom. The 2022 financial year.



Combined management report

The business with “traditional” IT outsourcing services for corporate customers has been in decline for the last few years
now, mainly due to intense competition on the market driven by new cloud-based services and providers. The strategy of
our Systems Solutions operating segment is to become the “leading European vertical full-service IT player.” The strategy
concentrates in particular on the DACH region, where we already lead the markets (in terms of revenue). We focus on the core
customer requirements of digitalization: advisory, cloud services, and digital solutions. For selected industries (automotive,
healthcare, public sector, and public transport), we additionally offer vertical, industry-specific solutions. The newly
established entrepreneurial set-up for the portfolio units aims to make the business scalable in an even shorter time frame and
to accelerate growth. We are also relying more and more on partnerships. In particular, we plan to build up near- and offshore
capacities.

Magenta Advantage: New business models based on DT capabilities

In our core business, we create special assets and capabilities, including, for example, more than 245 million mobile customers,
more than 8 million TV customers, and access to the largest companies in the world across industries. We call the edge we can
achieve through these assets and capabilities Magenta Advantage. Going forward, we want to use this advantage in a targeted
way to develop new, digital business models to complement our core business. For example, we would like to harness our
“digital reach” to make exclusive offers from partners available to our customers, to reward their loyalty and — where possible —
to generate additional revenue. We laid the foundations for this in 2022. We built up our network of partner companies,
incorporated them into our new app section Magenta Moments, and so far, we have released 37 exclusive partner offers (e.g.,
Disney+, GetYourGuide, Rituals) for our app users. In the future, we want to build up further capabilities for data analysis and
segmentation and continuously improve the personalization of our offers. The core of our brand promise, “Reliability, security,
and trust,” remains the same and protecting our customers’ data and privacy is our top priority. On top of this, we also use our
Magenta Advantage to invest locally in digital business models. Examples of these are the online delivery service Box and the
payment service Payzyz in Greece.

Build and scale telco as a platform [ % soco | [ & STRUCTURE ]

Our growth areas are based on our networks and our technology, which together form the core of our value creation. That is why
we are systematically building out and interlinking our fixed and mobile networks because we want to offer our customers the
fastest possible connection at top quality, anytime, anyplace. Group-wide, in 2022, we invested EUR 21 billion (not including
spectrum investment) primarily in building and operating networks, with EUR 5.7 billion of this figure spent in Germany alone.
This makes us the biggest single investor among all of our German competitors. In pursuit of outstanding quality and an even
quicker and more efficient network build-out, we are also striking out in new directions, for example, with the use of artificial
intelligence (Al) to ensure infrastructure is built out in line with demand. Integrated management improves the capacity
utilization of our infrastructure and increases efficiency in operations and maintenance.

Fiber optic-based fixed networks are the basis for integrated network experiences. We are working flat out to build our fixed-
network infrastructure with state-of-the-art optical fiber. As a consequence, we increased the number of broadband customers
in the Europe operating segment by 4.8 % compared with the end of 2022 to 6.7 million. A total of around 8.1 million households
(coverage of 32.0 %) were provided with the option by our national companies to subscribe to a direct connection to our fiber-
optic network with speeds reaching up to 1 Gbit/s. In Germany, we made fiber-optic lines (FTTH) available to around 2 million
more households and companies by the end of 2022. Looking ahead, we are set to substantially increase the pace of the fiber-
optic build-out further. By 2030, every household and every business in Germany is to have a fiber-optic line. Our aspiration is
for Telekom Deutschland to build the majority of these. By the end of 2024, we are set to make more than 10 million fiber-optic
lines available. To this end we will strengthen our team, employing 1,000 additional fiber-optic experts and fitters. In addition,
we have agreed partnerships with other companies that will contribute to our objectives (e.g., collaboration with Glasfaser
Ruhr, with the city of Minster’s public utility company Stadtwerke Miinster, and with 175 municipalities in the gigabit region
of Stuttgart). But urban centers are not the only ones to benefit from the network build-out: we also plan to cover a total of
8 million households in rural areas with optical fiber by 2030. Together with the Australian investor IFM, the fiber-optic build-
out company GlasfaserPlus is to add a further 4 million households in rural areas to this target by 2028. (#0610 ] [ STRUCTURE ]
But our competitors also need to play their part. Deutsche Telekom is building out the network on the basis of open access. The
new networks are open for use by competitors. [ %069 | [ RELATIONSHIPS |

The positive response shows that our efforts are paying off. In Germany, we took the #1 spot again in 2022 for the best fixed-
network offering (Connect, issue 08/2022) and the best fixed-network internet provider (Chip, issue 06/2022). In addition,
Magenta Telekom won best in test in Austria for its “outstanding” internet services (Connect, issue 10/2022).
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In mobile communications, we set ourselves apart from our competitors with the multi-network-test-winning quality of our
network. We operate over 100,000 mobile communications antennas across Germany with LTE coverage of 99 %. Our national
companies in Europe cover 98.2 % of the population, or around 110 million people, with LTE. With the fifth-generation mobile
communications standard (5G), we are creating a highly reliable mobile network with extremely low latency and high data
throughput. Over 80,000 antennas now transmit SG across Germany. As of the end of 2022, around 7,700 of these antennas
were using the fast SG spectrum in the 3.6 GHz band. By the end of 2022, 94.8 % of the population of Germany was already
covered by our 5SG network. By the end of 2025, 5G is set to cover 90 % of Germany, reaching 99 % of the population. As of the
end of 2022, our national companies covered 47.4 % of the population in our European footprint with SG. In the United States, at
year-end we covered 325 million people via the 600 MHz band, 263 million of whom can use Ultra Capacity SG in the 2.5 GHz
band and millimeter wave spectrum.

For this reason, we regularly come out on top in independent network tests: Our German network once again won the
“big three” network tests in 2022: by Connect (issue 01/2023 — winner for 12th time in succession), Chip (issue 01/2023),
and Computer Bild (issue 25/2022). Magenta Telekom (Austria) won the Connect mobile network test for the fifth time in
succession (issue 1/2023), receiving the top rating of “outstanding” for the fourth time in succession. In the Chip mobile
network test, Magenta Telekom won again, gaining the top rating of “very good” in the categories Internet, Telephony, and
5G. We also won awards for the mobile networks of our national companies in Greece (Ookla® Speedtest and Umlaut “Best in
Test”) and once again in Croatia (Umlaut). In the United States, we have the fastest and most reliable 5G network with the most
constant speed and greatest availability (Ookla® Speedtest, Umlaut 5G Network Performance Audit Report, Umlaut 5G network
test).

Our goal is to use the best-in-class integrated network infrastructure for our products and services. That is why we are
complementing our own infrastructure with that of strategic partners, while also considering alternative access networks (e.g.,
satellites or high-altitude platform systems, HAPS). In August 2022, for instance, T-Mobile US and SpaceX announced joint
plans that will enable our U.S. subsidiary in future to bring cell phone connectivity to its customers in parts of the United States
previously without cell tower coverage using SpaceX’s Starlink satellites. With this technology, T-Mobile US is planning to
provide coverage for text messages and participating messaging apps, practically everywhere in the United States, Puerto Rico,
and territorial waters. The next step for the two companies will be to drive forward the build-out of voice and data coverage.

The delivery of connectivity and services based on our own and our partners’ infrastructure is reliant on technology- and
domain-agnostic orchestration capabilities. These are found in a separate technical control layer above the actual
infrastructure, which allows us to manage the “network of networks.” We are modernizing our NT/IT architecture to ensure
the necessary orchestration capabilities are in place. Our focus is on leveraging the full potential of network automation,
cloudification, and disaggregation to make our production considerably faster, more flexible, and more cost-efficient.
Disaggregation, or the separation of hardware and software, makes it possible to add new suppliers. Today, around 80 to 90 %
of all suppliers in our infrastructure are large, traditional companies. Going forward, we want to take into consideration even
more smaller, innovative suppliers, enabling us to integrate innovations into our networks more quickly and flexibly and thus
also making them available to our customers.

We are adapting our production platform to meet the customer needs of the future, by building cloud-based, scalable,
modular platforms and opening up access to selected parts of these platforms to third parties (e.g., service providers and
app developers) via open interfaces (APIs). Our goal is to make connectivity, services, and data (e.g., location data, connection
conditions, and user behavior) combinable with new applications as needed. The benefits of this architecture include shorter
development cycles, faster exploitation of revenue potential, more automated and significantly more cost-effective production,
scalability across business units and borders, and a substantially better customer experience by virtue of personalized digital
interactions.

Supporting areas of operation

Save for growth investments

Future growth requires adequate investment. To this end, we are investing in our own innovativeness as well as integrating
successful new developments from outside our Company. Thanks to our cost discipline, we generate the funds we need to
finance this investment and safeguard our competitiveness. For us, the goal of becoming Leading Digital Telco also means
being the leading telecommunications provider in terms of efficiency. The digital transformation is key to further enhancing
cost efficiency throughout our entire value chain: from the customer interface, to our production processes, through to the
management of our own infrastructure and supply chains. We will therefore systematically continue on this path of cost
transformation.
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We manage our investment portfolio with the aim of enhancing value. Value orientation for us also means realizing value
when the time is right and the conditions attractive. In this context, the sale of T-Mobile Netherlands was completed in 2022.
We used part of the resulting cash inflow of EUR 3.6 billion to further increase our stake in T-Mobile US (by 1.7 percentage
points). After examining strategic options, we also signed an agreement with DigitalBridge and Brookfield in the reporting
year to sell a 51% stake in the GD Towers business entity, which operates the cell tower business in Germany and Austria in
the Group Development operating segment. Deutsche Telekom will retain a 49.0 % stake, benefiting from future value upside
at GD Towers. The transaction was consummated on February 1, 2023. We are also weighing plans to invest a portion of the
funds received to further increase our stake in T-Mobile US. This is in line with our strategic decision to increase our stake in
T-Mobile US to more than 50 % and secure the existing control over the U.S. subsidiary in the long term.

Simplify, digitalize, accelerate & act responsibly

Simplicity in our offers and in our organization makes the digital transformation of our core business easier. In this way, we
increase our implementation speed — both in the interaction with customers and in the implementation of new, strategic
initiatives. This is why we want to become simpler, more digital, and ultimately more agile.

There are two main thrusts to our pursuit of simplicity. First, we want to offer our customers intuitive products and simple rate
plans, like MagentalV MegaStream. Going forward, we want to significantly further reduce product complexity. Our ambition
is for our services to be available around the clock via a single click. Thanks to an IP migration which has been successfully
concluded, we can now remotely perform setup and maintenance work to the line in increasingly more households — depending
on the router. The technical provisioning of nine out of ten broadband lines is already successful on the first attempt. Second,
we want our internal operation to be as efficient as possible, i.e., in terms of time and costs. We are making promising progress
with the introduction of greater agility into our IT activities. For example, since 2020 we have increased the development speed
for new software or software-driven products in Germany and Europe by around 30 %. Today, our average time to release for
purely software-based adaptations is around 2.4 months in Germany (e.g., personal customer dialog for consumers, digital
order management for business customers) and around 1.4 months in Europe. We want to cut these times even further and
achieve a time-to-market of 1 month in Europe and 2 months in Germany by 2024. Above and beyond this, we will continue to
scrutinize our organization, processes, and decision-making procedures and further optimize them in future, wherever possible.

The digitalization of our core business is helping us to improve customer experience and increase our efficiency. Our sales
and service apps are now firmly established in Germany and Europe as key digital customer interfaces and we have worked
to continually add more services. Our European national companies interact with around 67 % of customers digitally via the
service apps. In Germany, the figure stands at 42 % following migration to the OneApp platform. In connection with the
migration, the collection of app-specific metrics (e.g., app penetration) was harmonized in Germany to ensure Europe-wide
comparability within the Group. We are optimistic that penetration will return to its former strength as we further expand the
functionalities of the MeinMagenta app. Another factor that plays into an outstanding and, above all, personalized experience
is a 360° view of our customers across all channels, both online and offline. Magenta View is our front-end platform for
all employees with direct customer contact, delivering all necessary customer data from a single source. At the end of the
reporting year, almost 25,000 colleagues in Germany were benefiting from Magenta View. Long term, our plan is to digitalize
virtually all value creation stages in their entirety. To this end, we are systematically expanding our expertise in innovative
technologies like artificial intelligence. Data-based analyses are already helping us to maintain our hardware more proactively,
understand customer needs better, and manage our networks more efficiently.

However, simplicity and digitalization also call for new skills and a cultural change. In 2022, we continued our specific offering
of programs focused on future issues, the Explorer Journeys. With these programs, we want to prepare as many employees as
possible for the skills that will be required in the future. Since its launch in 2020, more than 10,000 employees have registered
for courses in areas such as software development, Al, data analytics, digital marketing, and user experience (UX). With our
“youlearn” initiative — aimed at entrenching self-paced learning in our everyday working life — we continued to drive forward
our employees’ options for upgrading their skills. What is more, we provide our employees with a high-quality training service
in the form of Percipio (an intelligent learning platform also dubbed the “Netflix of learning”) and Coursera (a provider of digital
training courses offered by prestigious universities), from which more than 178,000 employees benefit. Since 2021, we have
been enabling our employees to increase their participation in the Company’s success through the share program Shares2You.
In the reporting year, 37,911 employees took advantage of the program. That our efforts are paying off is validated by our
employee satisfaction levels: The question on Mood, as before, remains at the very high level of 81 %. [_Lai spG8 ] [ % EmPLOvEES |

| For further information about our people strategy, please refer to the section “Employees.”
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In parallel, we fulfill our responsibility to society by systematically aligning our core business processes with the principle
of sustainability. We revised and further refined our sustainability strategy in the reporting year: climate protection, circular
economy, diversity and team performance, as well as digital responsibility and participation are our four key action areas. As
well as our target of making our entire value chain climate-neutral by 2040 at the latest, we want to achieve a 100 % circular
economy for terminal equipment by 2030. We have taken back over 4.5 million devices in Germany and Europe either to
refurbish or to send them directly for recycling, so that we and our customers actively help conserve resources and protect
the climate. Deutsche Telekom’s suppliers, too, are to achieve a fully circular economy for technologies, devices, and network
technology by 2030. Moreover, in 2020 we introduced a sustainability standard for our packaging, removing single-use plastics
in favor of recyclable materials and environmentally friendly colorings. All new Telekom-branded (or “T-branded”) devices and
more than two thirds of the new packaging for smartphones that we source from our suppliers meet these criteria. Since 2021,
100 % of our electricity requirements for all Group units have been met from renewable sources. We plan to become twice as
energy efficient by 2024, based on the data volume in the network in relation to the power consumed in this context. To help us
achieve this goal, we are decommissioning legacy platforms — including PSTN, migrating to more efficient technology — such
as the switch from 3G to 5G, using highly efficient data centers, and deploying Al. From a long-term perspective, we will also
achieve savings from the migration from copper to fiber-optic technology. These measures will enable us to maintain stable
power consumption in Germany and Europe through 2024, despite rapidly rising data volumes, growing numbers of active
network components, and the further densification of our networks. Above and beyond this, we are supporting a responsible
approach to digitalization. Under the motto “No hate speech,” Deutsche Telekom is supporting, for example, projects for media
literacy in society and against cyberbullying. Deutsche Telekom has taken its social responsibility seriously through various

crises: whether with technical support at the start of the coronavirus pandemic or with free SIM cards for refugees from the war
in Ukraine. [€» 50G13] [ (% ENVIRONMENT ][ SDG 16 | [@ RELATIONSHIPS ]

| For further information on our sustainability strategy, please refer to the section “Combined non-financial statement.”
Our strategy is expressed succinctly in our ambition to become the Leading Digital Telco:

= We want to be a leader in terms of digital living and working, and in the implementation of advances in productivity for our
business customers. Because only when we lead can we grow and meet the demands of our investors in the long term.

= We want to better utilize our existing assets and skills not only in our core business, but also to develop new, digital business
models (Magenta Advantage).

m The key technical driver for our growth areas is “Telco as a platform”: the best integrated network infrastructure — provided
by us and by partners — as well as cloud-based customer and network-service platforms. The basis for this is and remains our
ongoing commitment to building out the fiber-optic and 5G networks. [_# 5069 | [ STRUCTURE ]

= We promote continued growth by carefully managing our financial resources and systematically transforming the Company
to be simple, digital, and agile in every sense.

m We play a responsible and active role in society. We are a partner, not just at a societal level, but also at a political one,

and we work in the interests of ensuring the open, forward-looking development of all countries in which we are active.
[ @i SDG8 | [ RELATIONSHIPS |

Finance strategy

We announced our finance strategy for the years 2021 through 2024 at the Capital Markets Day in May 2021. Deutsche Telekom
continues to pursue an attractive and reliable finance strategy. Through 2024, we want to further raise our forecast for growth
from the past few years.

| For further information on the expected business development up to 2024, please refer to the section “Forecast.”
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At the Capital Markets Day in 2021, we communicated the following ambition levels for the period through 2024:

Free cash flow AL*® Adjusted earnings per share ROCE
billions of €° €/share® %°
CAGR*®=+30 % 1 CAGR®=+10 % 1 CAGR®=+9 % 1
>18 >1.75 >6.5
1.20 4.6

6.3

2020 2024e 2020 2024e 2020 2024e
= Main driver: Sprint transaction * Steady growth from 2021 * Increase in ROCE on both sides

in the United States of the Atlantic

Dividend: between 40 and 60 % of adjusted earnings per share

Dividend floor: € 0.60 per share

2 Before dividend payments and spectrum investment.
b Our ambition level was determined in the 2020 financial year based on the average U.S. dollar exchange rate at the time of USD 1.14.
¢ Compound annual growth rate.

We also expect revenue to increase by an average of 1to 2 % per year and adjusted EBITDA AL by an average of 3to 5 %. Based
on the results generated in 2021 and 2022, as well as our forecast for 2023, we believe we are on the right path to achieve these
targets.

Another part of our finance strategy is to achieve our target financial ratios — relative debt (ratio of net debt to adjusted EBITDA)
and equity ratio — along with a liquidity reserve that covers our maturities of the coming 24 months at least. With these clear
statements we intend to maintain our rating in a corridor from A- to BBB and safeguard undisputed access to the capital market.

There is a sustainable dividend policy for shareholders, which is subject to approval by the relevant bodies and the fulfillment
of other legal requirements. Starting from the 2021 financial year, the amount of the dividend is based on a dividend payout
ratio of 40 to 60 % of adjusted earnings per share, with a lower limit fixed at EUR 0.60 per dividend-bearing share. For the
2022 financial year, as announced in November 2022, we intend to propose a dividend of EUR 0.70 for each dividend-bearing
share. This equates to 38 % of adjusted earnings per share. As adjusted earnings per share benefited from a large number
of positive one-time effects in the reporting year in connection with the measurement of derivatives — in particular from the
forward transaction to hedge the price of acquiring shares in T-Mobile US in the future, and the stock options to purchase shares
in T-Mobile US — as well as income from the measurement of provisions as a result of the sharp rise in interest rates, we consider
our proposed dividend to be consistent with our dividend policy, which is based on the long-term sustainable earnings trend.
We thus offer our shareholders both an attractive return and planning reliability. As in previous years the dividend for the 2022
financial year will once again be paid out without deduction of capital gains tax.

We will also take share buy-backs into consideration.

Total capital expenditure is also to remain high in the next few years. The scope for investment is to be used to further
roll out our broadband infrastructure and to accelerate the transformation of the Company. In mobile communications, the
infrastructure build-out will focus on the LTE and SG standards and, in the fixed network, mainly on our accelerated fiber-optic
build-out. The finance strategy supports the transformation of our Group into the Leading Digital Telco. In order to generate
a sustainable increase in value, we intend to earn at least our cost of capital. We plan to meet this target by optimizing the
utilization of our non-current assets on the one hand, and pursuing strict cost discipline and profitable revenue growth on a
sustainable basis, on the other.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2022 financial year.
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Our finance strategy through 2024

Shareholders’ equity Leading Digital Telco - ROCE > WACC

Grow

Reliable shareholder Undisputed access
remuneration policy Lead in digital Lead in business Magenta to debt capital markets
life & work productivity Advantage
= Dividend? = Rating
A-to BBB
- f O.7O/ts.ha2r%;osr)2022 Best convergent Software-defined, New business
p?VO%' ‘m ) networks+ & secure, global networks, models based on * Net debt/adjusted EBITDA ®
® This dividend is to amount to perfect service loT & digitalization DT assets 225 to 2.75x
between 40 and 60 % of adjusted
earnings per share = Equity ratio
. 251035 %
Floorat € 0.60/share Build & scale Telco as a platform ° ?
= Buy-backs * Liquidity reserve

Cloud-based customer and network-service platforms covers maturities of coming
24 months

taken into consideration

Best-in-class integrated network infrastructure — DT & partners

Save for growth investments

Simplify, digitalize, accelerate & act responsibly

2 Subject to approval by the relevant bodies and the fulfillment of other legal requirements.
b Deviation from the target range for a short period as a result of the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint until year-end 2024.

In order to set and achieve our strategic goals more effectively, we pursue a Group-wide, value-oriented performance
management approach, which we explain in the following section.

Management of the Group

We are committed to the concept of value-oriented corporate governance. We want to strike a balance between the
contrasting expectations of our stakeholders so that sufficient funding is available for an attractive dividend, deleveraging,
responsible staff restructuring, and new investment in a positive and sustainable customer experience.

m Shareholders expect an appropriate, reliable return on their capital employed.

= Providers of debt capital expect an appropriate return and that Deutsche Telekom is able to repay its debts.

= Employees expect jobs that are secure, prospects for the future, and that any necessary staff restructuring will be done in a
responsible manner.

= “Entrepreneurs within the enterprise” expect sufficient investment funding to be able to shape Deutsche Telekom’s future
business and develop products, innovations, and services for the customer.

m Society expects us to do everything within our power to protect the environment, encourage a fair and democratic co-
existence, and shape the digital transformation in a responsible manner. (&50617 | [ RELATIONSHIPS |

Performance management system
We use a specific set of performance indicators to reliably and transparently measure success. The following tables and
information provide an overview of our key financial and non-financial performance indicators.

Financial performance indicators

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Net revenue billions of € 114.4 107.8 1001 80.5 75.7
Service revenue? billions of € 919 831 781 n.a. n.a.
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors)P billions of € 40.2 373 350 24.7 231
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) billions of € 16.2 131 12.8 9.5 8.0
Earnings per share (adjusted for special factors) € 1.83 1.22 1.20 1.04 096
ROCE % 4.5 41 4.6 51 47
Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments
and spectrum investment)b' ¢ billions of € S 8.8 6.3 70 61
Cash capex (before spectrum investment) billions of € (21.0) (18.0) (17.0) (131 (12.2)
Rating (Standard & Poor’s, Fitch) BBB, BBB+ BBB, BBB+ BBB, BBB+ BBB+ BBB+
Rating (Moody’s) Baal Baal Baal Baal Baal

@ The definition of “service revenue” was not applied consistently Group-wide for the years prior to 2020.

b Comparatives for 2018 were calculated on a pro forma basis for the key performance indicators redefined as of January 1, 2019 following the introduction of
the IFRS 16 accounting standard.

¢ Before interest payments for zero-coupon bonds and before termination of forward-payer swaps at T-Mobile US (both in 2020).
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Broader definition of service revenue. Since January 1, 2022, our service revenue additionally includes certain customer charges in the
United States operating segment — primarily in order to create better comparability with T-Mobile US’ service revenue as determined
in accordance with U.S. GAAP — and other revenue of lesser significance, mainly in the United States and Systems Solutions operating
segments. This increases service revenue by EUR1.5billion in the reporting year. The prior-year comparatives were not adjusted
retrospectively.

Presentation of GD Towers according to the management approach. On July 13,2022, Deutsche Telekom reached an agreement with
DigitalBridge and Brookfield on the sale of a 51.0 % stake in GD Towers. This transaction was consummated on February 1,2023. As a
result, the GD Towers business entity has been recognized in the consolidated financial statements as a discontinued operation since the
third quarter of 2022. However, in the combined management report we continue to include the contributions by GD Towers in the results
of operations according to the management approach. The following table provides a reconciliation of the amounts recognized in the
consolidated income statement to the financial performance indicators relevant for the management approach:

millions of €
Of which: Of which: Of which: Of which: Of which: Of which:
continuing discontinued continuing discontinued continuing discontinued
2022 operations operation 2021 operations operation 2020 operations operation
Net revenue? 14,413 14,197 216 107,811 107,610 201 100,139 99,946 192
Service revenue?® 91,947 91,947 0 83,130 83,130 0 78,107 78,107 0
EBITDA 43,986 43,049 937 40,539 39,671 868 38,633 37,900 733
Depreciation of
right-of-use
assets (6,507) (6,406) (101 (5,547) (5,348) (199) (4,530) (4,375) (156)
Interest expenses
on recognized
lease liabilities (1,489) (1,452) (37) (1,099 (1,074) (25) (925) (904) (20)
EBITDA AL 35,989 35,191 798 33,893 33,249 644 33,178 32,621 557
Special factors
affecting
EBITDA AL (4,219) (4,213) (©) (3,437) (3,432) © (1,839) (1,838) @)
EBITDA AL
(adjusted for
special factors) 40,208 39,404 804 37,330 36,681 649 35,017 34,459 558
Depreciation,
amortization and
impairment losses (27,827) (27,635) (192) (27,482) (27,091) (391)  (25,829) (25,534) (295)
Profit (loss) from
operations (EBIT) 16,159 15,414 745 13,057 12,580 477 12,804 12,366 438
Profit (loss) from
financial activities (4,455) (4,437) (18) (5139) (4,953) (186) (4,128) (3,908) (220)
Profit before
income taxes 11,703 10977 727 7918 7,628 290 8,677 8,458 218
Earnings per
share (basic/
diluted) € 1.61 1.52 0.09 0.87 0.82 0.04 0.88 0.85 0.03
Adjusted
earnings per
share
(basic/diluted) € 1.83 1.72 0.10 1.22 117 0.04 1.20 117 0.03

@ The prior-year comparatives were adjusted retrospectively to take account of changes to the principal/agent policy regarding the recognition of gross and net
revenues as of the third quarter of 2022. For further information, please refer to the section “Development of business in the Group” and “Changes in
accounting policies and changes in the reporting structure” in the consolidated financial statements.

| For further information on the agreement with DigitalBridge and Brookfield on GD Towers, please refer to the section “Group organization.”

Revenue and earnings

Revenue corresponds to the value of our operating activities. Absolute revenue depends on how well we are able to sell our products and
services on the market. The development of our revenue is an essential indicator for measuring the Company’s success. New products
and services as well as additional sales activities are only successful if they increase revenue. Service revenue is the revenue that is
generated by services (i.e., revenue from fixed-network and mobile voice calls — incoming and outgoing calls — as well as data services)
plus roaming revenue, monthly basic charges and visitor revenue, as well as revenue generated from the ICT business. Service revenue is
an important indicator for the successful implementation of the growth strategy of the Group and essentially comprises high-value —i.e.,
predictable and/or recurring — revenues from Deutsche Telekom’s core activities.

The reconciliation of revenue disclosed in the consolidated financial statements to the “service revenue” financial performance indicator can be found in
the section “Development of business in the Group.”
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We measure our operating earnings performance on the basis of adjusted EBITDA AL, i.e., EBITDA adjusted for depreciation
of right-of-use assets, for interest expenses on recognized lease liabilities, and for special factors. And EBITDA is calculated
as EBIT (profit/loss from operations) before depreciation, amortization and impairment losses on intangible assets, property,
plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets. Both metrics indicate the short-term operational performance and the success of
individual business areas. Special factors have an impact on the presentation of operations, making it more difficult to compare
performance indicators with corresponding figures for prior periods. For this reason, we adjust our performance indicators to
provide transparency. Without this adjustment, statements about the future development of earnings are only possible to a
limited extent. The further inclusion of unadjusted EBIT/EBITDA AL as performance indicators means special factors are also
taken into account. This promotes a holistic view of our expenses. In addition to these absolute indicators, we also use the EBIT
and EBITDA AL margins to show how these indicators develop in relation to revenue. This makes it possible to compare the
earnings performance of profit-oriented units of different sizes.

| For the calculation of EBITDA AL, EBIT, and net profit/loss adjusted for special factors, please refer to the section “Development of business in the Group.”

Adjusted earnings per share is calculated as adjusted net profit divided by the time-weighted number of all ordinary shares
outstanding, which is determined by deducting the weighted average number of treasury shares held by Deutsche Telekom AG.

Profitability

We have incorporated sustainable growth in enterprise value into our medium-term aims and implemented it as a separate
key performance indicator (KPI) for the entire Group. Return on capital employed (ROCE) is a key performance indicator at
Group level. ROCE is the ratio of operating result after depreciation, amortization and impairment losses plus imputed taxes
(net operating profit after taxes, NOPAT) to the average value of the assets tied up in the course of the year (net operating
assets, NOA).

Our goal is to achieve or exceed the return targets imposed on us by providers of debt capital and equity on the basis of capital
market requirements. We measure return targets using the weighted average cost of capital (WACC).

NOPAT is an earnings indicator derived from the consolidated income statement, taking an imputed tax expense into
consideration. It does not include cost of capital.

NOA includes all assets that make a direct contribution to revenue generation. These include all elements on the asset side
of the consolidated statement of financial position that are essential to the rendering of services. To this is added operating
working capital, calculated from trade receivables, inventories, and trade and other payables. The figure for “other provisions”
is deducted as no return target exists for this.

Financial flexibility

Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and spectrum investment) is calculated as net cash from operating activities less
net cash outflows for investments in intangible assets (excluding goodwill) and property, plant and equipment, as well as the
principal portion of repayment of lease liabilities — excluding finance leases at T-Mobile US. Free cash flow AL is a key yardstick
for providers of debt capital and equity. It measures the potential for further developing our Company, for generating organic
growth, and for the ability to pay dividends and repay debt.

Cash capex (before spectrum investment) relates to cash outflows for investments in intangible assets (excluding goodwill)
and property, plant and equipment, which are relevant for cash outflows as a component of free cash flow.

A rating is an assessment or classification of the creditworthiness of debt securities and their issuer according to uniform
criteria. The assessment of creditworthiness by ratings agencies affects access to the capital markets and to the international
finance markets, and refinancing costs. As part of our finance policy, we have defined a target range for our ratings. We believe
that with a rating between A- and BBB (Standard & Poor’s, Fitch) or between A3 and Baa2 (Moody’s) we essentially have the
necessary entry to the capital markets to generate the required financing.
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Non-financial performance indicators

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Customer satisfaction (TRI*M index)? 76.0 73.4 72.2 67.3 67.7
Employee satisfaction
(engagement score)® 78 77 4.0 4.0 41
Energy consumption® d GWh 13,253 13,323 12,843 9,324 9,224
€Oy emissions (Scope 1and 2):© kt CO2e 233 247 2,512 1,797 2,354
Fixed-network and mobile customers
Mobile customers® millions 245.4 248.2 241.5 184.0 178.4
Fixed-network lines millions 25.3 261 274 27.5 279
Broadband customers? millions 2.4 216 217 210 20.2
Systems Solutions
Order entryh’ ! millions of € 3,952 3,876 4,564 4,740 6,776

@ Excluding T-Mobile US.
®n 2021, we changed from a scale of 1to 5 for the engagement score (previously the “commitment index”) to a scale of O to 100.
¢ Energy consumption, mainly: electricity, fuel, other fossil fuels, district heating for buildings.

9 Information for the previous years (2018 to 2020) was taken from the non-financial statements for the years in question, which were reviewed in the form of a
limited assurance engagement. At the time, this information was not part of the statutory audit of Deutsche Telekom’s combined management report and
consolidated financial statements.

€ Calculated according to the market-based method of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol.

f Including T-Mobile US wholesale customers.

9 Excluding wholesale.

" Order entry for the 2019 financial year was adjusted retrospectively in connection with the realignment of the B2B telecommunications business.

" Order entry for the 2021 financial year was adjusted retrospectively in connection with the reassignment of the security business.

We believe that satisfied customers act as multipliers for our Company’s success. As a responsible, service-oriented company,
the needs and opinions of our customers are of great importance to us, and we want them to stay with our Company in the
long term. For this reason we measure customer satisfaction in our companies using the globally recognized TRI*M method.
The results of systematic surveys are expressed by an indicator known as the TRI*M index. To underscore the significance of
customer retention/satisfaction for our operating business, the performance of Board of Management members and eligible
managers is now also being tracked and incentivized by means of the long-term variable remuneration (Long-Term Incentive
Plan). This KPI, as one of four target parameters, has been relevant for Variable Il since 2010, as well as for the Long-Term
Incentive Plan which was launched in 2015, and in which the Board of Management has participated since 2021. We take the
TRI*M indexes calculated for the operating entities (excluding T-Mobile US) as an approximation of the respective entities’
percentage of total revenue to create an aggregate TRI*M value. This allows Board members and eligible managers to benefit
from the development of customer retention/satisfaction.

| For further information on customer satisfaction, please refer to the section “Group strategy.”

Our employees want to contribute to the further development of the Company and identify with it. We want to pursue open
dialog and productive exchange with our employees. New working models and state-of-the-art communication options, as well
as regular employee surveys, help us to accomplish this. The main feedback tools which the Group uses to assess employee
satisfaction are the employee survey, carried out every two years, and the half-yearly pulse survey (excluding T-Mobile US).
In our Company, we measure the employee satisfaction performance indicator using the engagement score — derived from
the results of the last survey. [ soce | [ s evelovees | |n view of the major significance of employee satisfaction for the success
of the Company, the performance of Board of Management members and eligible managers is now also being tracked and
incentivized by means of the long-term variable remuneration (Long-Term Incentive Plan). Employee feedback, as one of four
target parameters, has been relevant for Variable Il since 2010, as well as for the Long-Term Incentive Plan which was launched
in 2015, and in which the Board of Management has participated since 2021. This allows Board of Management members and
eligible managers to benefit from the development of employee satisfaction.

| For further information about employee satisfaction, please refer to the section “Employees.”
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[©@ sne1s] [ x EnviRoNMENT | Climate change and the destruction of the environment are existential threats to the world. Companies
must therefore significantly increase their energy and resource efficiency and restrict their absolute energy consumption. This
issue is ever more relevant for providers of information and communications technology (ICT). There is a general expectation
on the ICT sector to continue building out the telecommunications network while, at the very least, keeping basic consumption
stable in the medium term or even reducing it going forward. Deutsche Telekom records environmental, social, and governance
(ESG) data and performance indicators, which are used first and foremost to calculate our Group-wide ESG KPIs, on the basis
of which we measure and manage our CR performance. Given the major significance of two ESG targets, the performance of
Board of Management members has also been tracked and incentivized by means of the annual variable remuneration since
2021. Since 2022, this has also applied for our managers (excluding T-Mobile US). The non-financial performance indicator
energy consumption is a record of the energy consumed in connection with the operation of our actual business model.
We constantly monitor progress regarding our medium-term goal to reduce energy consumption (by 2024 compared with
2020, excluding T-Mobile US), and can make adjustments where necessary. To this end, we invest in measures and programs
to conserve energy from all sources. At the same time, this goal plays into how we optimize and innovate for our future
infrastructure, and calls for the use of innovative technology components. In living up to our responsibility to conserve
resources and protect the climate, we also run various initiatives that aim to reduce the CO, emissions generated as part of
our business activities. These initiatives include the sustained use of 100 % green electricity since 2021, optimizing power
consumption in our buildings, and gradually transitioning our Group fleet vehicles from fossil fuels to zero- or low-emission
power sources. In 2022, the decision was taken to gradually transition all company cars in Germany to these power sources
starting in 2023. We measure our progress in this regard on the basis of the CO, emissions (Scope 1 and 2) non-financial
performance indicator. In the United States, we are forging ahead with the highly intensive build-out of our SG network, in
particular in rural areas. This initially drives up power consumption. T-Mobile US, like the Group as a whole, has covered 100 %
of its electricity requirements from renewable energy sources since 2021. There are strong fluctuations in T-Mobile US’ carbon
footprint owing to unforeseeable natural disasters and the associated temporary use of equipment such as diesel generators
to restore and back up damaged network infrastructure. Consideration must be given to the special national situation in
this key market, which is why the decision was taken, in respect of short-term variable remuneration in 2023, not to include
T-Mobile US in these two non-financial performance indicators. This step ensures that the right incentives are set for the Board
of Management toward the sustainable development of the business, while at the same time safeguarding the stability of
network operations. This applies equally to our executives and managers. The annual ambition for the performance indicators
“energy consumption” and “CO, emissions” will continue to be set, managed, and reported for the entire Group as before,
including a target value for T-Mobile US.

| For further information on these and other ESG KPIs, please refer to the section “Combined non-financial statement.”

As one of the leading providers of telecommunications and information technology worldwide, the development of our Group
—and thus also our financial performance indicators — is closely linked to the development of customer figures. Acquiring and
retaining customers is thus essential to the success of our Company. We have different ways of measuring the development
of our customer figures according to the business activity in our operating segments: Depending on the activities of each
segment, we measure the number of mobile customers and/or the number of broadband customers and fixed-network lines.

In our Systems Solutions operating segment, we use order entry as a non-financial performance indicator. We define and
calculate order entry as the total of all amounts resulting from customer orders received in the financial year. Order entry in the
form of long-term contracts is of great significance to the Group in order to estimate revenue potential. In other words, order
entry is an indicator that provides a high degree of planning reliability.

Performance indicators at Deutsche Telekom AG
Net income is the financial performance indicator of greatest relevance for Deutsche Telekom AG and is used to pay out the
dividend to shareholders.

Development of the economic environment and ist impact on our business activities and performance indicators

War in Ukraine. Our business activities and key performance indicators have not so far been directly affected by the war in
Ukraine. Deutsche Telekom does not own and operate mobile or voice networks in Russia or Ukraine. Neither does a stop on gas
deliveries from Russia directly impact on our network operations. Deutsche Telekom is discontinuing its developer activities in
Russia. Thanks to our active business continuity management including relocation, the impact on IT operations in particular
remained minimal. Indirect effects on Deutsche Telekom arise primarily from increased energy prices in the Europe operating
segment. The Group’s main energy costs are secured by long-term hedging transactions, especially in the United States and
Germany operating segments. We have also secured the main financing requirements there with long-term fixed interest
rates. We cannot assess with certainty the medium- and long-term effects on global economic development. But the overall
economic outlook has deteriorated significantly, in part as a result of the extensive sanctions imposed on Russia, the limitations
on trade in goods, the increased energy prices, and the general energy supply shortage.
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Coronavirus pandemic. The pandemic continues to have implications for the global economy in the reporting year. Although it
has only had a limited negative impact on the telecommunications sector so far, if the pandemic were to re-escalate, it could
lead to further supply-side shortages. Based on experience so far, we expect the coronavirus pandemic to only impact our
business activities and performance indicators to a limited extent going forward.

For further information on economic situation overall, please refer to the section “The economic environment.” For more information on global economic
developments and the associated business risks, please refer to the section “Risk and opportunity management.”

The economic environment

Macroeconomic development

Russia’s war against Ukraine slowed growth in all regions, drove up inflation, and intensified shortages in individual markets
right from the start of 2022. Extensive sanctions were imposed on Russia in response to its aggression. Dwindling gas deliveries
from Russia pushed up energy prices. High inflation has prompted the U.S. Federal Reserve, the European Central Bank, and
other central banks to take determined action to tighten monetary policy. Consumer confidence fell significantly over the
course of the reporting year. The manufacturing industry suffered supply chain disruptions and rising wholesale costs in 2022.
Repeated lockdowns in China until December 2022 as a consequence of the nation’s strict Covid strategy continued to impact
on economic activity.

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) projects a 3.4 % increase in world economic output for 2022, 1 percentage point less
than forecast in the prior year. Economic growth also slowed substantially in our core markets in 2022. In Germany, although
gross domestic product (GDP) increased by 1.8 % year-on-year, it was down 0.2 % in the fourth quarter of 2022 against the
previous quarter. A technical recession is expected for the latter part of 2022/early part of 2023. The harmonized index
of consumer prices increased by 8.7 % in 2022, with energy and food prices recording particularly notable increases. The
European Central Bank countered this development by raising its benchmark interest rates four times in 2022.

The Bitkom-ifo-Digitalindex, calculated on the basis of the business situation and expectations, declined over the course of the
reporting year but recovered towards the year-end. The current business situation of IT and telecommunications companies
was clearly positive in January 2023 at 36.4 points, demonstrating the high resilience of the digital economy in the current
crisis. In the digital sector, too, the business outlook brightened in January 2023 for the first time since summer 2022.

The U.S. economy also cooled off noticeably over the course of 2022. Growth sank from 5.9 % in 2021 to 2.0 % in 2022.
The shrinking disposable income of private households pushed down consumer demand. Higher interest rates also had a
considerable impact on spending, especially on real estate investments. The U.S. Federal Reserve raised its federal funds rate
in seven steps in 2022. Inflation calculated on the basis of the consumer price index peaked in June 2022 at 91 %, falling back
t0 6.5 % in December 2022.

The majority of the economies of our Europe operating segment recorded higher growth in 2022 than the EU area as a whole,
which recorded growth of 3.3 %. GDP growth in Greece, Poland, and Hungary stood between 4 % and é % in the reporting year.
However, due to high inflation rates and some more restrictive financing conditions, this growth slowed markedly in the second
half of 2022.

The following table shows the GDP growth rate trends and the change in harmonized consumer prices in our most important
markets.

%

Consumer

GDP estimate Consumer Consumer prices estimate

GDP for 2020 GDP for 2021 for 2022 prices for 2020 prices for 2021 for 2022

compared compared compared compared compared compared

with 2019 with 2020 with 2021 with 2019 with 2020 with 2021

Germany 3.7) 2.6 1.8 0.4 32 8.7
United States (2.8 59 20 0.8 5.3 8.7
Greece (2.0) 8.4 6.0 (1.3) 0.6 9.3
Romania 3.7 51 58 2.3 41 120
Hungary 4.5) 71 55 3.4 5.2 15.3
Poland 2.0 6.8 40 3.7 52 13.2
Czech Republic (5.5) 3.5 2.5 3.3 3.3 14.8
Croatia (8.6) 131 6.0 0.0 27 10.7
Netherlands (39 49 4.6 11 2.8 1.6
Slovakia (3.4) 3.0 19 20 2.8 124
Austria (6.5) 4.6 4.6 14 2.8 8.6

Sources: Eurostat, European Commission, IMF, national authorities. Last revised: January 31, 2023.
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Telecommunications market

Demand for high-speed broadband — over the fixed and mobile networks — remains high. According to estimates by Analysys
Mason, data traffic over the fixed network grew by 21 % worldwide in 2022 and mobile data traffic by 34 %. The coronavirus
pandemic as well as the war in Ukraine and its consequences have brought into sharp relief that resilient, high-performance
broadband infrastructure is of central importance to the economy and society.

Numerous countries have announced ambitious build-out targets for their digital infrastructure. The European Commission
published new connectivity targets under which all households in the European Union (EU) should have a gigabit-capable line
and all populated areas should be covered by 5G by 2030. At least 20 % of the funds flowing to member states from the
Recovery and Resilience Facility are earmarked for digital transition projects. In November 2022, the EU institutions agreed on
the “declaration on European digital rights and principles for the digital decade,” which provides among other things for all
players benefiting from the digital transition to make an appropriate contribution to the costs of the network infrastructure.
Further numerous initiatives at national level were launched to support the broadband build-out and the digital transformation.
In Germany, the Federal Government’s Gigabit and Digital Strategy was adopted in 2022. The Gigabit Strategy aims among
other things to improve framework conditions in order to accelerate and facilitate the network build-out.

The telecommunications industry continues to be characterized by intense competition. Consumers benefit from a greater
range of products to choose from. In the fixed network, established telecommunications companies are competing intensively
with cable network operators, city network operators, and resellers, who predominantly make use of regulated wholesale
products. Financial investors are increasingly providing money for the build-out of regional and supra-regional fiber-optic
networks. In addition, internet companies with over-the-top (OTT) communication services are also further intensifying the
competitive pressure. Moreover, three or four mobile network operators operate in each of our markets using their own network
infrastructure. On top of this, we are seeing mobile virtual network operators (MVNOs) becoming established in many markets
using the network infrastructure of traditional mobile network operators. Against this backdrop, we no longer see a justification
for the continued intense regulation of the EU’s telecommunications markets. Many analysts also feel there is a need for
regulatory realignment in the telecommunications sector.

Germany

In January 2023, the industry association Bitkom estimated that total revenue in the telecommunications industry in Germany
had increased by 1.3 % year-on-year to EUR 68.9 billion in the reporting year. This was largely due to the abatement of the
coronavirus pandemic, such that the telecommunications industry recorded growth despite the war in Ukraine. The increase
in revenue was mainly attributable to growth in telecommunications infrastructure (7.3 %) and telecommunications terminal
equipment (1.8 %), but also to a lesser extent to growth in telecommunications services (0.3 %).

According to market research company Analysys Mason, the number of broadband lines in Germany increased by 11 %
year-on-year by the end of the first half of 2022 to 38.0 million lines. High-bandwidth lines are increasingly marketed in
cable and VDSL/vectoring networks. The drive to build out modern fiber-optic networks continues: in addition to established
telecommunications companies, smaller and regional companies are increasingly active. The growing availability of high
bandwidths in Germany and the large choice of HD content and video-on-demand services are stimulating sustained customer
growth in IPTV business. Providers are recording growth in broadband revenue driven by rising customer numbers in addition
to higher revenues per customer for broadband products and triple-play bundles comprising telephony, a broadband line, and
TV service. Furthermore, the trend towards using convergent product bundles comprising fixed-network and mobile offerings
(FMC) continued, although growth was much weaker than in previous years.

According to the industry association VATM, service revenue in the German mobile communications market increased by 3.4 %
compared with 2021, driven mainly by the uninterrupted upswing in data usage, which grew by 47.4 %. As well as the additional
demand for higher-value rate plans and devices, revenues from international roaming traffic also increased owing to the rising
levels of international travel once again. Regulatory effects as well as sustained high price pressure and intense competition
offset this increase in revenue. Mobile data usage continues to increase strongly on the back of growing use of products such as
mobile video apps. The availability of 5G mobile technology also expanded rapidly in 2022. The percentage of voice and data
rate plans is rising steadily. Traditional voice and text messaging services are increasingly being replaced by free IP messaging
services like WhatsApp and social networks like Facebook. Connected products such as smartphones and tablets, as well as
other connected wearables such as watches and fitness trackers, are growing ever more popular, pushing up demand for high-
speed mobile broadband, large data volumes, and extra SIM cards in the rate plan portfolios.

Digitalization is continuing apace, and as a result there is also growing demand by the industry for more connectivity to allow
machines and production sites to be networked and to tap efficiencies in value chains. Extensive IT and cloud solutions, as well
as intelligent approaches to M2M communication (machine-to-machine), are needed in order to meet these demands.
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United States

In the United States, consumers continued to show strong demand for telecommunications services. In the third quarter
2022, residential broadband market growth was stronger than in the third quarters preceding the coronavirus pandemic,
adding approximately 625 thousand subscribers compared to between 515 and 540 thousand before the pandemic. Wireless
broadband services, too, rose, with the largest three wireless operators and Comcast and Charter adding 2.3 million postpaid
phone subscribers in the third quarter 2022, continuing the upward trends of recent quarters. Wireless demand was driven,
among other things, by strong business demand, desires for more second devices, stronger demand by younger and older
consumers and an ongoing shift from prepaid to postpaid.

To meet consumer demand, U.S. operators have continued to invest in infrastructure and network upgrades. T-Mobile US has
expanded its SG wireless network to cover 325 million people across the United States. Verizon now provides SG service in over
2,700 markets and AT&T’s SG network reaches over 285 million people nationwide. Apart from meeting consumer demand,
carriers see 5G networks as enabling enterprise opportunities given the lower latency and network slicing capability.

Wireless carriers in 2022 also invested significantly in fixed wireless broadband services in the United States. T-Mobile US
and Verizon, in particular, saw significant growth in consumer uptake in 2022, after having launched their 5SG fixed wireless
services in 2021. T-Mobile US said it had 2.6 million High Speed Internet customers at year end 2022, whereas Verizon says it
passed 1 million fixed wireless subscribers in the third quarter of 2022 and reported 379,000 fixed wireless net additions for the
fourth quarter of 2022. As of January 2023, T-Mobile US’s 5G fixed wireless home Internet service was available to more than
50 million homes. In November 2022, Verizon’s fixed wireless service was available to 40 million homes.

Competition from fixed wireless broadband as well as general demand for broadband services is prompting cable providers
to invest in their networks. Cable companies continue to perform broadband capacity upgrades, deploy small cell antennas
and expand in rural markets to capture new broadband customers. In addition, cable operators have been promoting wireless-
broadband bundles as fixed-mobile convergence is gaining traction in the U.S. consumer marketplace due to demand.

Operators are also showing strong interest in fiber buildouts. Fiber is seen by many as an effective long-term solution to
satisfy broadband demands. Fiber penetration in the U.S. is currently put around 36 % and estimated to rise to 55 % by 2025.
Deployment could be slowed, however by cost inflation, supply chain factors and a rise in interest rates. On the other hand,
fiber deployment is expected to benefit from U.S. federal government subsidies. The Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act
passed by Congress in 2021 allocates USD 65 billion to broadband buildout and adoption and foresees around USD 42 billion
for infrastructure buildout, with a focus on fiber technology.

In 2022, the U.S. Federal Communications Commission allocated additional frequencies for commercial wireless use to further
support the buildout of 5G networks. This included 100 MHz of spectrum in the 3,450 to 3,550 MHz band as well as 117.5 MHz
of spectrum in the 2.5 GHz band. No further auctions are planned at this stage.

Europe

The telecommunications markets of our segment were heavily affected by global events in the reporting year: The war in
Ukraine had a major negative impact on economic development. The associated extensive sanctions against Russia had a
knock-on effect on energy and producer prices. This resulted in sharp rises in inflation rates in these countries, leading to
customers making economies in their selection of telecommunications products. Nevertheless, demand for broadband and TV
services remained high. This is also reflected in Analysys Mason’s figures for the fixed-network business (excluding systems
solutions) for the first half of 2022: The business is growing, driven in particular by the increase in broadband business. This
offset the decline in revenues from voice telephony. Mobile business also performed better than in the prior year.

The market players in our European footprint focused their acquisition activities in the reporting year on becoming providers of
convergent product bundles comprising fixed-network and mobile services (FMC). In Greece, for example, a new convergent
competitor emerged from the United Group’s takeover of Nova and Wind. In Poland, the Iliad Group strengthened its
convergent position by taking over Play and UPC Poland. In Hungary, the ICT group 4iG made a number of acquisitions,
including that of Digi, Invitel, Antenna Hungary, and Vodafone/UPC Hungary, so as to establish itself as the second largest
convergent company in Hungary. In Croatia, Telemach acquired Tele2 and Optima, making it the third strongest company with
convergent services. In terms of the acquisition of spectrum licenses, there was only limited activity on the markets in the
reporting year. However, the activities of the cell tower businesses picked up pace.
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Convergent product bundles are now established in our markets and consistently post high growth rates. According to Analysys
Mason, the number of FMC customers and revenues continued to grow year-on-year in the first half of 2022. The further
development of existing retail offerings will allow specific target groups to be addressed, as well as innovative bundle bonuses
to be obtained, such as the Telefénica Relaunch with the inclusion of non-traditional services in Mi Movistar or MagentaOne
in our national companies. These integrated bonus packages are enjoying sustained strong growth in our national companies
and frequently address the majority of consumers, which is having a positive impact on customer satisfaction, churn rates, and
revenue growth.

In the markets of our Europe operating segment, subscription-based streaming services are now also on the rise. In addition
to Netflix and Disney+, Warner Bros. Discovery has brought another retail product to market with HBOmax. In addition,
SkyShowtime — a joint venture of Paramount Global and Comcast — has also been active in our markets since the end of 2022
or the start of 2023. The substitution potential for traditional pay TV is (still) manageable, although rising, since localization
and local content are both on the increase. This trend is being delayed in part by the development of the macroeconomic
situation. The unusually high inflation rates have led customers to reallocate or prioritize their disposable income. As a result,
consumers are showing restraint in subscribing to additional premium entertainment services. Likewise, the parallel use of
multiple on-demand services (stacking) is less widespread in these markets than, for example, in the United States or in
Western Europe. Despite this, the appeal of this business model is evidenced by the year-on-year growth: according to Analysys
Mason, revenues with streaming services in Europe and the customer base both posted strong growth as of the end of the first
half of 2022.

In the reporting year, B2B operations kept pace with changing circumstances as the coronavirus pandemic abated. After an
economically strong first half of 2022, Europe has now entered a much more challenging phase. The war in Ukraine and
its consequences as well as increased inflationary pressures have had a negative impact on all industries. Owing to their
geographic proximity to the war and their heavy dependence on gas imports from Russia, the countries of our segment are
among the most heavily affected economies. Given that Europe is on the verge of tackling the challenge of transforming
its economic model to a circular economy on the basis of a digital and green transition, the telecommunications sector will
become a strategic and important partner to enable Europe to emerge in a stronger position. Since 2021, the European markets
have adopted new networks, digital services and applications such as 5G, increasingly competition-centric broadband markets,
and cybersecurity as the basis for the digital and green transformation. More reliable SG connectivity, cloud computing, edge
computing, and artificial intelligence have resulted in growing interest from companies in secure multi-access edge computing
and private networks in order to strengthen their competitiveness and strategic autonomy.

Systems Solutions

In the IT industry in our core market of Western Europe, the volume that can be addressed by our Systems Solutions operating
segment and the T-Systems brand increased by 5.6 % in the reporting year to EUR 172 billion. Companies continue to invest in
digital solutions.

In Germany, in terms of IT services, demand has grown further for public cloud services and cybersecurity services, as has the
importance of digitalization (including Industry 4.0). The security market in Western Europe addressed by T-Systems grew by
10.7 % in 2022. The health sector also developed positively, posting double-digit growth rates in areas including telehealth and
the healthcare cloud in Germany. By contrast, growth in demand slowed in the market segments for traditional infrastructure,
project business, and SAP services.

Competitive and price pressure persisted in all submarkets of our Systems Solutions operating segment. This was due on
the one hand to competitors from traditional IT services business, such as IBM, Atos, and Capgemini, and on the other to
cloud providers such as Amazon Web Services, Microsoft Azure, and Google Cloud. Prices were eroded further by providers of
services that are delivered primarily offshore (e.g., Tata Consultancy Services, Infosys, and Wipro). In addition, the effects of the
war in Ukraine had an impact on business, for example due to increased raw material prices and high levels of inflation.

Group Development
The sale of T-Mobile Netherlands was consummated on March 31, 2022. The environment of our Group Development operating
segment is therefore dominated by the markets served by our companies Deutsche Funkturm (DFMG) and Magenta Telekom
Infra (MTI) in Austria.

DFMG is the biggest provider of passive wireless infrastructure for mobile communications and broadcasting in Germany. The
market also saw increased demand for cell sites in the 2022 financial year, due on the one hand to the fact that network
operators plan to close gaps in coverage, and on the other to the fact that demand for mobile data services is growing, which
calls for a further increase in the density of mobile networks.
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MTl is the second-largest provider of passive wireless infrastructure for mobile communications and broadcasting in Austria.
The densification of the Austrian market continued throughout 2022, driven by rising demand for mobile data services and the
fulfillment of coverage obligations by the network providers.

Major regulatory decisions

Our business activities are largely subject to national, European, and U.S. regulation, which is associated with extensive powers
to intervene in our product design and pricing, particularly in Europe. We were still subject to extensive regulation in our mobile
and fixed-network businesses in 2022.

Regulation

European roaming regulation. July 1, 2022 marked the entry into force of the new Roaming Regulation for the European Union,
which expands and extends the existing Roaming Regulation until 2032. The Roam like at Home principle introduced in 2017,
initially for a period of five years, which allows consumers to make calls at domestic terms and conditions and use data volumes
within the European Union, will now apply for a further ten years. New rules were also added on transparency, and the new
regulation will ensure that the quality of roaming services is not lower than mobile services at home. New, lower price caps
through 2031 were set for inter-operator tariffs for corresponding wholesale services, to be re-examined in 2024/2025. Steps
to tighten regulation on voice calling and text messaging (SMS) between EU member states that had been discussed earlier
were not included in the final regulation.

Approval of rates for copper-based wholesale services in Germany for 10 years. The Bundesnetzagentur published its final
ruling on June 28, 2022, setting out the rates for unbundled local loop lines (ULLs) for the period from July 2022 to June 2032,
for the first time for a period of 10 years. Starting July 1, 2022, a rate of EUR 10.65/month applies for the (longer) copper line
section between the end customer and the main distribution frame in the Telekom building and of EUR 6.92/month for the
(shorter) copper line section between the end customer and the cable distribution box on the street. These rates are to increase
by 4 % as of July 1, 2027 to EUR 11.08/month and EUR 7.20/month, respectively.

Bundesnetzagentur’s decision on access regulation including FTTB/H network access. On July 21,2022, the
Bundesnetzagentur published its decision on the future regulation of access to Deutsche Telekom’s copper and fiber-optic
network. The decision was preceded by consultations held at national and international level. Existing regulation of FTTB/H
networks will be eased, by putting an end to “ex ante” and access regulation in the future. Non-discriminatory access will
instead be secured under the Equivalence of Input (Eol) principle enshrined in the new Telecommunications Act
(Telekommunikationsgesetz — TKG). Under the new system, wholesalers would have access to the same material and human
resources as Deutsche Telekom’s sales teams. The Bundesnetzagentur will further abolish the traditional “ex ante” regulation
of layer 2 (VDSL) products and tie charges to a notification obligation. The commitment agreements agreed through the end
of 2031 have been examined in more detail and have passed the replicability test. The decision also includes the requirement
for Deutsche Telekom to grant access to ducts and poles. The specific access conditions will be determined in subsequent
proceedings.

Adoption of the Federal Government’s Digital Strategy. On August 31,2022, the Federal Cabinet of Germany adopted the
Federal Government’s Digital Strategy 2025. The strategy brings together the key policy areas for the cross-cutting topic of
digitalization and prioritizes the implementation of projects that are expected to unlock the greatest potential when it comes to
advancing digitalization. One of its goals is to digitalize all public and healthcare services by 2025. A modern legal framework
is also planned, which will support the development of the data economy and improve the use of data through connected
virtual data rooms. The Gigabit Strategy adopted on July 13, 2022 plays a central role, promising greater speeds and improved
framework conditions for building out the networks. The aim is to achieve nationwide coverage with fiber to the home (FTTH)
and the latest-generation mobile communications standard by 2030. Specific action includes the introduction of expedited
approval processes, the more widespread use of alternative cable-laying technologies, and the creation of a central information
database (Gigabit-Grundbuch) that will improve transparency on the availability of infrastructure that can be shared. The
federal states and municipalities play a key role in the implementation of these measures. A new Advisory Board for the Digital
Strategy of Germany has been set up to provide monitoring and support. With the expertise of the Advisory Board and with the
help of a database, the 135 targets of the Digital Strategy are to be continuously assessed in terms of progress and the need
for change. The Federal Government has also announced an international digitalization strategy, which is expected in the next
year.

Ongoing court case on the approval under merger control law for the joint venture Glasfaser NordWest. Telekom Deutschland
and EWE founded the joint venture Glasfaser NordWest in 2020. The aim of the joint venture is to provide up to 1.5 million
households and business locations with fast internet. On September 22, 2021, Disseldorf Higher Regional Court overturned
the approval granted by the Federal Cartel Office (Bundeskartellamt) under merger control law. The Bundeskartellamt, EWE,
and Telekom Deutschland have each lodged a complaint against the decision of the Diisseldorf Higher Regional Court to not
allow an appeal. The Federal Court of Justice has not yet ruled on these complaints. If the Diisseldorf Higher Regional Court’s
decision becomes final, the case will be referred back to the Bundeskartellamt for a new decision on approval and any further
conditions. The joint venture can continue building out FTTH until the Bundeskartellamt decides otherwise.
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Spectrum

In the United States, the assignment phase of Auction 110 ended on January 4, 2022. In this auction, the U.S. Federal
Communications Commission (FCC) allocated a total of 100 MHz in the 3,450to 3,550 MHz band. T-Mobile US paid
USD 2.9 billion (EUR 2.6 billion) to secure itself a total of 199 licenses. The bidding phase of FCC Auction 108 in the United
States ended on August 29, 2022, whereupon T-Mobile US was awarded a further 7,000 2.5 GHz licenses for which it paid
a total of around USD 0.3 billion (EUR 0.3 billion). The U.S. Federal Communications Commission has not yet granted the
licenses acquired at the auction. In the first quarter of 2022, OTE successfully participated in the auction for frequencies in
the 430 MHz band in Greece, securing spectrum for around EUR 1.2 million. In Slovakia, the 3.x GHz auction was brought to
a successful conclusion in May 2022, with Slovak Telekom securing 100 MHz for EUR 16 million. The four established mobile
network operators agreed to a reshuffling of the 1,800 MHz band, which means they can each now use 2 x 20 MHz blocks
of contiguous spectrum. In connection with the reshuffle, the spectrum licenses were extended for 15 years for a fee of
EUR 8.9 million per network operator. In Poland, the extension of the 2,100 MHz licenses has been completed and the new
licenses were sent out on October 11,2022. In November 2022, Romania awarded 5SG spectrum in the 700 MHz, 1,500 MHz,
2,600 MHz, and 3,400 to 3,800 MHz bands. Telekom Romania Mobile Communications did not participate in the auction. The
usage rights in the 2,100 MHz band were also extended in the Czech Republic in December 2022.

The regulatory authority in Croatia opened the bidding phase of the multi-band auction on January 17,2023. On
December 20, 2022, the Polish regulatory authority UKE published a draft award procedure for the 3,400 to 3,800 MHz band,
kicking off the procedure, which had hitherto been held up by an ongoing legislative process, and which is now expected to be
completed in the first half of 2023. Awards for the 700/800 MHz and 26,000 MHz bands could follow in 2023. In the Czech
Republic, the procedure to extend the 900/1,800 MHz GSM license, which expires in 2024, is expected to begin in the course
of 2023. Meanwhile, in Slovakia, a procedure to extend or award spectrum in the 900 MHz and 2,100 MHz bands is expected
for 2023. In Austria and Hungary, the millimeter wave spectrum in the 26,000 MHz band is also expected to come up for award
in 2023. No further details are available at present.

In Germany, the usage rights for 800 MHz, 1,800 MHz (partial), and 2,600 MHz are due to expire at the end of 2025. The
Bundesnetzagentur still sees a considerable need for clarification on a range of issues and in September 2022 launched a
consultation on a position paper containing a proposed award concept. A final decision on this has not yet been made.

In the United States, on August 8,2022, T-Mobile US reached agreements with Channel 51 License and LB License on the
acquisition of licenses in the 600 MHz spectrum for an aggregate purchase price of USD 3.5 billion (EUR 3.4 billion). The
agreements are subject to approvals by the regulatory authorities and certain other customary closing conditions. The
transactions are expected to be completed between mid and late 2023.

The following table provides an overview of the main ongoing and planned spectrum awards and auctions as well as license
extensions. It also indicates spectrum to be awarded in the near future in various countries.

Main spectrum awards

Expected Expected

start of end of

award award Frequency ranges

procedure procedure (MH2z) Planned award procedures Updated information

Croatia Started Q22023 800/900/1,800/ Auction (SMRA?) Unsold residual spectrum in the
2,100/2,600 3,400 to 3,800 MHz and 26,000 MHz

bands will not be included in the award
for nationwide use.

Austria Q32023 Q42023 26,000 Details thd

Poland 012023 022023 3,400 - 3,800 Auction (SMRA®), Start of procedure with consultation in

4 blocks of 80 MHz, December 2022. Bidding process
cap expected at 80 MHz expected in H12023.

Poland Q32023 Q42023 700/800 Auction or tender procedure®, Plans for all bands still unclear due to

details and timeline tbd discussions on award models,
dependency on the adoption of the
Cyber Security Act, and standstill in
700 MHz border coordination talks
with Russia.

Poland Q32023 Q42023 26,000 Details thd Regulatory authority announced plans
for award procedures in 2023 without
giving details.

Slovakia Q12023 Q22023 900/2,100 Extension or award procedures

Czech Republic 022023 042023 900/1,800 Extension procedure 900/1,800 MHz GSM license of
T-Mobile Czech Republic expires in
2024. Extension procedure expected
in 2023.

Hungary Q32023 Q42023 26,000 Details tbd Regulatory authority announced plans
for award procedures in 2023 without
giving details.

& SMRA: simultaneous (electronic) multi-round auction with ascending, parallel bids for all available frequency bands.
® Tender procedure (beauty contest auction) offering a competitive selection process for assigning scarce frequencies.
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Development of business in the Group

Statement of the Board of Management on business development in 2022
Bonn, February 14,2023

Deutsche Telekom is an anchor of stability in uncertain times: We can look back on a successful financial year in which we
continued our growth course in a challenging macroeconomic environment. Independent tests confirm that we have the best
network and the best service in many of our markets. We achieved our annual build-out targets and were therefore also able
to delight our customers. It is not by accident that Brand Finance ranks us as the most valuable brand in Europe in its brand
ranking. And our strategy of sustainable corporate governance is also paying off on the capital market: our share price rose to
more than EUR 20 at the start of 2023.

It is and remains important to us to fulfill our social responsibility — especially with offers of help and specific support for those
affected by the war in Ukraine. We also keep an eye on our ambitious climate goals. Since 2021, our customers have been
surfing on Deutsche Telekom’s green network, and our own energy consumption for all Group units has been covered entirely
by electricity from renewable energy sources. At the Group’s first Sustainability Day in October 2022, we announced further
measures, such as the decision not to order any new company vehicles with combustion engines in Germany, and the exclusive
use of sustainable packaging from 2025.

We met our key corporate targets in 2022. We closed significant transactions, completed reorganizations, and took further
steps to secure control of T-Mobile US. In the United States, we once again recorded strong growth in customer numbers,
especially in postpaid. But the high-speed internet offering was also very well received. In Europe and Germany, our integrated
offers continue to enjoy strong demand. This is also reflected in our key financials: We raised our guidance for
adjusted EBITDA AL, free cash flow AL (before spectrum), and adjusted earnings per share for the 2022 financial year several
times over the course of the year. Net revenue increased by 6.1% to EUR 114.4 billion, mainly due to exchange rate effects.
Service revenue was up 10.6 % to EUR 91.9 billion.

Adjusted EBITDA AL grew by 7.7 % to EUR 40.2 billion. The main reason for this increase is a sound operational development,
driven by revenue growth and further enhanced cost efficiency. EBIT increased by 23.8 % to EUR 16.2 billion, despite significant
negative special factors that affected it. These primarily comprised integration costs incurred in connection with the business
combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint as well as impairment losses recorded in the United States, mainly in connection with
the agreed sale of the former Sprint’s fiber-optic-based wireline business. By contrast, income from the deconsolidation of
GlasfaserPlus and T-Mobile Netherlands had a positive effect. The suspension of depreciation and amortization as a result of the
business entities T-Mobile Netherlands and GD Towers being held for sale on account of the sales agreements also increased
EBIT.

Loss from financial activities decreased thanks in part to a large number of positive effects from the measurement of derivatives
— in particular from the forward transaction to hedge the price of acquiring shares in T-Mobile US in the future, and the stock
options to purchase shares in T-Mobile US — as well as income from the measurement of provisions resulting from the sharp rise
in interest rates. By contrast, negative trends were recorded for finance costs and the share of profit/loss of associates and joint
ventures included in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method, the latter on account of an impairment
loss recognized on our stake in GlasfaserPlus. Ultimately, net profit increased significantly to EUR 8.0 billion. Adjusted net profit
increased to as much as EUR 91 billion. As a consequence, adjusted earnings per share increased to EUR 1.83.

ROCE increased by 0.4 percentage points year-on-year to 4.5 %, driven in particular by the increase in adjusted EBITDA AL.

Net debt increased from EUR 1321 billion to EUR 142.4 billion. This increase is largely attributable to the modification of the
arrangements between T-Mobile US and Crown Castle. The resulting increase in right-of-use assets and property, plant and
equipment was reflected in the increase in net debt by EUR 7.4 billion in total. But exchange rate effects and further additions
of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets also had an increasing effect. In the United States, the acquisition of spectrum, the
share buy-back program, and our increase of the stake in T-Mobile US contributed to the increase.
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The trends in the industry, in particular on the European telecommunications markets, remain challenging due to ongoing
competitive pressure and strict regulatory requirements. In order to succeed in the future, we continue to invest heavily in
the key to our success: our network infrastructure and our technology. In 2022, we made Group-wide investments (before
spectrum) of EUR 21.0 billion, EUR 3.0 billion more than in the prior year, with a focus on the parallel build-out of our broadband
and mobile infrastructure (optical fiber and 5G). Including the spectrum payments, this figure was EUR 24 billion in the
reporting year. Our free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and spectrum investment) increased by 30.2% to
EUR 11.5 billion. We are therefore a solid investment-grade company with access to the international capital markets. The rating
agency Standard & Poor’s even raised our rating outlook in April 2022, and, for the first time, our U.S. subsidiary has also had a
full investment-grade rating from all three major rating agencies since August 2022.

As communicated at our Capital Markets Day in May 2021, we want to underpin our strong starting position going forwards
with solid financial growth rates. We pursue a sustainable dividend policy for our shareholders. For the 2022 financial year, we
will propose a dividend of EUR 0.70 for each dividend-bearing share. This year, the dividend will once again be paid out without
any deduction of capital gains tax, and we expect this to be also the case in the years to come. Following a very strong year
in 2021, the stock markets showed a much weaker performance in 2022. By contrast, the T-Share closed 2022 up 14.0 %.On a
total return basis, it was up by as much as 18.6 %.

Our goal is clear: We want to become the Leading Digital Telco. To this end, we will align ourselves long-term with the needs
of our customers and systematically transform ourselves into a simple, digital, and in every way agile company to hold our
own against the competition and continue our growth course. The aim of building and operating the best convergent networks
remains at the core of our strategy and is an important driver for our growth areas. Deutsche Telekom will not rest on its laurels,
we will remain ready and willing to change. And we will not waver: we remain an anchor of stability.

Notes on the management approach

Presentation of GD Towers. On July 13,2022, Deutsche Telekom reached an agreement with DigitalBridge and Brookfield
on the sale of a 51.0 % stake in GD Towers, comprising its tower assets in Germany and Austria, assigned to the Group
Development operating segment. This transaction was consummated on February 1, 2023. As a result, the GD Towers business
entity has been recognized in the consolidated financial statements as a discontinued operation since the third quarter of
2022. However, in the combined management report we continue to include the contributions by GD Towers in the results of
operations according to the management approach.

For further information on the agreement with DigitalBridge and Brookfield on GD Towers, and the presentation of GD Towers according to the management
approach, please refer to the sections “Group organization” and “Management of the Group.”

Gross vs. net recognition of revenues — change in the principal/agent consideration. In light of the IFRS Interpretations
Committee’s agenda decision published in May 2022 on transactions involving the commercial resale of software,
Deutsche Telekom has implemented changes to its accounting practices with respect to the recognition of gross vs. net
revenues, effective the start of the third quarter of 2022. For Deutsche Telekom, the question arises particularly in the case
of branded digital products (e.g., streaming services, software licenses, cloud-based software as a service) provided by and
purchased from third parties and sold to customers as part of Deutsche Telekom’s product portfolio. In considering the change
in policy, Deutsche Telekom determines that it only acts as a principal and thus must recognize revenues on a gross basis if
the customer does not enter into any contractual relationship with the third-party supplier, Deutsche Telekom bears primary
responsibility for product acceptance and customer support, and is in a position to set the price for the customer. In contrast
to its previous accounting practice, the application of the new policy results in a decline both in revenues and in goods
and services purchased of EUR 1.3 billion in each case for 2022, and of EUR 1.0 billion in each case for 2021. The prior-year
comparatives for revenue and order entry were adjusted with retrospective effect.

Reassignment of the security business. Effective July 1, 2022, Deutsche Telekom reassigned its subsidiary Deutsche Telekom
Security and the security business in Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Hungary, and Slovakia from the Systems Solutions
operating segment to the Germany operating segment in order to maintain a consistent focus on implementing our Group
strategy pillar “Lead in business productivity.” Prior-year comparatives in both of the segments affected concerning the
development of operations, customer development, headcount development, and order entry were adjusted retrospectively.

Comparison of the Group’s expectations with actual figures

In the 2021 Annual Report, we outlined expectations for the 2022 financial year for our financial and non-financial key
performance indicators anchored in our management system. The following tables summarize the pro forma figures for 2021,
the results expected for the reporting year, and the actual results achieved in 2022. The performance indicators that we also
forecast in the 2021 Annual Report and their development are presented in the individual sections.
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Comparison of the expected financial key performance indicators with actual figures

Pro forma Original Expectations
figures for expectations for revised during Results in
2021 20222 20222 2022
Net revenue billions of € 106.5 stable trend 114.4
Service revenue billions of € 821 slight increase 919
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors)b billions of € 36.5 around 36.5 more than 37.0 40.2
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) billions of € 12.5 strong increase 16.2
Earnings per share (adjusted for special factors)b’ ¢ € 1.22 slight increase more than 1.50 1.83
ROCE® % 41 slight increase 4.5
Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments more than
and spectrum investment)b billions of € 8.4 around 10.0 10.0 11.5
Cash capex (before spectrum investment) billions of € 177 19.3 21.0
Rating (Standard & Poor’s, Fitch) BBB, BBB+ from A- to BBB BBB, BBB+
Rating (Moody’s) Baal from A3 to Baa2 Baal

& Qur 2022 guidance was determined based on a U.S. dollar exchange rate of USD 1.18.

o Contrary to the forecasts published in the 2021 combined management report (2021 Annual Report), we adjusted the guidance for 2022 for EBITDA AL
(adjusted for special factors), free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and spectrum investment), and earnings per share (adjusted for special factors)
during the course of the year (Interim Group Reports as of March 31, 2022, June 30, 2022, and September 30, 2022).

¢ Pro forma figures were not provided for these performance indicators in the 2021 Annual Report. Instead, we include here the actual figures for 2021.

The comparison shown in the table of the pro forma figures for 2021 and the expectations formulated on this basis for 2022 with
the results actually generated for 2022 is not like for like, i.e., these figures are not based on comparable exchange rates. Below
we describe the results achieved on a like-for-like basis, i.e., at comparable exchange rates and excluding the results of T-Mobile
Netherlands for the first quarter of 2022. Similarly, for the purposes of this comparison, we have not included any positive
effects from the suspension of depreciation and amortization for GD Towers due to it being recognized as a discontinued
operation.

Once again we look back on a successful financial year. We met or significantly exceeded our expectations. As expected,
our revenue trended stably in organic terms, i.e., adjusted for exchange rate effects and changes to the composition of the
Group, while service revenue grew substantially on an organic basis by 3.7 %. Adjusted EBITDA AL increased in organic terms
by 1.7 %, despite the strategic withdrawal from the terminal equipment lease business model in the United States. Even under
the premises we formulated for our guidance, i.e., excluding the results of T-Mobile Netherlands and the positive effects from
suspending depreciation and amortization for GD Towers, we still outperformed our most recently communicated guidance of
over EUR 37.0 billion. At EUR 1.83, adjusted earnings per share were significantly higher than our revised guidance of more than
EUR 1.50, due to the positive development of operations and a number of positive one-time effects. ROCE increased to 4.5 %. At
EUR 11.5 billion, free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and spectrum investment) clearly exceeded our latest guidance
of over EUR10.0 billion, even taking positive exchange rate effects into account. Cash capex (before spectrum investment),
taking the increases from exchange rate effects into account, was slightly higher than expected.
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Pro forma
figures for Expectations for Results in
2021 2022 2022

Group
Customer satisfaction (TRI*M index) 72.6 slight increase 76.0
Employee satisfaction (engagement score)? 77 stable trend 78
Energy consumption® b GWh 13,323 stable trend 13,253
CO2 emissions (Scope 1and 2)*© kt COze 247 slight decrease 233
Fixed-network and mobile customers
Germany
Mobile customers millions 53.2 increase 54.2
Fixed-network lines millions 7.5 stable trend 7.4
Retail broadband lines millions 14.5 slight increase 14.7
United States
Postpalid customers millions 87.7 increase 92.2
Prepaid customers millions 211 slight increase 214
Europe
Mobile customers millions 45.8 slight increase 473
Fixed-network lines millions 7.8 slight decrease 79
Broadband customers millions 6.4 increase 6.7
Systems Solutions
Order entry billions of € 4.2 slight increase 40

@ Pro forma figures were not provided for these performance indicators in the 2021 Annual Report. Instead, we include here the actual figures for 2021.
o Energy consumption, mainly: electricity, fuel, other fossil fuels, district heating for buildings.

¢ Calculated according to the market-based method of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol.

We are also on track with our non-financial performance indicators. In our domestic market of Germany, we recorded an
increase both for mobile communications and for broadband. In the United States operating segment, we once again recorded
strong growth in postpaid customers: the number of customers increased by a record 6.4 million, thereby exceeding our
already high expectations. Customer numbers in our Europe operating segment trended positively and above our expectations
in some areas, in particular the number of fixed-network lines and mobile customers.

Order entry in our Systems Solutions operating segment was below the figure forecast, due to the reassignment of the security
business to the Germany operating segment, which had not been accounted for in the original planning. On a like-for-like basis
with the prior year, order entry was up slightly, in line with our expectations.

Employee satisfaction remained high in 2022 at 78 points. At the end of the reporting year, customer satisfaction came in at
76.0 points compared with an adjusted baseline figure of 72.6 points at the start of the year. Following changes to the revenue
shares contributed by each country and in order to create an equivalent basis for comparing the Group’s expectations with
actual figures, we recalculated the baseline figure for 2022 on the basis of the new structures these changes entailed. The new
baseline thus diverges from the figure of 73.4 reported as of December 31, 2021. The Germany, Europe, and Systems Solutions
operating segments contributed to the very positive development with clear improvements in customer loyalty. The Group’s
energy consumption remained stable while CO, emissions declined slightly, both of which were in line with our expectations.

For further information on the trends in our main financial and non-financial performance indicators, please refer to the relevant passages in this section as
well as in the section “Development of business in the operating segments.”

Results of operations of the Group

The GD Towers business entity has been recognized in the consolidated financial statements as a discontinued operation
since the third quarter of 2022. According to the management approach, however, we continue to include the contributions
by GD Towers in the Group Development operating segment in the management-relevant financial performance indicators
explained here. For the reconciliation to the consolidated income statement, please refer to the relevant table in the section
“Management of the Group.”
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millions of €
Change

2022 2021 Change % 2020
Net revenue 114,413 107,81 6,602 61 100,139
Service revenue 91,947 83,130 8,817 10.6 78,107
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors) 40,208 37,330 2,878 77 35,017
EBITDA AL 35989 33,893 2,096 6.2 33,178
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (27,827) (27,482) (345) (1.3) (25,829)
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) 16,159 13,057 3,102 23.8 12,804
Profit (loss) from financial activities (4,455) (5139) 684 13.3 (4128)
Profit (loss) before income taxes 11,703 7918 3,785 478 8,677
Net profit (loss) 8,001 4176 3,825 91.6 4158
Net profit (loss) (adjusted for special factors) 9,081 5,862 3,219 549 5,715
Earnings per share (basic/diluted) € 1.61 0.87 0.74 851 0.88
Adjusted earnings per share (basic/diluted) € 1.83 1.22 0.61 50.0 1.20

In order to increase the informative value of the prior-year comparatives based on changes to the Company’s structure or
exchange rate effects, we also describe selected figures in organic terms, by adjusting the figures for the prior year for
exchange rate effects, changes in the composition of the Group, and other effects. The exchange rate effects were primarily
attributable to the translation of U.S. dollars to euros. Due to changes in the composition of the Group, the organic figures for
the prior year decreased in the Group Development operating segment, in connection with the sale of T-Mobile Netherlands
as of March 31,2022, and in the Europe operating segment, mainly in connection with the sale of the Romanian fixed-network
business as of September 30,2021. By contrast, the organic figures in the United States operating segment increased in
connection with the acquisition of Shentel as of July 1, 2021.

Net revenue, service revenue

In the reporting year, we generated net revenue of EUR 114.4 billion, which was 6.1 % or EUR 6.6 billion up on the prior-year
level. In organic terms, revenue remained on a par with the prior-year level, including positive net exchange rate effects of
EUR 8.4 billion, with the changes in the composition of the Group having the net reducing effect of EUR 1.8 billion. Service
revenue in the Group increased by EUR 8.8 billion or 10.6 % year-on-year to EUR 91.9 billion. In organic terms, service revenue
increased by EUR 3.3 billion or 3.7 %.

Contribution of the segments to net revenue (according to the management approach)

millions of €
Change

2022 2021 Change % 2020
Germany 24,505 24,050 455 19 23,712
United States 75,436 67,791 7,645 M3 60,702
Europe 111158 1,294 (136) 12) 1,251
Systems Solutions 3,811 3,759 52 1.4 391
Group Development 1,708 365 (1,457) (46.0) 2,883
Group Headquarters & Group Services 2,407 2,515 (108) 4.3) 2,556
Intersegment revenue (4,612) (4,763) 151 32 (4,876)
Net revenue 114,413 107,81 6,602 61 100,139
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Our United States operating segment in particular contributed to the positive revenue trend with an increase of 11.3 %, mainly
due to exchange rate effects. In organic terms, revenue declined by 1.3 % year-on-year due to lower terminal equipment
revenue, partially offset by higher service revenue. Revenue in our home market of Germany was up on the prior-year level,
increasing by 1.9 %. This was primarily driven by growth in service revenues, in both the fixed-network core business, mainly
due to broadband, and in mobile communications. In our Europe operating segment, revenue decreased by 1.2 % year-on-
year, mainly due to the sale of the Romanian fixed-network business. In organic terms, however, revenue increased by 3.9 %,
primarily attributable to the strong performance of the mobile business, especially the increase in higher-margin mobile service
revenues, increases in roaming and visitor revenues, and volume-driven increases in revenues from terminal equipment sales.
Fixed-network service revenue also developed better compared with the prior-year period. Revenue in our Systems Solutions
operating segment was up 1.4 % year-on-year; in organic terms, it was up 1.0 %. This positive development was mainly driven
by growth in the Digital Solutions, Road Charging, and Advisory portfolio units, and it more than offset the expected decline in
traditional IT infrastructure business. Revenue in our Group Development operating segment declined significantly compared
with the prior-year period, mainly due to the sale of T-Mobile Netherlands. In organic terms, however, revenue increased by
6.5 % thanks to the operational and structural growth of the GD Towers business entity.

| For further information on revenue development in our segments, please refer to the section “Development of business in the operating segments.”

| For information on the extension of the definition of service revenue, please refer to the section “Management of the Group.”

Contribution of the segments to net revenue? Breakdown of revenue by region
% %
0.7 1.5
Group Development 0.2 Europe (excluding Germany)
2.7 Group Headquarters & 0.5
Systems Solutions Group Services Other countries
96 N 209
Europe ‘ Germany 221
Germany
65.9 65.9
United States North America

& For further information, please refer to Note 38 “Segment reporting” in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

At 65.9 %, our United States operating segment again provided by far the largest contribution to net revenue of the Group, up
3.1 percentage points above the prior-year level. The proportion of net revenue generated internationally also increased from
77.0 % to 77.9 %.

Adjusted EBITDA AL, EBITDA AL

Adjusted EBITDA AL increased year-on-year by EUR 2.9 billion or 7.7 % to EUR 40.2 billion in the reporting year. In organic terms,
adjusted EBITDA AL increased by EUR 0.7 billion or 1.7 %, including positive net exchange rate effects of EUR 2.8 billion, and
with changes in the composition of the Group having a net reducing effect of EUR 0.6 billion. Adjusted core EBITDA AL, i.e.,
adjusted EBITDA AL excluding revenue from terminal equipment leases in the United States, thereby presenting operational
development undistorted by the strategic withdrawal from the terminal equipment lease business, increased by EUR 4.3 billion
or12.5 % to EUR 38.9 billion.
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Contribution of the segments to adjusted Group EBITDA AL (according to the management approach)

millions of €

Proportion of Proportion of

adjusted adjusted

Group Group

EBITDA AL EBITDA AL Change

2022 % 2021 % Change % 2020
Germany 9837 24.5 9,536 25.5 301 3.2 9197
United States 25,614 637 22,697 60.8 2917 129 20997
Europe 3964 99 4,007 10.7 43) (@0} 3,910
Systems Solutions 284 07 271 0.7 13 48 269
Group Development 964 24 1,307 3.5 (343) (26.2) 1101
Group Headquarters & Group Services (437) () (440) (1.2) 3 0.7 (429)
Reconciliation A7) ©.0) 47 (0] 30 63.8 (28)
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors) 40,208 100.0 37,330 100.0 2,878 77 35,017

The United States, Germany, and Systems Solutions operating segments made a positive contribution to the development
of adjusted EBITDA AL. In our United States operating segment, adjusted EBITDA AL increased by 12.9 %, essentially due to
exchange rate effects. In organic terms, adjusted EBITDA AL grew by 0.1% year-on-year. Adjusted core EBITDA AL increased
by EUR 4.4 billion or 21.9 % to EUR 24.3 billion. Our Germany operating segment contributed to the increase thanks to high-
value revenue growth and improved cost efficiency with 3.2 % higher adjusted EBITDA AL. In our Systems Solutions operating
segment, adjusted EBITDA AL increased by 4.8 % or, in organic terms, by 0.9 %. Efficiency effects from our transformation
program and increased revenue in our Digital Solutions and Road Charging portfolio units exceeded the decline in earnings in
the traditional IT infrastructure business. Adjusted EBITDA AL in our Europe operating segment decreased by 1.1 %. In organic
terms, however, adjusted EBITDA AL grew by 3.1 %, again making a significant positive contribution to earnings, with a positive
net margin more than sufficient to offset the higher indirect costs. Adjusted EBITDA AL in our Group Development operating
segment declined by 26.2 % year-on-year due to the sale of T-Mobile Netherlands as of March 31, 2022. In organic terms, it
increased by 26.4 %, since the GD Towers business posted consistent growth on the back of a rising number of cell tower sites
and was further strengthened by the development of the Austrian cell tower business.

EBITDA AL increased by EUR 21 billion or 6.2 % year-on-year to EUR 36.0 billion, with special factors changing from
EUR -3.4 billion to EUR -4.2 billion. Expenses incurred in connection with staff-related measures, especially in the United States
operating segment, increased by EUR 0.5 billion, and in connection with non-staff-related restructuring by EUR 0.2 billion
against the prior year. Net expenses of EUR 2.3 billion were recorded as special factors under effects of deconsolidations,
disposals and acquisitions. EUR 4.6 billion of this primarily related to expenses in connection with integration costs incurred as
a result of the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint. These expenses included in particular discounts on terminal
equipment for former Sprint customers whose devices can no longer be used in the T-Mobile US mobile network, and expenses
arising in connection with the decommissioning of the former Sprint mobile network. The latter primarily comprise additional
depreciation, amortization and impairment losses from reductions in the useful lives of leased network technology for cell sites
in the United States. In connection with the agreement to sell the fiber-optic-based wireline business, T-Mobile US recorded
expenses totaling EUR 0.7 billion in the third quarter of 2022 on account of payment obligations entered into. In addition to
the agreed sale of the wireline business, a gain of EUR 0.1 billion from the consummated sale of IP addresses of the fiber-optic-
based wireline network in the United States was recognized. Income of EUR 1.7 billion resulted from the deconsolidation of
GlasfaserPlus, EUR 0.9 billion from the sale of T-Mobile Netherlands, and another EUR 0.1 billion from the deconsolidation of
DIV 1. In the prior year, net expenses of EUR 2.5 billion had been recorded as special factors under effects of deconsolidations,
disposals and acquisitions. These expenses also primarily relate to the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint. The
impairment losses recognized as special factors amounted to EUR 0.3 billion in the reporting year and mainly related to right-
of-use assets used in connection with the former Sprint’s fiber-optic-based wireline network. Other special factors affecting
EBITDA AL amounted to EUR -0.3 billion and include net expenses (including insurance compensation) of EUR 0.4 billion in
connection with the proceedings pending in consequence of the cyberattack on T-Mobile US in August 2021, as well as
insurance compensation of EUR 0.2 billion in connection with damage sustained in the catastrophic flooding in North Rhine-
Westphalia and Rhineland-Palatinate in July 2021.

For further information on the development of (adjusted) EBITDA AL in the segments, please refer to the section “Development of business in the operating
segments.”

Profit/loss from operations (EBIT)

Group EBIT increased to EUR16.2 billion, up EUR 3.1 billion or 23.8 % against the prior-year level. This increase is due in
particular to the effects described under adjusted EBITDA AL and EBITDA AL. At EUR 27.8 billion, depreciation, amortization
and impairment losses were EUR 0.3 billion higher than in the prior year.
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Impairment losses increased by EUR 0.9 billion to EUR 1.2 billion, of which EUR 0.9 billion related to the United States operating
segment, mainly in connection with assets of the former Sprint’s fiber-optic-based fixed network. These impairment losses
arose in part in connection with the sale of the business agreed in September 2022. Further impairment losses of EUR 0.1 billion
related to the Systems Solutions operating segment and the Group Headquarters & Group Services segment. These related to
follow-up investments in connection with assets previously impaired in the 2020 and 2021 financial years. Furthermore, despite
the business outlook remaining positive, the substantial increase in the cost of capital in the reporting year prompted further
impairment losses to be recognized on non-current assets at the end of 2022. In addition, impairment losses of EUR 0.1 billion
related to the Europe operating segment in connection with non-current assets in the Romanian fixed-network business. The
national company continues to operate in the structurally challenging and highly competitive Romanian market at prices that
are low compared with other countries. In addition, high energy prices and sharp rises in interest rates had a negative impact
on the enterprise value. The impairment losses recognized in the prior year amounted to EUR 0.3 billion and related primarily
to the Systems Solutions operating segment and the Group Headquarters & Group Services segment.

By contrast, depreciation and amortization decreased by EUR 0.5 billion. In the Group Development operating segment,
depreciation and amortization were down on the prior-year level in connection with the fact that T-Mobile Netherlands had
been held for sale until it was sold and accordingly the related depreciation and amortization had been suspended, and in
connection with its subsequent sale. In addition, depreciation and amortization were suspended for the GD Towers business
entity, which has been held for sale since July 13,2022. Depreciation on property, plant and equipment in the United States
operating segment declined due to the ongoing strategic withdrawal from the terminal equipment lease business. By contrast,
in the United States operating segment a reduction in the useful life of leased network technology for cell sites in connection
with the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint, as well as the modification of existing arrangements between
T-Mobile US and Crown Castle, mainly relating to the lease of cell sites from Crown Castle, resulted in higher depreciation of
the corresponding right-of-use assets.

For further information on depreciation, amortization and impairment losses, please refer to Note 27 “Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses” in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

approach, including reconciliation table, please refer to the section “Management of the Group.”

| For information on the agreement with DigitalBridge and Brookfield on GD Towers, and the presentation of GD Towers according to the management

Profit before income taxes

Profit before income taxes increased by EUR 3.8 billion to EUR11.7 billion. The loss from financial activities decreased year-
on-year from EUR 5.1 billion to EUR 4.5 billion, with other financial income/expense improving from EUR -0.4 billion to
EUR 1.4 billion. This was attributable in particular to positive measurement effects from a forward transaction to hedge the
price of acquiring shares in T-Mobile US in the future and positive measurement effects from the amortization and subsequent
measurement of the stock options received from SoftBank in June 2020 to buy shares in T-Mobile US. Less pronounced
negative measurement effects from derivatives of T-Mobile US embedded in bonds compared with the prior-year period also
contributed to this. The interest component from the measurement of provisions and liabilities increased by EUR 0.4 billion.
This increase was mainly attributable to the subsequent measurement using actuarial principles of the present value of the
provision recognized for the Civil Service Health Insurance Fund. However, finance costs also increased from EUR 4.6 billion to
EUR 5.3 billion. This was primarily due to the modification of the arrangements between T-Mobile US and Crown Castle, which
resulted in anincrease in the carrying amounts of lease liabilities, as well as to variable-interest financial liabilities in connection
with the rise in interest rates in the reporting year. The share of profit/loss of associates and joint ventures included in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method declined from EUR -0.1 billion to EUR -0.5 billion. This was due to
an impairment loss of EUR 0.5 billion recognized in the reporting year on the carrying amount of the stake in GlasfaserPlus. The
impairment loss was triggered by the current macroeconomic developments and the associated sharp rise in interest rates.

Net profit, adjusted net profit

Net profit increased year-on-year by EUR 3.8 billion to EUR 8.0 billion. The tax expense from continuing operations and the
discontinued operation increased by EUR 0.4 billion to EUR 2.2 billion. Profit attributable to non-controlling interests decreased
from EUR 1.9 billion to EUR 1.5 billion, with the decrease being primarily attributable to our United States operating segment.
Excluding special factors, which had a negative overall effect of EUR 1.1 billion on net profit, adjusted net profit amounted to
EUR 91 billion, up EUR 3.2 billion against the prior year.

| For further information on tax expense, please refer to Note 32 “Income taxes” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Earnings per share, adjusted earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated as net profit divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, which
totaled 4,972 million as of December 31, 2022. This resulted in earnings per share of EUR 1.61, compared with EUR 0.87 in the
prior year. Earnings per share adjusted for special factors affecting net profit amounted to EUR 1.83 compared with EUR 1.22 in
the prior year.

66

Deutsche Telekom. The 2022 financial year.



Combined management report

Reconciliations of financial performance indicators from the IFRS consolidated financial statements

A reconciliation of revenues disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, including their breakdown into revenue

categories, to the “service revenue” financial performance indicator can be found in the following table:

billions of €
Change

2022 2021 Change %
Net revenue 14.2 107.6 6.6 641
Revenue from the sale of goods and merchandise (199) (19.6) 0.3) (A.5)
Revenue from the use of entity assets by others 2.2 (3.8) 1.6 421
Revenue from the rendering of services 92.0 84.2 7.8 9.3
+/- Reconciliation to service revenue as financial
performance indicator
Adjustment of revenue from the rendering of services® (1.2) (2.2) 1.0 455
Adjustment of revenue from the sale of goods and
merchandise® 0.4 03 011 333
Adjustment of revenue from the use of entity assets
by others® 0.8 09 (eX)] (0]
Service revenue 9.9 831 8.8 10.6

@ The definition of “service revenue” does not include, in particular: revenues from valued-added services, revenues from application and contract services, and

other non-recurring/variable revenues.

© Relates to revenues from the sale of hardware in connection with the ICT business.

© Primarily relates to revenues from wholesale business (e.g., in connection with unbundled local loops and co-location spaces).

A reconciliation of the definition of EBITDA to the “after leases” indicator (EBITDA AL) can be found in the following table:

millions of €
Change
2022 2021 Change % 2020
EBITDA 43986 40,539 3,447 8.5 38,633
Depreciation of right-of-use assets® (6,507) (5,547) (960) (17.3) (4,530)
Interest expenses on recognized lease liabilities? (1,489) (1,099) (390) (35.5) (925)
EBITDA AL 35,989 33,893 2,096 6.2 33,178
Special factors affecting EBITDA AL (4,219) (3,437) (782) (22.8) (1,839)
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors) 40,208 37,330 2,878 77 35,017
@ Excluding finance leases at T-Mobile US.
The following table presents the reconciliation of net profit to net profit adjusted for special factors:
millions of €
Change
2022 2021 Change % 2020
Net profit (loss) 8,001 4176 3,825 9.6 4,158
Special factors affecting EBITDA AL (4,219) (3,437) (782) (22.8) (1,839)
Staff-related measures (1,230) (717) (513) (71.5) (1,268)
Non-staff-related restructuring (175) 22) (153) n.a. (32)
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals and acquisitions (2,256) (2,542) 286 1.3 (1,655)
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets (276) 0 (276) n.a. 0
Reversals of impairment losses 0 0 0 n.a. 1,655
Other (283) (156) (127) (81.4) (539)
Special factors affecting net profit 3,139 1,751 1,388 79.3 283
Impairment losses (989) (258) (737 n.a. (656)
Profit (loss) from financial activities (487) (139) (348) n.a. (25)
Income taxes 1936 1,064 872 82.0 730
Non-controlling interests 2,680 1,084 1,596 n.a. 234
Special factors (1,080) (1,686) 606 359 (1,557)
Net profit (loss) (adjusted for special factors) 9,081 5,862 3,219 54.9 5,715
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factors:
millions of €

EBITDA AL EBIT EBITDA AL EBIT EBITDA AL EBIT

2022 2022 2021 2021 2020 2020

EBITDA AL/EBIT 35,989 16,159 33,893 13,057 33,178 12,804
Germany 1,162 1162 (595) (596) (760) (819)
Staff-related measures (523) (523) (478) (478) (684) (684)
Non-staff-related restructuring 8) 8) (12) (12) (18) (18)
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions 1,608 1,608 3) 3) (18) (18)
Impairment losses 0 0 0 m 0 (59
Other 84 84 (102) (102) (40) (40)
United States (5,949) (6,637) (2,637) (2,692) (370) (370)
Staff-related measures (352) (352) (16) (16) (32) (32)
Non-staff-related restructuring 0 0 0 0 0 0
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions (4956) (5,084) (2,621) (2,618) (1,522) (1,522)
Impairment losses 275) (836) 0 (58) 0 0
Reversals of impairment losses 0 0 0 0 1,604 1,604
Other (366) (3606) 0 0 (420) (420)
Europe 31 (147) " " (188) (374)
Staff-related measures 70) (70) 83 83 (81 (D]
Non-staff-related restructuring 0 0 ©} m 0 0
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions 12 12 (39) 39 6) ©)
Impairment losses 0 Mm7) 0 0 0 (186)
Reversals of impairment losses 0 0 0 0 50 50
Other 27 27 (32) (32) (51 (51
Systems Solutions (159) (270) (206) (384) (201) (567)
Staff-related measures (107) (107) (141 (141) (159) (159)
Non-staff-related restructuring ® 5) 3) 3) 3) (3)
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions @ @) (39) (39) 0 0
Impairment losses 0 an) 0 (178) 0 (367)
Other (44) (44) (24) 24) 39) (39)
Group Development 992 992 173 173 (43) 43)
Staff-related measures (10) (10) 8) 8) () ()]
Non-staff-related restructuring 0 0 0 0 0 0
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions 1,003 1,003 184 184 (30) (30)
Impairment losses 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other m Q) 3) 3 @) @)
Group Headquarters & Group Services (234) (270) (182) (203) (277) (322)
Staff-related measures (168) (168) (157) (157) (207 (20M
Non-staff-related restructuring (162) (162) %) @ ] ()]
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions 80 80 (23) 23 (78) (78)
Impairment losses 0 (36) 0 [€0)] 0 (44)
Other 17 7 5 5 14 14
Group 4,219) 5171) (3,437) (3,692) (1,839) (2,496)
Staff-related measures (1,230) (1,230) (717) 717) (1,268) (1,268)
Non-staff-related restructuring (175) (175) 22) (22) (32) (32)
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions (2,256) (2,384) (2,542) (2,538) (1,655) (1,655)
Impairment losses (276) (1,700) 0 (258) 0 (656)
Reversals of impairment losses 0 0 0 0 1,655 1,655
Other (283) (283) (156) (156) (539) (539)
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millions of €

EBITDA AL EBIT EBITDA AL EBIT EBITDA AL EBIT

2022 2022 2021 2021 2020 2020

EBITDA AL/EBIT
(adjusted for special factors) 40,208 21,330 37,330 16,749 35,017 15,300
Profit (loss) from financial activities
(adjusted for special factors) (3,931 (4,998) (4003)
Profit (loss) before income taxes
(adjusted for special factors) 17,399 1,752 1,197
Income taxes (adjusted for special factors) (4157) (2,879) (2,659)
Profit (loss) (adjusted for special factors) 13,242 8,873 8,538
Profit (loss) (adjusted for special factors)
attributable to
Owners of the parent (net profit (loss))
(adjusted for special factors) 9,081 5,862 5,715
Non-controlling interests
(adjusted for special factors) 4161 3,01 2,823
Net assets of the Group

Condensed consolidated statement of financial position

millions of €
Share of total
assets/liabilities
and shareholders’
equity
Dec. 31,2022 % Dec. 31,2021 Change Dec. 31,2020
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5,767 19 7,617 (1,850) 12,939
Trade receivables 16,766 5.6 15,299 1,467 13,523
Intangible assets 140,600 471 132,647 7953 118,066
Property, plant and equipment 65,729 22.0 61,770 3,959 60,975
Right-of-use assets 33,727 13 30,777 2950 30,302
Current and non-current financial assets 9910 3.3 8,888 1,022 9,640
Deferred tax assets 8,316 2.8 7906 410 7972
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 4,683 1.6 4,856 (173) 1ms3
Miscellaneous assets 13,092 4.4 11,867 1,225 10,387
Total assets 298,590 100.0 281,627 16,963 264,917
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current and non-current financial liabilities 113,030 379 1M,466 1,564 107108
Current and non-current lease liabilities 38,792 13.0 33133 5,659 32,715
Trade and other payables 12,035 40 10,452 1,583 9,760
Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits 4150 1.4 6,134 (1,984) 7,684
Current and non-current other provisions 8,204 27 9,463 (1,259) 9,033
Deferred tax liabilities 22,800 76 19,809 2,991 17,260
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets
and disposal groups held for sale 3,347 11 1,365 1,982 449
Miscellaneous liabilities 8,912 30 8,336 576 8,358
Shareholders’ equity 87,320 292 81,469 5,851 72,550
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 298,590 100.0 281,627 16,963 264,917

Total assets amounted to EUR 298.6 billion as of December 31,2022, up by EUR17.0 billion against December 31, 2021.
Exchange rate effects in particular, primarily from the translation of U.S. dollars into euros, had an increasing effect. This
increase is also due to the sustained high level of investing activities including, among other investments, spectrum acquisitions
in the United States operating segment. The agreement signed between T-Mobile US and Crown Castle on the modification of
existing arrangements concerning the lease of cell sites also increased total assets. Total assets were reduced due to the sale
of T-Mobile Netherlands.
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Cash and cash equivalents decreased from EUR 7.6 billion year-on-year to EUR 5.8 billion.

| For further information, please refer to Note 37 “Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

On the assets side, trade receivables amounted to EUR16.8 billion, up by EUR 1.5 billion against the 2021 year-end. In the
United States operating segment, the increase in receivables was mainly due to exchange rate effects. The increase in
receivables there was also attributable to the Equipment Installment Plan owing to customer additions. The carrying amount
in the Germany operating segment also increased as a result of the termination of factoring agreements. The carrying amount
was reduced by higher allowances of customer receivables, in particular in the United States operating segment. These resulted
from higher receivables and potential future macroeconomic effects. Furthermore, wholesale receivables in the United States
declined.

Intangible assets increased by EUR 8.0 billion to EUR 140.6 billion. Of this figure, EUR 8.8 billion was attributable to additions,
EUR 3.1 billion of which resulted from the acquisition of mobile spectrum and related almost entirely to the licenses acquired
at the FCC Auctions 110 and 108 in the United States. Exchange rate effects, primarily from the translation of U.S. dollars into
euros, also increased the carrying amount by EUR 6.8 billion. Positive effects from changes in the composition of the Group
contributed EUR 0.1 billion to the increase in the carrying amount, while amortization and impairment losses of EUR 6.9 billion
reduced it. This includes impairment losses of EUR 0.2 billion. The reclassification of assets worth EUR 0.6 billion to non-current
assets and disposal groups held for sale also reduced the carrying amount. These relate to the agreements on the sale of the
Group’s cell tower business in Germany and Austria (GD Towers) and of the wireline business in the United States. Disposals
decreased the carrying amount by EUR 0.1 billion.

Property, plant and equipment increased by EUR 4.0 billion compared to December 31,2021 to EUR 65.7 billion. Additions for
the upgrade and build-out of the network and in connection with the broadband/fiber-optic build-out and mobile infrastructure
build-out increased the carrying amount by EUR 18.2 billion. The modification of the arrangements between T-Mobile US and
Crown Castle for existing cell sites increased the carrying amount by EUR 0.8 billion. Exchange rate effects, primarily from
the translation of U.S. dollars into euros, also increased the carrying amount by EUR 1.5 billion. Reclassifications of lease
assets upon expiry of the contractual lease term to property, plant and equipment, in the United States operating segment in
particular, increased the carrying amount by EUR 0.6 billion, while depreciation and impairment losses of EUR 13.7 billion had
an offsetting effect. This includes impairment losses of EUR 0.7 billion, mainly relating to the impairment test of the former
Sprint’s fiber-optic-based wireline business, which was carried out in the second quarter of 2022, and the corresponding sale
agreed in the third quarter of 2022. The reclassification of assets worth EUR 1.5 billion to non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale reduced the carrying amount. These relate to the agreements on the sale of GD Towers and of the wireline
business in the United States. Disposals of EUR 1.1 billion also reduced the carrying amount.

Compared with December 31, 2021, right-of-use assets increased by EUR 3.0 billion to EUR 33.7 billion. This increase was
driven by additions of EUR10.5 billion, primarily as a result of the modification to existing leases agreed between T-Mobile US
and Crown Castle in January 2022, mainly concerning the lease of Crown Castle’s cell sites. The modification of the
arrangements resulted in an increase of USD 7.3 billion (EUR 6.6 billion) each in the right-of-use assets and in lease liabilities.
Exchange rate effects, primarily from the translation of U.S. dollars into euros, also increased the carrying amount by
EUR 2.0 billion. Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses of EUR 7.2 billion reduced the carrying amount. This included
a EUR 1.6 billion increase in depreciation and amortization due to a reduction in the useful life of leased network technology
for cell sites in the United States operating segment following the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint. This also
includes impairment losses of EUR 0.3 billion, mainly relating to the impairment test of the former Sprint’s fiber-optic-based
wireline assets, which was carried out in the second quarter of 2022, and the corresponding sale agreed in the third quarter of
2022. The reclassification of assets worth EUR 1.5 billion to non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale reduced the
carrying amount. These relate to the agreements on the sale of GD Towers and of the wireline business in the United States.
Reclassifications of lease assets upon expiry of the contractual lease term to property, plant and equipment, in the United
States operating segment in particular, also reduced the carrying amount by EUR 0.6 billion. Disposals of EUR 0.3 billion also
reduced the carrying amount.

Current and non-current financial assets increased by EUR 1.0 billion to EUR 9.9 billion. Originated loans and receivables
increased by EUR 0.9 billion, mainly in connection with cash collateral deposited for forward-payer swaps. In connection
with receivables from grants still to be received from funding projects for the broadband build-out in Germany, the carrying
amount of other receivables increased by EUR 0.2 billion. The carrying amount of debt instruments measured at fair value
through profit or loss increased by EUR 0.4 billion in connection with the sale of a S0 % stake in GlasfaserPlus and the
recognition of a contingent consideration receivable. The carrying amount of derivatives with a hedging relationship decreased
by EUR 0.5 billion, due on the one hand to the decrease in positive fair values from interest rate swaps in fair value hedges,
which is primarily the result of a significant increase in the interest rate level. On the other hand, the fair values of interest rate
and currency derivatives in cash flow hedges increased, primarily as a result of the significant rise in the interest rate level. The
carrying amount of derivatives without a hedging relationship remained stable overall. This is due to a EUR 0.2 billion increase
in the carrying amount of interest and currency derivatives. In connection with the stock options received from SoftBank to
purchase shares in T-Mobile US, the carrying amount of the stock options recorded a net increase of EUR 0.1 billion against
December 31, 2021. This was attributable to an increase of EUR 0.6 billion from positive measurement effects in connection
with the development of the T-Mobile US share price and the amortization in full from the initial measurement of the stock
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options at fair value. This was offset by the derecognition of the exercised options in April 2022, which had a fair value of
EUR 0.5 billion at the time of exercising the stock options. The carrying amount of the derivatives without a hedging relationship
decreased by EUR 0.3 billion in connection with negative measurement effects from derivatives embedded in bonds issued by
T-Mobile US.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale decreased by a net EUR 0.2 billion compared with December 31, 2021 to
EUR 4.7 billion. The sale of T-Mobile Netherlands as of March 31, 2022 reduced the carrying amount by EUR 4.7 billion, and the
sale of the 50 % stake in GlasfaserPlus on February 28,2022 by EUR 0.1 billion. By contrast, the reclassification and continued
recognition of the assets of GD Towers increased the carrying amount by EUR 4.2 billion, and those of the wireline business in
the United States by EUR 0.3 billion. The assets were classified as held for sale as of December 31,2022 on account of the sales
agreements concluded.

| For further information on the corporate transactions, please refer to the section “Group organization.”

Miscellaneous assets increased by EUR 1.2 billion to EUR 131 billion, EUR 0.6 billion of which was due to the increase in
capitalized contract costs. This increase was attributable in particular to a higher level of capitalized costs of obtaining a
contract in postpaid customer business in the United States and Germany operating segments. Contract assets increased
by EUR 0.4 billion. This resulted in part from the increased marketing of the Equipment Installment Plan in the United States
operating segment. Investments accounted for using the equity method also increased by EUR 0.4 billion, essentially as a
result of the sale of the 50 % stake in GlasfaserPlus. Following the loss of control pursuant to the IFRSs as a result of the
transaction, GlasfaserPlus was deconsolidated as of February 28,2022. Since this date, the remaining 50 % of the shares in
the joint venture have been included in the consolidated financial statements as an investment accounted for using the equity
method. As of December 31,2022, the carrying amount of the investment amounted to EUR 0.5 billion following recognition
of an impairment loss of EUR 0.5 billion on the investment in the reporting year. The impairment loss was triggered by the
current macroeconomic developments and the associated sharp rise in interest rates. In addition, DIV Il was deconsolidated on
August 2, 2022 as a result of the admission of new investors and the associated loss of control over the entity. Since then, the
stake retained by the Group of 41.25 % has been included in the consolidated financial statements as an associate using the
equity method. The carrying amount of the investment amounted to EUR 0.3 billion as of December 31, 2022. It was reduced by
the disposal of 37.65 % of the shares in Cellnex Netherlands in the amount of EUR 0.4 billion as a result of the deconsolidation of
DIV . Inventories decreased by EUR 0.2 billion, due to the sale of terminal equipment in consequence of the impending market
launch of new handset models, and warehouse closures at former Sprint sites in the United States operating segment. By
contrast, inventories increased in the Germany and Europe operating segments, partly as a preventive measure in connection
with the prevailing supply chain uncertainty. Exchange rate effects, in particular from the translation of U.S. dollars into euros,
also contributed to the increase. Other assets increased by EUR 0.2 billion.

On the liabilities and shareholders’ equity side, current and non-current financial liabilities increased by EUR 1.6 billion
compared with the end of 2021 to a total of EUR 113.0 billion. The carrying amount of bonds and other securitized liabilities
decreased by EUR 0.1 billion. Exchange rate effects, especially from the translation of U.S. dollars into euros, increased the
carrying amount of bonds and other securitized liabilities by EUR 3.9 billion. Senior notes issued by T-Mobile US in the reporting
year with a total volume of USD 3.0 billion (EUR 3.0 billion) and asset-backed securities (ABS notes) with a volume of
USD 0.8 billion (EUR 0.8 billion) increased the carrying amount. The net change of EUR 2.3 billion in commercial paper also
increased the carrying amount. Repayments by T-Mobile US of bonds with a total volume of USD 2.8 billion (EUR 2.7 billion)
and outside of the United States of EUR bonds with a volume of EUR 2.6 billion and a GBP bond with a volume of GBP 0.7 billion
(EUR 0.8 billion) reduced the carrying amount. In addition, the carrying amount decreased by EUR 3.5 billion in connection
with measurement effects from derivatives with a hedging relationship, the offsetting entry for which is posted under bonds
and other securitized liabilities. Liabilities with the right of creditors to priority repayment in the event of default decreased
by EUR 0.3 billion, mainly due to repayments. The carrying amount of other interest-bearing liabilities decreased by
EUR 0.3 billion compared with the prior-year level. In connection with cash collateral received for derivative financial
instruments — primarily forward-payer swaps — the carrying amount of other interest-bearing liabilities decreased by
EUR 1.5 billion. By contrast, the modification of the arrangements between T-Mobile US and Crown Castle regarding cell sites
increased the carrying amount by EUR 0.8 billion. In addition, liabilities recognized by T-Mobile US for future payments for
IP transit services in connection with the agreement on the sale of the wireline business increased the carrying amount by
EUR 0.6 billion. The carrying amount of derivative financial liabilities increased by EUR 2.2 billion to EUR 2.9 billion. Negative
measurement effects of derivatives with a hedging relationship increased the carrying amount, mainly due to the increase in
negative fair values from interest rate swaps in fair value hedges, which is primarily the result of a significant increase in the
interest rate level. The carrying amount of derivatives without a hedging relationship decreased due to positive measurement
effects from a forward transaction to hedge the price of acquiring shares in T-Mobile US in the future.
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Current and non-current lease liabilities increased by EUR 5.7 billion to EUR 38.8 billion compared with December 31, 2021.
This increase primarily relates to the modification of the arrangements between T-Mobile US and Crown Castle, which resulted
in an increase in the carrying amounts of lease liabilities of EUR 6.6 billion. Exchange rate effects, in particular from the
translation of U.S. dollars into euros, raised lease liabilities by EUR 2.1 billion. The reclassification of lease liabilities to liabilities
directly associated with non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale reduced the carrying amount by EUR 1.8 billion.
These relate to the agreements on the sale of GD Towers and of the wireline business in the United States. The carrying amount
was further reduced, in part in connection with the decommissioning of former Sprint cell sites and the closure of some
former Sprint shops in the United States operating segment. The carrying amount was also reduced by declines in the Group
Headquarters & Group Services segment and in the Systems Solutions operating segment.

Trade and other payables increased by EUR 1.6 billion to EUR 12.0 billion, due in particular to the sharp rise in procurement
volumes in the United States, Germany, and Europe operating segments. In the United States operating segment, liabilities
increased in connection with the acquisition of non-current assets and vis-a-vis terminal equipment vendors. The increase was
also driven in part by exchange rates. The reclassification to liabilities directly associated with non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale reduced the carrying amount. These relate to the agreements on the sale of GD Towers and of the wireline
business in the United States.

Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits decreased by EUR 2.0 billion compared with December 31,2021 to
EUR 4.2 billion, mainly due to the increase in the discount rate. The development of the fair values of plan assets had an
offsetting effect. Overall, the remeasurement of defined benefit plans resulted in an actuarial gain of EUR 1.8 billion.

Current and non-current other provisions decreased by EUR 1.3 billion compared with the end of 2021 to EUR 8.2 billion. Other
provisions for personnel costs decreased by EUR 0.7 billion, mainly in connection with a decline in the provision recognized
for the Civil Health Insurance Fund (Postbeamtenkrankenkasse — PBeaKK). This is due to a significant increase in the interest
rate level. The provisions for restoration obligations decreased by EUR 1.1 billion in connection with reclassifications to liabilities
directly associated with non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale, in particular in connection with the agreed sale
of GD Towers. By contrast, the provisions for litigation risks increased by a net amount of EUR 0.2 billion, mainly in connection
with the proceedings pending in consequence of the cyberattack on T-Mobile US in August 2021. The provisions recognized for
sales and procurement support also increased by EUR 0.2 billion. Exchange rate effects, in particular from the translation of
U.S. dollars into euros, also ultimately contributed to this increase.

Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale increased by EUR 2.0 billion against
December 31,2021 to EUR 3.3 billion. The sale of T-Mobile Netherlands as of March 31, 2022 reduced the carrying amount by
EUR 1.4 billion. By contrast, the reclassification and continued recognition of the liabilities of GD Towers increased the carrying
amount by EUR 3.0 billion, and those of the wireline business in the United States by EUR 0.4 billion.

| For further information on the corporate transactions, please refer to the section “Group organization.”

Miscellaneous liabilities increased by EUR 0.6 billion compared to December 31,2021 to EUR 8.9 billion, due in particular to
the increase in contract liabilities by EUR 0.3 billion and the increase in income tax liabilities, also by EUR 0.3 billion.

Shareholders’ equity increased from EUR 81.5 billion as of December 31, 2021 to EUR 87.3 billion. Profit of EUR 9.5 billion, other
comprehensive income of EUR 5.6 billion, and capital increases from share-based payments of EUR 0.7 billion contributed
to this increase. Shareholders’ equity was reduced in connection with dividend payments for the 2021 financial year to
Deutsche Telekom AG shareholders in the amount of EUR 3.2 billion and to other shareholders of subsidiaries in the amount of
EUR 0.2 billion. Transactions with owners also reduced the carrying amount by EUR 6.0 billion, mainly due to the acquisition of
additional T-Mobile US shares to increase the stake and due to the share buy-back program underway at T-Mobile US. Changes
in the composition of the Group resulting from the sale of T-Mobile Netherlands reduced the carrying amount of shareholders’
equity by EUR 0.6 billion.
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Profitability and financial position of the Group

Profitability
millions of €

2022 2021 2020
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) 16,159 13,057 12,804
Share of profit (loss) of associates and joint ventures accounted
for using the equity method (522) (102) (12)
Net operating profit (NOP) 15,636 12,956 12,792
Tax (imputed tax rate 2022: 27.8 %; 2021: 27.8 %; 2020: 27.8 %) (4,347) (3,602) (3,556)
Net operating profit after taxes (NOPAT) 11,289 9,354 9,236
Cash and cash equivalents 5,767 7,617 12939
Intangible assets 140,600 132,647 118,066
Property, plant and equipment 65,729 61,770 60975
Right-of-use assets 33,727 30,777 30,302
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale and liabilities® 1,336 3,491 664
Investments accounted for using the equity method 1,318 938 543
Operating working capital 7,370 7,702 6,458
Other provisions (8,204) (9,463) (9,033)
Net operating assets (NOA) 247,643 235,479 220,914
Average net operating assets (@ NOA) 253,389 229,035 201,545
ROCE % 4.5 41 4.6

@ Excluding the carrying amounts of companies accounted for using the equity method.

ROCE increased by 0.4 percentage points in the reporting period to 4.5 %. This was due to stronger percentage growth
in net operating profit after taxes (NOPAT) than in the average amount of net operating assets (NOA) over the year. The
positive development in NOPAT year-on-year was driven primarily by the increase in adjusted EBITDA AL. Higher total expenses
classified as special factors — mainly in the United States operating segment — had an offsetting effect. These arose in
connection with higher integration and restructuring costs to realize cost efficiencies as a result of the business combination of
T-Mobile US and Sprint and the reduction in the useful life of leased network technology for cell sites. The increase in NOA is
due in part to the acquisition of additional spectrum licenses by T-Mobile US and the associated increase in intangible assets.
In addition, the development of NOA reflects our consistently high investment volume.

In 2022, NOPAT amounted to EUR 11.3 billion, up from EUR 9.4 billion in the prior year. The average amount of net operating
assets (NOA) increased to EUR 253.4 billion in 2022 from EUR 229.0 billion in the prior year.

For further information on the definition of ROCE and the methods used to calculate this key performance indicator, please refer to the section
“Management of the Group.”

Finance management

Our finance management ensures our Group’s ongoing solvency and hence its financial equilibrium. The fundamentals of
Deutsche Telekom’s finance policy are established each year by the Board of Management and overseen by the Supervisory
Board. Group Treasury is responsible for implementing the finance policy and for ongoing risk management. In order to ensure
we have scope for financing, we continuously monitor the development of net debt, Deutsche Telekom AG’s rating, financial
flexibility, and free cash flow AL.
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Calculation of net debt

millions of €
Change

Dec. 31,20222 Dec. 31, 2021° Change % Dec. 31,2020
Bonds and other securitized liabilities 93,802 93,857 (55) 01 87,702
Liabilities to banks 4122 4,003 19 3.0 5,257
Other financial liabilities 15,107 13,730 1,377 10.0 14,149
Lease liabilities 41,063 33,767 7,296 216 32,715
Financial liabilities and lease liabilities 154,093 145,357 8,736 6.0 139,823
Accrued interest (999) (1,012) 13 1.3 (1,035)
Other (805) (855) 50 5.8 (703)
Gross debt 152,289 143,490 8,799 61 138,085
Cash and cash equivalents 5,767 7,617 (1,850) (24.3) 12,939
Derivative financial assets 2,273 2,762 (489) “177) 4,038
Other financial assets 1,824 969 855 88.2 881
Net debt 142,425 132,142 10,283 7.8 120,227
Lease liabilities® 38,692 31,493 7099 229 30,671
Net debt AL 103,733 100,649 3,084 31 89,556

@ Including the net debt of the discontinued operation GD Towers and of the wireline business at T-Mobile US included under liabilities directly associated with
non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale as of December 31, 2022.

o Including the net debt of T-Mobile Netherlands included under liabilities directly associated with non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale as of
December 31, 2021.

¢ Excluding finance leases at T-Mobile US.

Changes in net debt

millions of €
5,874 642 142,425
2975
132,142 7,387
2,210
4,585
3,184
3,385
(15,239)
_— (4,720)
Netdebt Free cash flow T-Mobile Dividend  Spectrum  Additions of Increase of the Modification T-Mobile US Exchange Other Net debt as of
as of (before Netherlands payments acquisition lease liabilities  stake in of the share rate effects Dec. 31,2022
Dec. 31,2021  dividend and (incl. to non- and of right- T-Mobile US arrangements buy-back effects
paymentsand GlasfaserPlus  controlling of-use assets with Crown program
spectrum corporate interests) Castle

investment)  transactions

The modification of the arrangements between T-Mobile US and Crown Castle resulted in an overall increase in net debt
of EUR 7.4 billion, due to an increase in right-of-use assets and in lease liabilities of EUR 6.6 billion each and an increase in
property, plant and equipment and in other financial liabilities of EUR 0.8 billion each. Other effects of EUR 0.6 billion include,
among other factors, the recognition of liabilities for the acquisition of media broadcasting rights, share buy-backs at our
subsidiaries, and contrasting measurement effects in connection with derivatives.

Other financing options

Off-balance-sheet financing instruments mainly relate to the sale of receivables by means of factoring. Total receivables sold as
of December 31,2022 amounted to EUR 2.8 billion (December 31, 2021: EUR 3.3 billion). At the end of 2022, this solely related
to factoring agreements in the United States operating segment. The year-on-year decline was mainly attributable to the
scheduled termination of factoring agreements in the Germany operating segment. The agreements are used in particular for
active receivables management.
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The rating of Deutsche Telekom AG

Standard & Poor’s Moody's Fitch
Long-term rating/outlook
Dec. 31,2020 BBB/stable Baal/negative BBB+/stable
Dec. 31,2021 BBB/stable Baa1l/stable BBB+/stable
Dec. 31,2022 BBB/positive Baa1l/stable BBB+/stable
Short-term rating A-2 P-2 F2

On April 22,2022, the rating agency Standard & Poor’s raised its rating outlook for Deutsche Telekom AG from “stable” to
“positive” and also confirmed its long-term rating of BBB. Standard & Poor’s considers an upgrade to our long-term rating
within the next two years to be possible. We are therefore still a solid investment-grade company with access to the
international capital markets.

Financial flexibility
2022 2021 2020
Relative debt®
Net debt 3.07x 3.06x 2.78x
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors)
Equity ratio % 29.2 289 27.4

@ Relative debt is calculated on a quarterly basis and the calculation of the figure for 2020 includes as an input for the first quarter of 2020 historic pro forma
figures for Sprint, which was included in the United States operating segment.

|«

To ensure financial flexibility, we primarily use the KPI “relative debt.” This is a core component of our finance strategy and an
important performance indicator for investors, analysts, and rating agencies. At 3.07x, we have deviated from the target range
of 2.25x to 2.75x in the reporting year, as expected, on account of the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint. We
expect to be back in the target range by the end of 2024.

Calculation of free cash flow AL

millions of €
Change
2022 2021 Change % 2020

Net cash from operating activities 35,819 32,171 3,648 1.3 23,743
Interest payments for zero-coupon bonds 6] 0 0 n.a. 1,600
Termination of forward-payer swaps at T-Mobile US 0 0 0 n.a. 2,158
Net cash from operating activities? 35,819 32,171 3,648 1.3 27,501

Cash outflows for investments in intangible assets (7,551) (12,749) 5198 40.8 (5,756)

Cash outflows for investments in property,

plant and equipment (16,563) (13,616) (2,947) (21.6) (12,938)
Cash capex (24114) (26,366) 2,252 8.5 (18,694)
Spectrum investment 3,096 8,388 (5,292) (63 1,714
Cash capex (before spectrum investment) (21,019) (17,978) (3,041) (16.9) (16,980)
Proceeds from the disposal of intangible assets
(excluding goodwill) and property, plant and equipment 439 139 300 n.a. 236
Free cash flow (before dividend payments and
spectrum investment)? 15,239 14,332 907 6.3 10,756
Principal portion of repayment of lease liabilities® (3,769) (5,521) 1,752 317 (4,468)
Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and
spectrum investment)? 11,470 8,810 2,660 30.2 6,288

@ Before interest payments for zero-coupon bonds and before termination of forward-payer swaps at T-Mobile US (both in 2020).

o Excluding finance leases at T-Mobile US.

75

Deutsche Telekom. The 2022 financial year.



Combined management report

Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and spectrum investment) increased by EUR 2.7 billion year-on-year to
EUR 11.5 billion. The following effects impacted on this development:

Net cash from operating activities increased by EUR 3.6 billion to EUR 35.8 billion on the back of the good business
performance. Exchange rate effects also had an increasing effect on net cash from operating activities. Factoring agreements
resulted in positive effects of EUR 0.1billion on net cash from operating activities in the reporting year. In the prior year,
factoring agreements had had negative effects of EUR 0.1 billion. Higher cash outflows in connection with the integration of
Sprint in the United States and an increase of EUR 0.4 billion in net interest payments in particular had a decreasing effect.

Cash capex (before spectrum investment) increased by EUR 3.0 billion to EUR 21.0 billion. Cash capex in the United States
operating segment increased by EUR 3.0 billion to EUR 13.4 billion, mainly as a result of the accelerated build-out of the SG
network, the integration of Sprint, and exchange rate effects. In the Germany operating segment, cash capex increased by
EUR 0.3 billion. Capital expenditure in the Germany operating segment totaled around EUR 4.4 billion in 2022, in particular
for the build-out of the fiber-optic and 5G networks. In the Europe operating segment, our investments remained stable at
EUR 1.8 billion. Here, we also continue to invest in the provision of broadband and fiber-optic technology and in 5G as part
of our integrated network strategy. Cash capex in the Group Development operating segment totaled EUR 0.3 billion and was
thus down EUR 0.2 billion year-on-year. The reduction is mainly due to the sale of T-Mobile Netherlands and lower build-out
investments made by GD Towers compared with the prior year.

Lower cash outflows for the decrease in the principal portion of repayments of lease liabilities were due in particular to leases
in the United States operating segment.

For further information on the statement of cash flows, please refer to Note 37 “Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows” in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Development of business in the operating segments

Gross vs. net recognition of revenues — change in the principal/agent consideration. In light of the IFRS Interpretations
Committee’s agenda decision published in May 2022 on transactions involving the commercial resale of software,
Deutsche Telekom has implemented comprehensive changes to its accounting practices with respect to the recognition of
gross vs. net revenues, effective the start of the third quarter of 2022. The prior-year comparatives for revenue and order entry
were adjusted with retrospective effect.

| For further information on the change in policy, please refer to the section “Development of business in the Group.”

Reassignment of the security business. Effective July 1, 2022, Deutsche Telekom reassigned its subsidiary Deutsche Telekom
Security and the security business in Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Hungary, and Slovakia from the Systems Solutions
operating segment to the Germany operating segment in order to maintain a consistent focus on implementing our Group
strategy pillar “Lead in business productivity.” Prior-year comparatives in both of the segments affected concerning the
development of operations, customer development, headcount development, and order entry were adjusted retrospectively.

Germany
Customer development
thousands
Change
Dec. 31,2022 Dec. 31,2021 Change % Dec. 31,2020
Mobile customers 54,249 53,21 1,038 20 48,213
Contract customers? 23,791 23129 662 29 25975
Prepaid customers® b 30,458 30,081 377 1.3 22,239
Fixed-network lines 17,363 17,525 (162) ©9) 17,590
Retail broadband lines 14,715 14,478 237 1.6 14118
Of which: optical fiber® 12,112 10,379 1,733 16.7 9,515
Television (IPTV, satellite) 4122 4,001 121 3.0 3,864
Unbundled local loop lines (ULLs) 3136 3,622 (486) (13.4) 401
Wholesale broadband lines 8,045 7948 97 1.2 7733
Of which: optical fiber 6,970 6,778 192 2.8 6,433

& As of January 1, 2022, around 178 thousand consumers previously recorded under contract customers were reclassified as prepaid customers. Prior-year
comparatives were not adjusted.

b Due to a network switchover, a portion of our prepaid customers were migrated to another provider as of the end of the third quarter of 2022.

¢ Since June 1, 2022, we have migrated customers to fiber-optic lines under our “Turn customers into fans” (Kunden zu Fans machen) initiative. In the fourth
quarter of 2022, the number of lines upgraded as part of this initiative so far totaled around 1 million.
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Total

In Germany we continue to be market leader both in terms of fixed-network and mobile revenues. This success is attributable
to our high-performance networks, a broad product portfolio, and good service. We want to offer our customers a seamless
and technology-neutral telecommunications experience. We regularly adapt our product portfolio to address the needs of our
customers. As of July 1, 2022, we launched the new MagentaMobil rate plans.

Demand remained high for our fiber-optic-based lines. The total number of these customer lines increased to around 19.1 million
overall by the end of December 2022. In 2022, 1.9 million customers in Germany received a fiber-optic-based line from us. Two
key factors are driving this strong growth: demand for higher bandwidths, and the technical migration of customer lines to
optical fiber under our “Turn customers into fans” (Kunden zu Fans machen) initiative launched as of June 1, 2022.

Mobile communications

The number of high-value mobile contract customers under the Telekom and congstar brands grew by 979 thousand customers
overall. Sustained high demand for mobile rate plans with data volumes continues to drive this trend. A portion of prepaid
customers were migrated to another network provider at the end of the third quarter of 2022. Furthermore, as of
January 1, 2022, a portion of consumers previously reported under contract customers were reclassified as prepaid customers.
Allowing for this change in disclosure, the number of prepaid customers increased by 199 thousand.

Fixed network

The fixed-network broadband market hosts a large number of players with differing infrastructures — from national through to
regional providers. In order to consolidate our position on the market as Germany’s leading telecommunications provider, we
continue to add new offerings to our portfolio.

The number of broadband lines increased by 237 thousand to 14.7 million in 2022, with growth accelerating again as of the end
of 2022. Almost 40 % of the customers subscribed to a rate plan with speeds of 100 Mbit/s or higher. We recorded an increase
of 121 thousand in the number of TV customers compared with year-end 2021. The number of fixed-network lines remained
more or less stable at 17.4 million lines.

Wholesale

As of December 31, 2022, fiber-optic-based lines accounted for 62.3 % of all lines — 3.7 percentage points more than at the end
of 2021. This growth is a result of the demand for our commitment agreements. Rising demand among retail customers for
higher-bandwidth lines also contributed to the increase. The number of unbundled local loop lines decreased by 486 thousand
compared with the end of the prior year, partly as a result of the shift to higher-value fiber-optic-based lines and partly from
consumers switching to other providers. In addition, our wholesale customers are migrating their retail customers to their own
fiber-optic-based lines. The total number of wholesale lines at the end of 2022 was around 11.2 million.

Development of operations

millions of €
Change

2022 2021 Change % 2020
Net revenue 24,505 24,050 455 19 23,712
Consumers 12,370 12,122 248 20 11,680
Business Customers 9,040 8,922 18 1.3 8,901
Wholesale 2,676 2,709 (33) (1.2) 2922
Other 419 297 122 M1 209
Service revenue 21,533 21,212 321 1.5 20,940
EBITDA 11,025 8,976 2,049 22.8 8,481
Special factors affecting EBITDA 1162 (595) 1,757 na. (760)
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) 9,864 9,572 292 31 9,242
EBITDA AL 10,998 8941 2,057 23.0 8,437
Special factors affecting EBITDA AL 1162 (595) 1,757 na. (760)
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors) 9,837 9,536 301 3.2 9197
EBITDA AL margin (adjusted for special factors) % 401 397 38.8
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (4,019) (4,020) 1 0.0 (4,522)
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) 7,006 4,956 2,050 M4 3,959
EBIT margin % 28.6 20.6 16.7
Cash capex (4,399) (4M9) (280) (6.8) (4195)
Cash capex (before spectrum investment) (4,399) 4Mm9) (280) (6.8) (4180)
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Net revenue, service revenue
In 2022, we generated revenue of EUR 24.5 billion, which was up by 1.9 % year-on-year. The growth in service revenues of 1.5 %
was attributable to increased revenue in the fixed-network core business, largely broadband-driven, and in mobile business.

Revenue from Consumers increased by 2.0 % compared with the prior year. Revenue from broadband business grew by 6.1 %,
due in part to the positive effects from customer appreciation for stable data lines and high bandwidths. Fixed-network terminal
equipment business posted growth of 1.6 % on the back of demand on the customer side for terminal equipment lease models.
Volume-driven declines in revenue from voice components continued to impact on traditional fixed-network business. Mobile
business increased by 1.4 % thanks to higher service revenues, mainly due to positive customer development in our second
brand congstar and general trends of recovery, including a return to travel and other recreational activities.

Revenue from Business Customers was up by 1.3 % year-on-year. If the one-time effect from the public sector in the prior year
is taken into account, operating revenue would have increased by 2.3 %. The mobile business grew by 6.9 % due to positive
revenue from terminal equipment business and ongoing customer additions.

Wholesale revenue was down at the end of 2022 by 1.2 % year-on-year. The positive trend in the number of fiber-optic-based
lines continued, with an increase of 2.8 % compared with the prior year. However, this was not enough to offset the decrease
in revenues of 13.4 % from declining volumes of unbundled local loop lines. Network services revenue was down against the
prior-year level, mainly due to product migrations that enable our customers to optimize their operations.

Adjusted EBITDA AL, EBITDA AL

Adjusted EBITDA AL increased by EUR 301 million or 3.2 % year-on-year to EUR 9.8 billion. Our adjusted EBITDA AL margin
increased to 40.1 %, up from 39.7 % in the prior year. The main reasons for this increase are a sound operational development,
driven by high-value revenue growth, and enhanced cost efficiency. Lower personnel costs resulting, among other factors, from
the smaller headcount and the ongoing implementation of efficiency enhancement and digitalization measures reduced costs.

The special factors affecting adjusted EBITDA AL mainly included the gain on deconsolidation of GlasfaserPlus (EUR 1.7 billion)
and insurance compensation in connection with damage sustained in the catastrophic flooding in July 2021 (EUR 0.2 billion).
Expenses for socially responsible instruments in connection with staff restructuring also had an effect. EBITDA AL increased by
EUR 21 billion to EUR 11.0 billion.

| For further information on the joint venture GlasfaserPlus with IFM, please refer to the section “Group organization.”

Profit/loss from operations (EBIT)

Profit from operations amounted to EUR 7.0 billion, an increase of 41.4 % year-on-year. The positive trend in adjusted EBITDA AL
together with the gain on deconsolidation of GlasfaserPlus contributed to this increase. Depreciation, amortization and
impairment losses were at the same level as a year earlier.

Cash capex (before spectrum investment), cash capex

Cash capex increased by EUR 280 million or 6.8 % compared with the prior year. Capital expenditure totaled around
EUR 4.4 billion in 2022, with much of this figure going towards the build-out of our fiber-optic and 5G networks. Around
5.4 million households in Germany had the option of a direct connection to our fiber-optic network as of the end of 2022. In
mobile communications, our customers benefit from greater LTE and SG network coverage. 94.8 % of German households can
already use 5G.
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United States
Customer development
thousands
Change
Dec. 31,2022 Dec. 31,2021 Change % Dec. 31,2020
Customers 113,598 108,719 4,879 4.5 102,064
Postpaid customers 92,232 87,663 4,569 5.2 81,350
Postpaid phone customers® b 72,834 70,262 2,572 3.7 66,618
Other postpaid customers® b 19,398 17,401 1997 1.5 14,732
Prepaid customers 21,366 21,056 310 1.5 20,714

@ Customers impacted by the decommissioning of the legacy Sprint CDMA and LTE and T-Mobile US UMTS networks have been excluded from our customer
base resulting in the removal of 212 thousand postpaid phone customers and 349 thousand postpaid other customers in the first quarter of 2022 and
284 thousand postpaid phone customers, 946 thousand postpaid other customers and 28 thousand prepaid customers in the second quarter of 2022. In
connection with our acquisition of companies, we included a base adjustment in the first quarter of 2022 to increase postpaid phone customers by
17 thousand and reduce postpaid other customers by 14 thousand. Certain customers now serviced through reseller contracts were removed from our
reported postpaid customer base resulting in the removal of 42 thousand postpaid phone customers and 20 thousand postpaid other customers in the
second quarter of 2022.

o

In the first quarter of 2021, we acquired 11 thousand postpaid phone customers and 1thousand postpaid other customers through our acquisition of an
affiliate. In the third quarter of 2021, we acquired 716 thousand postpaid phone customers and 90 thousand postpaid other customers through our
acquisition of the Wireless Assets from Shentel.

Customers

At December 31,2022, the United States operating segment (T-Mobile US) had 113.6 million customers, compared to
108.7 million customers at December 31,2021. Net customer additions were 6.8 million in 2022, compared to 5.8 million in
2021 due to the factors described below.

Postpaid net customer additions reached a record 6.4 million in 2022, compared to 5.5 million in 2021 and again exceeded
the high end of the company’s most recently increased annual guidance range. This increase resulted from higher postpaid
other net customer additions, primarily due to an increase in High Speed Internet net customer additions and other connected
devices, partially offset by lower net additions from mobile internet devices. In addition, the increase resulted from higher
postpaid phone net customer additions, primarily due to lower churn, partially offset by lower gross additions driven by
industry switching activity normalizing closer to pre Pandemic levels. High Speed Internet net customer additions included in
postpaid other net customer additions were 1.8 million and 546 thousand in 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Prepaid net customer additions were 338 thousand in 2022, compared to 342 thousand in 2021. This decrease was primarily
due to the continued industry shift to postpaid plans, partially offset by the introduction of our High Speed Internet offering
and lower churn. High Speed Internet net customer additions included in prepaid net customer additions were 236 thousand
in 2022. Our prepaid High Speed Internet launch was in the first quarter of 2022. Therefore, there were no prepaid High Speed
Internet net customer additions in 2021.

Development of operations

millions of €
Change

2022 2021 Change % 2020
Net revenue 75,436 67,791 7,645 1.3 60,702
Service revenue 58,219 48,361 9,858 204 43,766
EBITDA 26,707 25,555 1152 4.5 24,852
Special factors affecting EBITDA (4,155) (1,836) (2,319) n.a. (270)
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) 30,862 27,392 3,470 2.7 25122
EBITDA AL 19,665 20,060 (395) (2.0 20,628
Special factors affecting EBITDA AL (5949) (2,637) (3,312) n.a. (370)
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors) 25,614 22,697 2917 12.9 20,997
Core EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors)? 24,280 19912 4,368 219 17,366
EBITDA AL margin (adjusted for special factors) % 34.0 33.5 34.6
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (19,237) (18,338) (899) 49) (15,665)
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) 7,470 7,217 253 3.5 9187
EBIT margin % 99 10.6 151
Cash capex (16,340) (18,594) 2,254 121 (10,394)
Cash capex (before spectrum investment) (13,361) (10,328) (3,033) (29.4) (9,286)

@ Adjusted core EBITDA AL is distinguished by excluding revenue from terminal equipment leases from adjusted EBITDA AL, thereby presenting operational
development undistorted by the withdrawal from the terminal equipment lease business.
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Revenue, service revenue

Total revenue for the United States operating segment of EUR 75.4 billion in 2022 increased by 11.3 percent, compared to
EUR 67.8 billion in 2021. In U.S. dollars, T-Mobile US’ total revenues decreased slightly during the same period. Total revenues
decreased primarily due to lower equipment revenues, mostly offset by higher service revenues. The components of these
changes are described below.

Service revenues increased in 2022 by 20.4 percent to EUR 58.2 billion. In organic terms, service revenues increased by
4.9 percent year-on-year. This increase resulted from higher postpaid revenues primarily from higher average postpaid
accounts and higher postpaid ARPA (Average Revenue per Account). In addition, service revenues increased due to higher
prepaid revenues primarily from higher average prepaid customers. This increase was partially offset by lower wholesale
and other service revenues primarily from lower advertising, MVNO and Wireline revenues, partially offset by higher Lifeline
revenues.

Equipment revenues decreased in 2022 primarily from a decrease in lease revenues and customer purchases of leased devices
primarily due to a lower number of customer devices under lease as a result of the continued strategic shift in device financing
from leasing to equipment installment plans (EIP). In addition, equipment revenues decreased due to a decrease in the number
of devices sold primarily driven by lower prepaid sales, partially offset by higher upgrade volume for Sprint customers to
facilitate their migration to the T-Mobile US’ network. In addition, equipment revenues decreased due to slightly lower average
revenue per device sold, primarily driven by higher promotions, which included promotions for Sprint customers to facilitate
their migration to the T-Mobile US’ network, and an increase in contra-revenue primarily driven by higher imputed interest rates
on EIP.

Adjusted EBITDA AL, EBITDA AL

In euros, adjusted EBITDA AL increased by 12.9 percent to EUR 25.6 billion in 2022, compared to EUR 22.7 billion in 2021.
The adjusted EBITDA AL margin increased to 34.0 percent in 2022, compared to 33.5percent in 2021. In U.S. dollars,
adjusted EBITDA AL remained relatively flat during the same period. Adjusted EBITDA AL increased primarily due to higher
service revenue as discussed above, lower cost of equipment sales and cost of services excluding Sprint Merger-related costs
and higher realized synergies. This increase was offset by lower equipment revenues, higher bad debt expense and losses from
sales of receviables driven by higher receivable balances, as well as normalization relative to muted pandemic levels in 2021
and estimated potential future macroeconomic impacts and higher costs related to outsourced functions. In U.S. dollars, lease
revenues decreased as a result of the continued strategic shift in device financing from leasing to EIP by 57.2 percent in 2022.

Adjusted core EBITDA AL increased by 21.9 percent to EUR 24.3 billion in 2022, compared to EUR 19.9 billion in 2021. In
U.S. dollars, adjusted core EBITDA AL increased by 8.4 percent during the same period. The change was primarily due to the
fluctuation in adjusted EBITDA AL, discussed above, excluding the change in lease revenues.

EBITDA AL in 2022, included special factors of EUR -5.9 billion compared to EUR -2.6 billion in 2021. The change in special
factors was primarily due to higher Merger-related costs, expenses related to the agreed sale of the Wireline Business,
higher legal-related expenses (net of recoveries) including the settlement of certain litigation associated with the August 2021
cyberattack, and higher impairment expense due to the non-cash impairment of certain Wireline Business related right-of
use assets during 2022. The change in special factors is also impacted by other special items including certain severance,
restructuring and other expenses and income, including gains from the sale of IP addresses, not directly attributable to the
Sprint Merger. Special factors include Merger-related costs predominantly associated with the integration of Sprint and are
comprised of integration costs to achieve efficiencies in network, retail, information technology and back office operations,
migrate customers to the T-Mobile US’ network and mitigate the impact of legal matters assumed as part of the Sprint Merger.
In addition, Merger-related special factors include restructuring costs, including severance, store rationalization and network
decommissioning as well as transaction costs, including legal and professional services related to the completion of
transactions. Overall, EBITDA AL decreased by 2.0 percent to EUR19.7 billion in 2022, compared to EUR 201 billion in 2021,
primarily due to the factors described above, including special factors.
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Profit/loss from operations (EBIT)

EBIT increased by 3.5 percent to EUR 7.5 billion in 2022, compared to EUR 7.2 billion in 2021. In U.S. dollars, EBIT decreased
by 8.3 percent during the same period primarily due to lower EBITDA AL, partially offset by lower depreciation, amortization
and impairment losses. In U.S. dollars, depreciation, amortization and impairment losses decreased 6.6 percent primarily due
to lower depreciation expense on leased devices, resulting from a lower number of total customer devices under lease and
certain 4G-related network assets becoming fully depreciated, including assets impacted by the decommissioning of the
legacy Sprint CDMA and LTE networks and lower amortization expense on certain intangible assets acquired in the Sprint
Merger. These decreases were partially offset by the non-cash impairments of certain wireline network assets in 2022 and
higher depreciation expense (excluding leased devices) from the continued build-out of our nationwide 5G network.

Cash capex (before spectrum investment), cash capex

Cash capex (before spectrum investment) increased by 29.4 percent to EUR 13.4 billion in 2022, compared to EUR 10.3 billion
in 2021. In U.S. dollars, cash capex (before spectrum investment) increased by 15.0 percent due to increase in purchases of
property and equipment from the accelerated build-out of our nationwide 5G network, including from network integration
related to the Sprint Merger.

Cash capex decreased by 12.1 percent to EUR 16.3 billion in 2022, compared to EUR 18.6 billion in 2021. In U.S. dollars, cash
capex decreased by 21.3 percent primarily from a decrease in spectrum purchases, primarily due to USD 8.9 billion paid for
spectrum licenses won at the conclusion of the C-band auction in March 2021, compared to USD 2.8 billion paid for spectrum
licenses won at the conclusion of Auction 110 in February 2022 and USD 0.3 billion paid in total for spectrum licenses won
at the conclusion of Auction 108 in September 2022. These decreases were partially offset by the fluctuation in cash capex
(before spectrum investments) discussed above.

Europe
Customer development
thousands
Change
Dec. 31,2022 Dec. 31,2021 Change % Dec. 31,2020
Europe, total® b Mobile customers 47,336 45,816 1,520 3.3 45,619
Contract customers 26,476 26,575 99) 0.9 26,844
Prepaid customers 20,860 19,241 1,619 8.4 18,775
Fixed-network lines 7907 7,802 105 13 9,084
Broadband customers 6,689 6,381 308 4.8 6,939
Television (IPTV, satellite,
cable) 4,131 4,019 12 2.8 5,046
Unbundled local loop lines
(ULLs)/ wholesale PSTN 1,768 1,932 (164) (8.5) 2,246
Wholesale broadband lines 1,01 865 146 169 684
Greece Mobile customers 7,323 7,045 278 39 6914
Fixed-network lines 2,622 2,624 2 (0X)] 2,589
Broadband customers 2,359 2,306 53 2.3 2,185
Romania? Mobile customers 4166 3,691 475 129 4,683
Fixed-network lines 0 0 0 n.a. 1,444
Broadband customers 0 0 0 n.a. 912
Hungary Mobile customers 5950 5,634 316 5.6 5,427
Fixed-network lines 1,886 1,821 65 3.6 1,759
Broadband customers 1,514 1,417 97 6.8 1,321
Poland Mobile customers 12,512 11,542 970 8.4 11,198
Fixed-network lines 30 29 1 3.4 31
Broadband customers 154 77 77 100.0 32
Czech Republic Mobile customers 6,423 6,297 126 2.0 6,178
Fixed-network lines 704 645 59 91 606
Broadband customers 430 3 39 10.0 363
Croatia Mobile customers 2,305 2,276 29 1.3 2,2